Public Document Pack

Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda
BRISTOL CCG

Date: Thursday, 24 February 2022
Time: 3.00 pm to 5.30pm
Venue: The Council Chamber - City Hall, College
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR

Issued by: Jeremy Livitt, Democratic Services
City Hall College Green Bristol BS1 5TR
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Wednesday, 16 February 2022 – Republished Tuesday 22nd February 2022

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda
1.

Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information

Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should please exit
the building via the way they came in, via the main entrance lobby area, and then
the front ramp. Please then assemble on the paved area between the side
entrance of the cathedral and the roundabout at the Deanery Road end of the
building.

(Pages 4 - 6)

If the front entrance cannot be used, alternative exits are available via staircases
2 and 3 to the left and right of the Council Chamber. These exit to the rear of the
building. The lifts are not to be used. Then please make your way to the
assembly point at the front of the building. Please do not return to the building
until instructed to do so by the fire warden(s).

2.

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

3.

Declarations of Interest

To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors. They are asked to
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4.

Minutes of Previous Formal Board Meeting held on 20th
October 2021

To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record.

5.

Public Forum

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum. The
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at
the back of this agenda. Public Forum items should be emailed to
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines
will apply in relation to this meeting:-

(Pages 7 - 16)

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the
meeting. For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in
this office at the latest by 4.30pm on Friday 18th February 2022.
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the
working day prior to the meeting. For this meeting this means that your
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12 Noon on
Wednesday 23rd February 2022.

6.

Health and Well Being Board Draft Forward Plan

3.05 pm

To note the HWBB Draft Forward Plan.

(Page 17)

7.

COVID Standing Item - Verbal Update - Christina Gray, Director
of Public Health

3.10 pm

8.

ICS Standing Item - Verbal Update

3.20 pm

9.

Health Protection Annual Report - Brianna O'Malley, Bristol
City Council Public Health

3.50 pm
(Pages 18 - 83)

10. One City Climate Ask, Richard Martin BCC Sustainability

4.20 pm
(Pages 84 - 85)

11. Food Equality Strategy, Alasdair Wood, Bristol City Council
Public Health and Ped Asgarian, Feeding Bristol

4.50 pm
(Pages 86 - 160)

12. Migrant and Refugee Health and Well Being - Anne James
(Bristol City Council Commissioning Refugees) and Anne
Gachango, The Haven

5.00 pm

(Pages 161 - 169)
13. Date of Next Meeting
The next meeting is scheduled to be held at City Hall, College Green, Bristol at
2.30pm on Wednesday 20th April 2022.

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda Item 1
www.bristol.gov.uk

Public Information Sheet
Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk.
Changes to how we hold public meetings
Following changes to government rules, public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory
meetings (where planning and licensing decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall.
COVID-19 Precautions at City Hall (from July 2021)
When attending a meeting at City Hall, COVID-19 precautions will be taken, and where possible we
will:
 Have clear signage inviting you to check in to the venue using the NHS COVID-19 app or record
your contact details for track and trace purposes.
 Provide public access that enables social distancing of one metre to be maintained
 Promote and encourage wearing of face coverings when walking to and from the meeting
 Promote good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently
 Maintain an enhanced cleaning regime and continue with good ventilation
COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (from July 2021)
To manage the risk of catching or passing on COVID-19, it is strongly recommended that any person
age 16 or over attending a council meeting should follow the above guidance but also include the
following:





Show certification of a negative NHS COVID-19 lateral flow (rapid) test result: taken in the 48
hours prior to attending. This can be demonstrated via a text message or email from NHS Test
and Trace.
An NHS COVID-19 Pass which confirms double COVID-19 vaccination received at least 2 weeks
prior to attending the event via the NHS App. A vaccination card is not sufficient.
Proof of COVID-19 status through demonstrating natural immunity (a positive NHS PCR test in
the last 180 days) via their NHS COVID-19 pass on the NHS App.
Visitors from outside the UK will need to provide proof of a negative lateral flow (rapid) test
taken 48 hours prior to attendance, demonstrated via a text message or email.

Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting.
No one should attend a Bristol City Council event or venue if they:
 are required to self-isolate from another country
 are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19
 have tested positive for COVID-19 and are requested to self–isolate

Page 5

www.bristol.gov.uk

Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to
watch the meeting on a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy of the venue.
Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment
Other o check with and
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer. Please give as much notice as
possible. We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular
meeting.
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment. If you
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer.
Public Forum
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most
meetings. Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published
on the Council’s website before the meeting. Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.
The following requirements apply:



The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.
The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.

Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine
articles that may be attached to statements.
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act
requests in the future.
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information. However, because of time constraints we
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain. Other committee papers may be placed on the
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet.

Page 6

www.bristol.gov.uk

During the meeting:









Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.
There will be no debate on statements or petitions.
The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will
have the greatest impact.
Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as
short as one minute.
If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to
speak on the groups behalf.
If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken
your statement will be noted by Members.
Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all
attending.
As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser.

For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except
where there are confidential or exempt items). If you ask a question or make a representation, then
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this. If you do not wish to
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff. However, the Openness of Local
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting (Oral commentary is
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control.
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-ourwebsite/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services

Page 7

Agenda Item 4
democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
20 October 2021 at 2.30 pm

Board Members Present: Councillor Helen Holland (Chair), Councillor Ellie King (Deputy Chair),
David Jarrett, Stephen Beet, Ann James, Kerry Joyce, Hugh Evans, Christina Gray, Tim Keen
(substitute for Maria Kane), Heather Williams and Vicky Marriott
Officers in Attendance:Sally Hogg, Sarah Lynch, Jeremy Livitt and Mark Allen
Presenting Officers In Attendance:
Viv Harrison, Alison Hurley, Gerry Bates, Kate Markley, Kathryn Hamilton, Catherine Macleod Hall
Also In Attendance
Jessica Hillier (Observer), Rhian Loughlin and Eloise Wyke
Apologies for Absence:
Julia Ross, Paula Clarke, Tim Poole, Zahra Khosar, Janet Rowse and Cathy Caple
1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
The Chair welcomed all parties to the meeting and asked them to introduce themselves.
The Clerk explained the arrangements in the event of an emergency evacuation procedure.
2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions
Apologies for absence were received from Julia Ross, Paula Clarke, Tim Poole, Janet Rowse, Zahra Kosar
and Cathy Caple.
The Board noted that, following recent change in Cabinet Member responsibilities, Councillor Asher Craig
had been replaced on the Health and Well Being Board by Councillor Ellie King. It was also noted that the
Cabinet title of the Chair, Councillor Helen Holland, had changed to Adult Social Care and Integrated Care
System to reflect her additional responsibilities.
The ICP members of the Board were also welcomed to the meeting.

Page 8

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

3. Declarations of Interest
There were no Declarations of Interest.
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 28th July 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 28th July 2021 were approved as a correct record and signed by the
Chair subject to the inclusion of Vicky Marriott as being present.
5. Public Forum
There were no Public Forum Statements.
6. Forward Plan
Mark Allen confirmed that:
 a remote Teams meeting of the Joint Health and Well Being Board was scheduled to take place on
Thursday 28th October 2021 and would discuss issues relating to Adversity and Trauma as well as
the Integrated Care System
 in November 2021, there would be the rearranged Joint Workshop with the Children and Young
People’s Board would take place
 On 16th December 2021, the next formal Board meeting would focus on refugee health
RESOLVED – that the Forward Plan be noted.
7. Mid Year Performance Report - Sally Hogg and Mark Allen, Public Health
Sally Hogg and Mark Allen gave a presentation on the Mid Year Performance Report and made the
following comments:









A summary was shown of health targets assessed against actions
The front page of the performance framework scorecard was shown
The six pillars of the workstream updates were shown with goals and themes from the One City
Plan together with strategies and Work Programmes for Health and Prevention including a
reduction in Childhood obesity
Following an introduction, information was provided on each goal with indicators for each
The Board noted the following colour indicators for each target – white indicates that information
had not yet been received, green that it had been received and was improving (ie the number of
women delivering children whilst also smoking), amber showed that progress had been made but
not completed and red showed that it had stalled and/or was worsening
It was noted that there were lots of amber targets and one red for alcohol-related hospital
admissions

Board members made the following comments:


It was good to see that actions were being honed so closely to objectives

Page 9

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk





It was important to note that many of the targets had been knocked off track due to COVID-19
and work was now needed to get them back on track
This was a very helpful way of presenting performance information
The One City Children and Families project had built an Equalities Framework to build inclusion
and had been recently launched on Monday 18th October 2021. Board members commented on
how this project could be incorporated into scrutiny and how particular groups such as the ICP’s
could help to develop it. Reference was made to the presentation of the Integrated Care System at
the last Board meeting and its connection to other work areas such as the Mental Health
Framework

RESOLVED –
(1) that the list of actions arising from the Mid-Year Performance Report be revisited at the next
HWBB meeting
ACTION: Mark Allen/Sally Hogg to add to agenda for Thursday 16th December 2021 formal
Board meeting
(2) that the One City Belonging Strategy be circulated to all HWBB members ACTION: Jeremy Livitt
(3) that an inquiry event concerning the One City Belonging Strategy be held with partners to assess
the direction of travel and to ensure HWBB is held to account ACTION: Ann James to arrange,
Mark Allen and Sally Hogg to support as required
8. COVID Update (Standing Item) - Christina Gray, Director of Public Health
Christina Gray gave a verbal report on this item and made the following points:











All relevant data is set out on the website
Some process issues had been discovered concerning data at the NHS Wolverhampton Laboratory
which had been closed since this had been identified on 12 th October 2021. An investigation into
this problem had been started by the Security Agency. However, only a few tests form Bristol had
been sent to this laboratory. All individuals affected by this had been contacted by Test and Trace
Rates were rising across the country and this had impacted local rates. PCR testing had dropped
steeply in the last few weeks
Bristol currently had 436 cases per 100,000 which was now at the England average, although
below the South West average (BANES, Wiltshire and Swindon were peaking at higher rates than
Bristol)
The virus continued to circulate widely and the highest rates were amongst younger age groups
Organisations and individuals were being encouraged to take voluntarily the necessary measures
to reduce the infection rates, such as washing hands thoroughly and frequently, as well as
ventilation
Individuals would be encouraged to take the booster jab when called to do so as immunity was
already waning

Page 10

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk



Vaccination rates were already improving with over 70% of people having received their second
vaccination
The Board were then shown a short film concerning measures being taken to encourage
vaccination rates.
In response to a members’ question, Christina Gray indicated that the roll out of vaccinations for
12 to 15 year olds was being carried out by the Child Health Immunisation Service but was taking
place quite slowly. The most vulnerable were being targeted first. The programme was taking
place with the consent of parents and would be a rolling programme.
RESOLVED - that Christina Gray checks to see whether the video shown to HWBB members can be
shared on social media. ACTION: Christina Gray

9. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Annual Report - Viv Harrison, Public Health
Viv Harrison gave a presentation updating the Board on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
Annual Report and made the following comments:












A package of work had been carried out to assess the health and care needs of the population
Members’ attention was drawn to a report that was presented to the Board in January 2021 which
set out the implications and future direction of the Health and Well Being profile of Bristol
A rolling programme of measures was being introduced which contained sections on living
conditions and priority groups. Partners had been sent updated bulletins with the latest
information
A piece of work was in progress to create locality level profiles
The Integrated Care Partnerships set out data profiles with the population and its needs. AN
example of the format used was provided showing a population profile with maps at the bottom.
There was also included a set of indicators comparing each locality with the rest of Bristol
The summary of the Health and Well Being profile from January 2021 included data gathered prepandemic – all no later than 2019. Analysis showed that Bristol had a high health burden in
comparison with other core cities
Key statistics showed that deaths under 75 were no longer decreasing and also showed increasing
numbers of obesity and self-harm amongst young people. Figures for patients who smoked had
also increased, although the rates of smoking amongst those who were pregnant had decreased
and was dropping in the most deprived quintiles. Nevertheless there remained 500 parents within
this category which showed marked inequalities. More collaboration with neighbouring Local
Authorities as needed in this area
Existing priorities still remained key priorities. However, COVID was now also a key indicator and
the impact of long COVID needed to be considered. There is scope for further alignment to
strengthen the focus on inequalities

Page 11

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Board members made the following comments:





It was important to address this issue through ICP’s. Information from the census would inform
ward profiles and ensure these issues were tackled at locality level
A very similar presentation had been given by South Gloucestershire Health and Well Being Board.
It was important to engage ICPs in developing the work of the HWBB and help in preparing the
JSNA Action Plan
The survey had identified a lot of issues about depression being connected to people’s concerns
about housing
It was important to remember that health outcomes were the result of wider determining factors.
For example, parents who smoked could have an impact on those children and their lifetime
health risks.

RESOLVED – that the presentation be noted.
10. Integrated Care System (Standing Item) - Councillor Helen Holland and Integrated
Care Partnership Representatives - Verbal
The Chair introduced this item and made the following points:





A Memorandum of Understanding has now been agreed. This set out important principles and the
need for a culture change in approach
The pandemic had revealed the importance of ensuring services were grown to meet the needs of
the community
Once the service goes live in April 2022, it would need to develop in its own way
A recent workshop had helped to develop a fruitful relationship between the HWBB and the LGA

Stephen Beet made the following additional points:





Following recent recruitment, Jo Poole, Steven Rea and Sharron Norman had been appointed in
fulltime delivery Director roles for each of the ICPs
ICP Governance rules had now been agreed and would apply across the ICS
The HWBB would have an important role in setting the role of the ICPs and in the ICS. Strategy and
the target Operating Models (TOMs) were key aspects of this
Since the last Board meeting there had been a recent session with local Councillors including Julian
Ross who had attended to discuss ICS Development and the role of ICPs as part of a breakout
meeting

The Board received verbal updates from each of the ICP Representatives as follows:
Rhian Loughlin (ICP – Inner City and East)
In assessing key priorities for delivery, discussions had taken place about two months ago. A TOM for
Community Mental Health was being developed and would be signed off on 2nd November 2021.
The uptake of vaccinations was being improved and was focused on under 40s and communities with a

Page 12

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

current low uptake in the inner city area.
There was also work taking place concerning children’s mental health and ensuring a healthy weight
(through the wellbeing network). In addition, work was being strengthened with community partners in
relation to the “Ageing Well” programme.
Kerry Joyce (ICP – North and West)
Work was taking place in care homes in relation to autism and resolving any areas of conflict in the
delivery of the service. Integrated Personal Care Teams were carrying out work fundamental to
individual’s needs and operated in a co-ordination/liaison role.
Recent workshops had identified the need to embed practice in workstreams to address a Design Council
challenge to address difficulties of access and co-ordinated care. The focus on preventative support would
enable a momentum of change to develop.
Eloise Wyke (ICP – South)
Steven Rea and Josie New had recently been appointed to roles in this ICP area.
JSNA data was key in helping assessments in areas such as Mental Health, Drug and Alcohol Misuse and
Domestic Violence in particularly deprived wards such as Filwood , Withywood and Stockwood.
An Asset based approach was being developed to provide early support to individuals. Integrated Care
Teams provided a trusted assessment of the complex needs of individuals. In Year funding was helping to
enable roles to ensure community connector funding for roles to support Mental Health and THRIVE.
Work was taking place to ensure relevant experts with experience were available as required.
The Chair advised the Board that Jeff Farrar had been confirmed as the permanent chair of the ICS and
chair-elect of the Healthier Together Partnership for Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire.
RESOLVED - that the verbal reports be noted.
11. Adult Care Workforce Capacity - Stephen Beet, Bristol City Council - Verbal Report
Stephen Beet made the following verbal presentation for this item:






Over the last few months, social care had faced some serious challenges which had affected the
workforce capacity of the service
The number of vacancies had increased from 7% to 10%
The end of lockdown had coincided with issues such as the growth in the workforce for amazon
and supermarkets, Brexit, continuing poor pay and a lack of development opportunities. Jobs in
the social care sector were tough jobs and were not attractive to people. In addition, the growth
in the number of people waiting for elective surgery had resulted in an increased number of
people with disabilities and more complex care needs
In addition, there was a requirement for mandatory vaccines for care homes from 11 th November
2021. The government was also exploring a requirement for mandatory vaccines in all care
settings

Page 13

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk






Discussions were taking place with the voluntary sector to help with recruitment drives
Whilst in the short term, it would be difficult to get the workforce to meet the current demand,
work was being carried out in the long term to improve the wellbeing and to support carers
including the use of new technology to assist them, in their work
Nevertheless, there remained a big challenge in this area for the coming winter period.
Discussions were taking place with the LGA, the Association of Directors of Social Care, Skills for
Care and colleges to address this problem

The Chair noted that these difficulties emphasised the need for a greater focus on prevention as well
as ensuring that jobs in this sector were well valued.
RESOLVED – that the report be noted.
12. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities: Overview of Progress Against the
Written Statement of Action: Ann James and Alison Hurley, Bristol City Council
Alison Hurley, Gerry Bates (SIRONA) and Kate Markley gave a presentation on this item and made the
following points:
Alison Hurley
OFSTED had carried out an inspection of the SEND service and had identified five areas of weakness in a
ratified written statement of action.
These were identified as:
 a lack of accountability for leaders at all levels
 a lack of a timeline assessment
 a dysfunctional health and care process
 a lack of quality
 High rates of persistent absence leading to a breakdown in the trust with parents and carers
The need for rigorous community monitoring had been highlighted by NHS England. The first monitoring
visit had identified a number of successes in the last 18 months including an improvement in the accuracy
of data available, ensuring meaningful participation and consistency of service and the development of an
Adult Health Care Plan.
The service had been significantly impacted by COVID which still needed further embedding. There
remained a high level of absence of staff with parents and carers continuing to feel excluded.
Although 81 new places had opened across the city with Phase 2 opening in two to three weeks’ time, a
stronger foundation was required to build resilience across the city. Whilst the majority of users were
getting an enhanced strategy, there was an increase in waiting times.
A new SEND Action Plan was being co-produced with partners and would include a written statement of
action.

Gerry Bates

Page 14

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

The waiting list for community pediatricians had now been reduced with 82% being seen in 18 weeks, a
big increase from 17% last year. The medical needs of users were being identified earlier.
There had been difficulties when children were seen remotely as they needed to wait for a black of
therapy, including occupational therapy and speech and language therapy.
There was a need to ensure early identification led to significant progress on health visiting and an
assessment to ensure intervention took place soon and signposting led to the required support.
There had been an unprecedented increase in the demand for early intervention and support. There had
also been a big increase in diagnosis of autism via the User X Project.
Following an assessment of people’s experience at both ends of the process, a number of prototypes
were being developed to ensure less presentation and triage and more development concerning health
care through a new team.
Statutory Assessments – there had been a big increase nationally and also locally in comparison to
Bristol’s statistical neighbours. Board members were shown a graph indicating work that had been carried
out in this area and with a resource that had been significantly increased since 2018. It nevertheless faced
a challenge in meeting the demand that had been increasing and which continued to place the system
under pressure.
Kate Markley – FLORA (Families, Local Offer, Resource and Advice)
The Board noted that earlier in the pandemic they had engaged with parents in difficult to reach
communities. FLORA had been set up to identify health visitors who were aware of the need to fight for
children’s needs to be met.
The role of social care practitioners was to build relationships and ensure that reasonable adjustments for
children were provided with support from the earliest stage in the process. They also worked with
parents and could help provide support to advise them on what service they needed and through carer
grants.
Board members made the following comments:






It was encouraging to see that there had been so much progress, particularly
in terms of working together
Oversight and championing SEND is one of the Council’s statutory duties and it was important to
do everything possible to meet this
An increase in training was required to ensure an impact on certain areas such as Anti-Social
Behaviour
Since children using the SEND services would grow into adults who might require acute services
and therefore early intervention and early prevention were the key
A trauma informed strategy was important as a belonging strategy. It was very important that
children were part of these priorities and that the system worked to achieve this

RESOLVED – that all Board members continue to actively contribute to and support the Belonging
Strategy and SEND Partnership Plan.

Page 15

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

13. Treating Tobacco Dependence: North Bristol Trust and Andrea Dickens, Public Health
Kathryn Hamilton presented this report and made the following points:


There remained a great deal of work to medicalise tobacco addiction and ensure that it was not
treated as a lifestyle choice



The rates of tobacco addiction were starting to increase again and the costs remained high. There
was also an impact on mental health since 40% of mental health patients smoked
The aim was for all Health Trusts to be smoke free in terms of acute maternity provision and its
impact on mental health
Vaping was assessed as a useful tool to stop smoking. Whilst the recording of smoking was
improving, getting people to quit remained a challenge
The Ottawa model had been developed 5 years ago and was a systematic approach. This had
extended across all of Canada to over 100 hospitals and had helped to reduce mortality
Some outcomes were encouraging. One fifths of smokers had quit three months later
A consultation involving 500 people had been carried out by the University of Bristol. Designated
outdoor vaping areas had been set up as a method of communicating behavioural nudges and
provision of training for staff was being carried out to help with this
As part of a next step, the Treating Tobacco Dependence Working Group would be set up,
mapping current activities and assessing aims to develop a strategy
Various options for helping people stop smoking included designating vaping areas, selling ecigarettes and improved training for staff
Further education was required concerning vaping and its assistance in treating dependency on
tobacco. Focus groups would help in this process, together with signage and nudging techniques
Details of the methodology were set out and of collaboration between the University of Bristol
and HWBB
The Board were requested to support the proposed approach












Board members made the following points:





There was a need to engage primary care on this issue
Manchester produced training videos on this issue, including a move away from enforcement
towards cessation support
It was important to find ways of transmitting these conversations into the community to those
hard to reach groups which were usually the most difficult to engage
This was a welcome shift in approach

RESOLVED –
(1)
(2)

that the recommendations contained in the report be approved
that progress in this area continue to be monitored and appropriate discussions take place
with the BRI and other relevant groups in the applicable community and education settings

ACTION: Andrea Dickens/Kathryn Hamilton

14. Date of Next Meeting

Page 16

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

It was noted that the next formal Board meeting is scheduled to be held at 2.30pm on Thursday 16th
December 2021 in the Council Chamber, City Hall, College Green, Bristol.
The meeting ended at 5.00 pm
CHAIR

Page 17

Agenda Item 6
DRAFT Forward Plan as of February 2022
Wednesday 23rd March 2:30-5pm - development session
Age Friendly City action plan and Ageing Well programme – Age UK, Healthier
Together
Wednesday 20th April 2:30-5pm - formal Board at City Hall
Integrated Care System (standing item)
Fuel Poverty Action Plan
Bristol Good Food 2030
May - development session
Date and topic TBC

Page 18

Agenda Item 9

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Paper:
Author (including organisation):
Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

Annual Health Protection Report for Bristol
Katie Porter/Brianna O’Malley BCC
24th February 2022
Oversight and assurance

1. Executive Summary
This annual health protection assurance report covers the period April 2020 – March 2021.
The report provides an overview of the status of health protection priorities, targets and
recommended actions identified by the Health Protection Committee in 2020.

The table below outlines the executive summary of this report with the updates in
each section highlighted below and the action plan in each area. The continued
response to the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the availability of some data to
fulfil this report, with some key data sets for the year 2020/ 21 not having been
produced.
Area

Updates

Actions

Tuberculosis (TB)

No new updates provided

Health Care Acquired Infections
(HCAI’s)

↓ 25% BNSSG reduction in MRSA
(but Bristol remains an outlier with
80% of cases)
↓ 7.4% reduction in cases in
Bristol
↓12% BNSSG reduction in E. coli
↓ 5.3% reduction in cases in
Bristol
↑ Significant increase in C.diff

New TB action plan for England
2021 has been launched
Chlorhexidine pilot in quarter one
2021/22

MRSA
E.coli

C.Diff

Sexual Health

↓in STI diagnoses
↑syphilis

Improvement plan developed for
2021/22
Deep dive review 2020.
Collaborative process started in
July 2021. C.Diff working group
established.
Data quality issues
Use data to determine inequalities.
Targeted population health.

HIV Rates remain high

Fast Track Cities

Chlamydia Screen Change
published

Focus on targeting young women
only in 2022

Foodborne Illness

↓715 to 509 reported cases

BCC continues to work closely
with UKHSA

Food Safety Inspections

≈ 4,000 backlogged inspections

Aim to reduce by 2022 with EHO
contractor support.

Port Health Work

OOHS introduced

Immunisations

MMR and Dtap-TPV remain of
concern

Continued COVID-19 and
Infectious disease response.
Work to restart on the Bristol
Elimination Strategy

Shingles

↓ Vaccination uptake

Flu

Programme expanded to include
50-64 yr. olds
2-3 yr. old uptake low
Remains low and lower than South
West Average

Cervical Screening

Page 19

August 2021 public awareness
campaign
Expanded programme continues

Delays due to the pandemic

1

Bowel Screening

No updated rates data available

Recovered backlog in July 2021

Breast Screening

Rates remain static

Awaiting updated data

Air Quality

↓Reduction in pollutants

Avonmouth

↓Reduction in complaints

Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response

NSRA published
60 protests
COVID-19 support
Bristol Hotel Contingency Initial
Accommodation
Outbreak Feb 2021
↓Measles
HIV Global Issue

A Clean Air Zone (CAZ) is in
development with plan to
implement from in 2022.
Community Oversight Group
established.
Updates due 2022

Refugee and Asylum Seeker
Health
Global Burden of Disease

COVID-19

31,075 positive cases
47% male, 53% female

Hospitalisations & Deaths

5,085 positive people admitted to
hospital
611 deaths
6% adults fully vaccinated (16+)
42% received first dose

Vaccinations

Continued support to improve and
protect health
The Lancet’s special issue on
Global Burden of Disease (GBD),
Oct 2020
Local Outbreak Management Plan
Local Outbreak Management Plan

Vaccination programme continues

2. Purpose of the Paper
To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with oversight of the work to protect the health of
the population from infectious diseases, screening for cancers, monitor vaccination
programmes, respond to health emergencies and to have assurance that action is being
taken.

3. Background and evidence base
The annual report gathers data from a variety of national and local health protection
data sets to present an overview of the performance of the city in addressing health
protection issues and measures against national targets. This enables the Health
Protection Committee to agree a workplan for the coming year across the
partnership.
The One City Plan includes the priority to reduce health inequalities. Health
Protection impacts on health inequalities. Infectious diseases are more prevalent in
areas of poverty and higher density households and they have more severe health
outcomes in groups that suffer inequality.
4. Community/stakeholder engagement
Contributions to this report came from BCC Health Protection team, the wider BCC Public
Health team, BCC Environmental Health, BCC Civil Protection, Public Health England,
BNSSG CCG, and NHS England. The report has been shared with the Health Protection
committee, and the BNSSG CCG Governing Body.

5. Recommendations
This report enables the Director of Public Health to provide assurance to the Health and
Wellbeing Board (H&WB), that the health of the residents of Bristol is being protected in a
proactive and effective way.
The board is asked to approve the report and the approach we are taking.

6. City Benefits
The health protection actions enable the population to be protected from infectious diseases,
identify cancer at an early stage and address health emergencies.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
None

8. Appendices
The main report is in Appendix 1 (next page).

Page 20

2

Bristol Health Protection
Annual Report 2021
April 2020 to March 2021

Report Author
Brianna O’Malley, Senior Public Health Specialist
Bristol City Council

Page 21

3

Contents
Bristol Health Protection Annual Report 2021 ........................................................... .3
.................................................................................................................................. .3
Acknowledgments ..................................................................................................... .6
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................... .8
1.1 Executive Summary and Action Plan………………………………………………

9

2. Tuberculosis (TB)……………………………………………………………………….12
3. Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) – Health Care Acquired Infections
(HCAI’s)……………………………………………………………………………………..19
3.1 MRSA Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus. ...................................... 20
3.2 Clostridium Difficile ......................................................................................... 21
3.3 E.coli .............................................................................................................. .22
3.4 Other Blood Stream Infections (BSI's)……………………………………………23
3.5 Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Rates for Frontline staff………………………23
4. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) ........................................................................... 24
4.1 Antibiotic prescribing ....................................................................................... 24
5. Sexual Health ....................................................................................................... 25
5.1 COVID-19 ....................................................................................................... 25
5.2 Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STI's)………………………………………… 25
5.3 Rapid STI Testing………………………………………………………………… 27
5.4 Swab Shortages…………………………………………………………………….27
5.5 High Rates of HIV………………………………………………………………….. 28
5.6 Fast Track Cities…………………………………………………………………….29
5.7 HIV testing……………………………………………………………………………30
5.8 HIV Pre Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP)……………………………………………30
5.9 Common Ambition Bristol…………………………………………………………31
5.10 Relationships and Sexual Health Education………………………………….. 31
5.11 SHIP HIT……………………………………………………………………………31
5.12 Chlamydia Screening Changes………………………………………………….31
5.13 Partner Notification in primary care……………………………………………...32

Page 22

4

5.14 Expanding Access to PrEP………………………………………………………32
5.15 Fast Track Cities…………………………………………………………………..32
5.16 Sexual Health Promotion…………………………………………………………32
6. Environmental Health, Public Protection Work ..................................................... 33
6.1 Foodborne Illness………………………………………………………………….34
6.2 Food Safety Inspections and Interventions ……………………………………..35
6.3 Port Health Work…………………………………………………………………..35
7. Screening and Immunisations .............................................................................. 39
7.1 Childhood immunisations ………………………………………………………40
7.2 Shingles…………………………………………………………………………..40
7.3 Pneumococcal …………………………………………………………………..40
7.4 Flu ………………………………………………………………………………….41
8. Screening ............................................................................................................. 42
8.1 Screening Programmes ………………………………………………………….42
8.2 Cervical Screening…………………………………………………………………42
8.3 Bowel Screening…………………………………………………………………..44
8.4 Breast screening…………………………………………………………………..46
8.5 Antenatal and newborn Screening……………………………………………….47
8.6 Diabetic Eye Screening …………………………………………………………..47
8.7 AAA Screening …………………………………………………………………….47
8.8 Increasing screening uptake and equity of access………………………… 47
9. Environmental hazards to health, safety and pollution control ............................. 49
9.1 Air Quality ....................................................................................................... 49
9.2 Air Quality Management Area……………………………………………………50
9.3 Avonmouth…………………………………………………………………………51
10. Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) .......................... 52
10.1 Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH)……………………………… 52
10.2 Interruption to Water Services…………………………………………………52
10.3 Warning & Informing……………………………………………………………….52

Page 23

5

10.4 Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (ASLRF)

52

10.5 Protest and Public Order………………………………………………………….53
10.6 COVID-19 Response………………………………………………………………54
11. Refugee and Asylum Seeker Health ………………………………………………..55
11.1 Use of Bristol Hotel as Contingency Initial Accommodation …………………55
12 Global Population Health………………………………………………………………56
12.1 Global Burden of Disease…………………………………………………………56
12.2 Measles……………………………………………………………………………..56
13. COVID-19……………………………………………………………………………58
13.1 Timeline……………………………………………………………………………58
13.2 Cases………………………………………………………………………………60
13.3 Hospitalisations…………………………………………………………………….61
13.4 Mortality …………………………………………………………………………….62
13.5 Vaccinations ……………………………………………………………………….63
13.6 Bristol specific………………………………………………………………………64
13.7 Serious Incidents…………………………………………………………………..66

Acknowledgments
This report has been produced following a prolonged period of considerable
pressure on the Health and Public Health systems following the COVID-19 pandemic
response and it’s not over yet.
My grateful thanks to the Bristol team, particularly Katie Porter for your support in
producing this report. Thanks also to all members of the Bristol Health Protection
Committee and programme leads all of whom have continued to support both
essential health protection work at the same time as supporting the Bristol COVID-19
response.
Brianna O’Malley, Senior Public Health Specialist
29th November 2021

Page 24

6

List of Health Protection Committee Members and Report Contributors
Christina Gray
Indira Barker
James Bayliss

Joanna Copping
Steve Crawshaw

Dylan Davies
Simon Dicker
Sam Eddy

Adrian Jenkins
Emma Kain

Donna Liggins
Tracy Mathews
Julie Northcott
Brianna O’Malley
Katie Porter
Sophie Prosser
John Twigger

Director for Communities and Public
Health, Bristol City Council
Team Leader Public Protection, Bristol
City Council
Lead Quality and HCAI Manager,
Clinical Commissioning Group
Consultant in Public Health, Bristol City
Council
Programme Co-ordinator for
Sustainable City & Climate Change
Service, Bristol City Council
Team Leader Public Protection, Bristol
City Council
Senior Public Health Specialist, Bristol
City Council
Director’s Assistant to Christina Gray,
Director for Communities and Public
Health
Public Protection Manager, Bristol City
Council
Screening and Immunisations Lead,
Consultant in Public Health, NHS
England South West Public Health
Commissioning
Civil Protection Manager, Bristol City
Council
Senior Public Health Analyst, Bristol
City Council
Consultant in Public Health, Bristol City
Council
Senior Public Health Specialist, Bristol
City Council
Consultant in Public Health, Bristol City
Council
Principal Public Health Specialist,
Bristol City Council
Principal Public Health Specialist,
Bristol City Council

Page 25

7

1. Introduction
This annual health protection assurance report covers the period April 2020 – March
2021. The report provides an overview of the status of health protection priorities,
targets and recommended actions identified by the Health Protection Committee in
2020.
The continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the availability of
some data to fulfil this report, with some key data sets for the year 2020/ 21 not having
been produced.
In the last year, our health and public health systems have been under immense
pressure and we have been reminded again of the inequality in the level of risk that
different individuals and groups are exposed to.
Health Protection risks and issues reveal these inequalities, just as COVID-19
continues to do. We also recognise the Bristol specific inequalities faced by our
residents.
This report is a reminder of the range of communicable disease and environmental
risks which we need to address as part of the continued COVID-19 Recovery.
An action plan will be developed to address the issues identified in this report. Our
next assurance report will be produced in September 2022 covering the period from
1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.

Christina Gray
Director of Public Health
16th December 2021

Page 26

8

1.1 Executive Summary
The table below outlines the executive summary of this report with the
updates in each section highlighted below and the action plan in each
area. The continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted
the availability of some data to fulfil this report, with some key data sets
for the year 2020/ 21 not having been produced.
Area

Updates

Actions

Tuberculosis (TB)

No new updates
provided

New TB action plan
for England 2021 has
been launched
Chlorhexidine pilot in
quarter one 2021/22

Health Care
Acquired Infections
(HCAI’s)
MRSA

E.Coli

C.Diff

Sexual Health

↓ 25% BNSSG
reduction in MRSA
(but Bristol remains
an outlier with 80% of
cases)
↓ 7.4% reduction in
cases in Bristol
↓12% BNSSG
Improvement plan
reduction in E.coli
developed for 2021/22
↓ 5.3% reduction in
cases in Bristol
↑ Significant increase
Deep dive review
in C.diff
2020. Collaborative
process started in July
2021. C.Diff working
group established.
↓in STI diagnoses
Data quality issues
↑syphilis
Use data to determine
inequalities. Targeted
population health.
HIV Rates remain
high

Fast Track Cities

Chlamydia Screen
Change published

Focus on targeting
young women only in
2022

Page 27

9

Foodborne Illness

↓715 to 509 reported
cases

BCC continue to work
closely with UKHSA

Food Safety
Inspections

≈ 4,000 backlogged
inspections

Aim to reduce by
2022 with EHO
contractor support.

Port Health Work

OOHS introduced

Continued COVID-19
and Infectious disease
response.

Immunisations

MMR and Dtap-TPV
remain of concern

Work to restart on the
Bristol Elimination
Strategy

Shingles

↓ Vaccination uptake

August 2021 public
awareness campaign

Flu

Programme expanded Expanded programme
to include 50-64 yr.
continues
olds
2-3 yr. old uptake low

Cervical Screening

Remains low and
lower than South
West Average

Bowel Screening

No updated rates data Recovered backlog in
available
July 2021

Breast Screening

Rates remain static

Page 28

Delays due to the
pandemic

Awaiting updated data

10

Air Quality

↓Reduction in
pollutants

Avonmouth

↓Reduction in
complaints

Emergency
Preparedness,
Resilience and
Response

NSRA published
60 protests
COVID-19 support

Refugee and Asylum Bristol Hotel
Seeker Health
Contingency Initial
Accommodation
Outbreak Feb 2021

A Clean Air Zone
(CAZ) is in
development with plan
to implement from in
2022.
Community Oversight
Group established.

Updates due 2022

Continued support to
improve and protect
health

Global Burden of
Disease

↓Measles
HIV Global Issue

COVID-19

31,075 positive cases
47% male, 53%
female

Hospitalisations &
Deaths

5,085 positive people
admitted to hospital
611 deaths

Local Outbreak
Management Plan

Vaccinations

6% adults fully
vaccinated (16+)
42% received first
dose

Vaccination
programme continues

Page 29

The Lancet’s special
issue on Global
Burden of Disease
(GBD), Oct 2020
Local Outbreak
Management Plan

11

2. Tuberculosis (TB)
NB: Since our last report, there has been no update provided to the currently
reported dataset for Bristol Local Authority Area or the South West, however, a
new TB Action Plan for England 2021 has been launched.
Tuberculosis (TB) is a “notifiable disease”, so must be reported to government
authorities. In England TB has been identified as a public health priority due to the
health, social and economic burden of the disease. The rates of TB and the risks of
delayed diagnosis, drug resistance, and onward transmission are greatest among
socially marginalised, under-served populations such as illicit drug users and the
homeless.
Summary points:


The TB incidence rate in Bristol remains statistically significantly higher than
England’s average. In the last 3 years 2018-20 the average number of
notifications in Bristol was 49 per year.



There were 49 notified TB cases in Bristol in 2018, an almost 20% decrease
since 2017. The annual rate per 100,000 population has also decreased from
13.3 in 2017 to 10.6 in 2018 the lowest rate since 2002.



Among Core Cities, Bristol’s TB incidence rate is 4th highest – after
Manchester, Birmingham, and Nottingham.



In 2019 88% of pulmonary TB cases started treatment within 4 months of
symptoms onset – higher than England’s average of 69.1%.



Although the prevalence of TB in the general population has reduced during
the 5 years of the TB Strategy, people with social risk factors (SRF) are the
one group with increasing levels of infection (PHE Annual Report 2020).



The TB action plan for England, 2021 to 2026 will improve prevention,
detection, and control of TB, enabling the UK to meet its commitment to the
World Health Organization (WHO) End TB Strategy and eliminate TB in
England by 2035. Earlier detection and treatment of TB increases likelihood of
recovery and reduces chances of onward spread of disease. Bristol City
Council remain engaged with the South West TB network, and inputting into
the delivery of the action plan locally.

Page 30

12

2.1 Incidence
In Bristol, the average annual number of cases now stands at 47 (10.1 per 100,000
population). Source: Tuberculosis in England: 2021 report (presenting data to end of
2020). This is a reduction from 11.5 between 2017/19 and 15.1 in 2015/17 (See Fig.
2.1)
Fig 2.1.1: TB Incidence Rates, 2000/02-2017/19
Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000 population, crude rate
over 3 year time period. Bristol vs England
30
25
20
15
10
Bristol
5

England

2017 - 19

2016 - 18

2015 - 17

2014 - 16

2013 - 15

2012 - 14

2011 - 13

2010 - 12

2009 - 11

2008 - 10

2007 - 09

2006 - 08

2005 - 07

2004 - 06

2003 - 05

2002 - 04

2001 - 03

2000 - 02

0

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework September 2021
Compared to other cities, Bristol is 4th highest of English Core Cities, and 6th
highest of “Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) Nearest Neighbours” (See
Fig. 2.1.2 and 2.1.3.)
Red bars indicate rates statistically significantly higher than England average; amber
bars indicate rates statistically similar and green bars – rates statistically significantly
lower than England average

Page 31

13

Fig 2.1.2: TB Incidence Rates, 2017 - 2019 for Core Cities;
Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000 population,
crude rate over 3 year time period. Core Cities and England,
2017-2019
25

20

15

10

5

0

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework September 2021
Fig 2.1.3: TB Incidence Rates, 2017-2019 for CIPFA Nearest Neighbours
Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000
population, crude rate over 3 year time period. Bristol and its
CIPFA nearest neighbours, 2017-2019. 95% CI
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

Page 32

14

2.2 Equalities data
The Public Health England ‘Tuberculosis in the South West: 2020’ 2 report provides
data on health inequalities within the South West region. Most TB cases in 2019
were of White ethnicity (48.5%), the next most common ethnicities were Mixed-Other
(14.9%), Black-African (12.8%) and Indian (11.9%). The proportion of cases in the
Mixed-Other population increased in 2019 compared to 2018.
The largest proportion of cases (21.4%) lived in the most deprived areas of the
region (the most deprived IMD2019 decile). The Public Health England’s
‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’ 3 presents the TB notification rates per
100,000 population for the year 2019 by deprivation decile (IMD 2019) (See
Fig.2.2.1). The rate of TB increases with increasing levels of deprivation: 18.4 per
100,000 in the 10% of the population living in the most deprived areas compared
with only 3.6 per 100,000 in the 10% of the population living in the least deprived
areas.

Fig 2.2.1: TB Notification Rates by Deprivation, England 2019
TB notification rates by deprivation decile (IMD2019).
England 2019
25

20

15

10

18.4

15.7

14.0

5

12.6
9.7

7.8

5.8

4.7

4.1

3.6

7

8

9

Least
deprived
decile

0
Most
deprived
decile

2

3

4

5

6

Source: Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’.

Page 33

15

2.3 Collaborative TB Strategy for England, 2015 to 2020 End of
programme report
This End of Programme report for the Collaborative TB Strategy for England, 2015
to 2020 was written by the National TB Strategy team with support from NHS
England and NHS Improvement, regional TB Control Boards and in consultation with
a broad range of stakeholders.
The TB strategy (2015-2020) was implemented to look at using the assets that
already exist in the NHS and the public health system to:


support and strengthen local services in dealing with TB (particularly in areas
of high incidence)



ensure clear lines of accountability and responsibility



provide national support for local action

During the 5 years of the 2015 to 2020 strategy, TB incidence in England declined by
29% – from 11.9 per 100,000 in 2014 (pre-strategy) to 8.4 per 100,000 in 2019. A
robust national TB programme structure with multi-disciplinary and multi-agency
involvement was created to deliver the strategy, implementing a range of
innovations. (Source: TB strategy for England, 2015 to 2020 end of programme
report).

2.4 TB Quarterly Reports
Provisional data (England) for 2020 (and thus should be interpreted with caution as
final culture confirmation is not available) shows a decline in TB case notifications
and rates compared to 2019. A total of 4,131 TB cases were notified in 2020, a rate
of 7.3 per 100,000. This represents a 13.1% decline in TB rates since 2019, and a
38.7% decline since the start of the TB Strategy in 2015. It is important to note that
this data is provisional and may represent under reporting due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Further details of provisional data are published on the TB pages of the
PHE website in quarterly TB reports. These reports aim to provide timely and up-todate figures on key epidemiological indicators, inclusive of regional breakdowns, to
inform ongoing TB control efforts in England.

2.5 TB Action Plan for England 2021
We are now moving into a new era of TB control placing a greater focus on
supporting the NHS and recovery from COVID-19 and we have a new TB Action
Plan to guide this work. With this new focus, TB strategic work will become business
as usual within PHEs TB Unit, and the small national TB strategy team is being
disbanded.

Page 34

16

The aim of the TB Action Plan is to improve the prevention, detection, and control of
TB in England. The Action Plan will focus on the needs of those affected by TB and
TB services whilst recognising the impact and learning of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The five key priorities of the action plan are:


Priority 1 - Recovery from COVID-19



Priority 2 - Prevent TB Priority



Priority 3 - Detect TB



Priority 4 - Control TB disease



Priority 5 - Workforce

These priorities are underpinned by:


actions for specific population groups i.e., under-served populations, new
entrants, people with drug resistant TB and children with TB



measurable outcomes and indicators



systems wide actions i.e., communications, surveillance, research and
ensuring TB is included on prevention and health inequalities agendas.
Delivery of the priorities will build on the progress in collaborative working
particularly at regional and local level, to strengthen the patient pathway from
the onset of symptoms or detection of infection and to utilise the latest
technology, treatment, and diagnostics.

Delivery of the priorities will build on the progress in collaborative working particularly
at regional and local level, to strengthen the patient pathway from the onset of
symptoms or detection of infection and to utilise the latest technology, treatment, and
diagnostics.
Bristol City Council Public Health Team alongside multi-agency partners remain
engaged with the South West TB network, and inputting into the delivery of the
action plan locally.

2.6 Further data / links:


Public Health England. (2021) Tuberculosis in the South West 2020:
Presenting data to end of 2019. Public Health England: South West.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tuberculosis-tb-regional-reports

Page 35

17



Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/943356/TB_Annual_Report_2020.pdf



TB Action Plan for England (2021)

Tuberculosis (TB): action plan for England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)


Public Health Outcomes Framework https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/publichealth-outcomes-framework



Collaborative TB Strategy for England, 2015 to 2020 End of programme
report

Collaborative TB Strategy for England, 2015 to 2020: end of programme report
(publishing.service.gov.uk)


Tuberculosis in England: National Quarterly Reports.

Tuberculosis in England: national quarterly report, Q1 2021, 1 January to 31 March
2021 (publishing.service.gov.uk)
Tuberculosis in England National quarterly report: Q4 2020 1 October to 31
December 2020
Tuberculosis in England National quarterly report: Q3 2020 1 July to 30 September
2020
Tuberculosis in England National quarterly report: Q2 2020 1 April to 30 June 2020

Page 36

18

3. Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) – Health Care Acquired
Infections (HCAI’s)
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) hosts the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire wide
Healthcare Associated Infection (HCAI) Group which is held quarterly and chaired by
the CCG’ s Deputy Director of Nursing & Quality. The group met quarterly during the
reporting period, maintaining oversight, and supporting joint action where needed.
During 2020/21, the BNSSG Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy (AMR) Group was
established. The purpose of the group is to support and enable delivery of the UK 5year AMR National Action plan 2019-24 across BNSSG and ensure progress
towards the 20-year vision to contain and control AMR. The group provides
leadership for a system-wide approach for the containment and control of AMR in
human health services. Bristol City Council Public Health Team have representatives
at both groups.
HCAI Highlights from this reporting year were:
Title
Methicillin
Resistant
Staphylococcus
Aureus (MRSA)

Aims 20/21
Systems working
approach to
reducing cases.
Zero tolerance for
MRSA.

Performance
A 25% reduction in
MRSA cases is
reported

Escherichia coli
(E. coli)

Monitoring of
cases and
systems approach
to reducing cases.

A reduction in
case assignment
of 12% is noted

Other
Bloodstream
Infections (BSI’s)

A reduction in the
number of gramnegative blood
stream infections
across the whole
health economy,
noting the national
ambition reduction
target.
To remain below
the threshold of
not more than 201
BNSSG CCG

A reported
reduction of 8% in
MSSA cases. No
significant change
is reported in CCG
assigned
Klebsiella and
Pseudomonas
cases.
There has been a
significant
increase in
assigned CDI

Clostridioides
difficile Infection
CDI

Page 37

Future Actions
Continue with
systems working
approach and plan
to launch the
Chlorhexidine pilot
in quarter one
2021/22.
An improvement
plan for 2021/22
will be developed,
following review of
previous local
initiatives.
Continued
monitoring for
Klebsiella
Pseudomonas and
MSSA
bacteraemia.

The CCG will
actively contribute
to the NHS
England CDI
19

assigned cases
set by NHS
England (NHSE)
for Clostridioides
difficile Infection.

Serious Incidents
(SI’s)

Antibiotics
Prescribing

Seasonal
Influenza
Vaccination
Rates for
Frontline staff

Monitoring of
antibiotic
consumption and
prescribing has
continued. The
aim was a
reduction in
antibiotic
prescribing, noting
the national
requirements.
National targets for
Seasonal
Influenza vaccine
for Frontline Staff.

cases is reported
during 2020/21.
A local action plan
has been
developed to
ensure that local
processes are
aligned with best
practice.
94 HCAI COVID19 related
incidents have
been received by
the CCG.
Three key areas of
work have been
agreed by the
BNSSG
Antimicrobial
stewardship group
including CDI.

An overall
improvement in
uptake is noted.

3.1 MRSA Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus
Bacteraemia (Bloodstream Infections).

collaborative
process in July
2021.

The CCG will
schedule a review
process to identify
learning and
associated actions
to mitigate risk.
The new
diagnostics
subgroup of the
AMR Strategy
Group is focussing
on urinary tract
infections.

Continued
monitoring.

Aureus

(MRSA)

Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) is a gram-positive bacterium
that commonly colonised in the human skin and mucosa without causing infection.
When infection occurs, usually because the bacterium enters the body via broken
skin or medical procedures it can produce a wide variety of disease; minor skin and
wound infections, pneumonia, life-threatening blood stream infections (septicaemia)
and sepsis.
Nationally, there is a ‘Zero Tolerance’ approach to MRSA Bacteraemia and whilst the
number of cases assigned to BNSSG CCG has improved significantly during
2020/21, the local system remains challenged by the number of cases assigned.
During 2020/21, 31 cases were assigned to BNSSG CCG, representing a year-on-

Page 38

20

year reduction for the last four years, a 36% reduction from the 2017/18 position
when 49 cases were assigned and a 25% reduction when compared to 2019/20. The
majority of cases continue to occur in the Bristol area and account for 80%+ cases in
the year 2020/21. Over the last three years we have seen a reduction in the Bristol
assigned cases: 2018/19 = 30, 2019/20 = 27 and 2020/21 = 25 but we remain an
outlier. As a CCG, this benchmark is above the all England and Southwest average
per 100,000 populations. Fig. 3.1.1 shows the distribution of cases from month to
month, with the highest number of cases arising in June 2019, June 2020, and
October 2020.
3.1.1 BNSSG Assigned MRSA Bacteraemia Cases from April 2019 to March
2021.

New assigned cases are predominately related to community onset (87%) with the
remainder (13%) relating to hospital onset. Of these 87% community onset cases,
38% (10 cases in Bristol) related to Persons Who Inject Drugs (PWID). A Post
Infection Review (PIR) process is undertaken for each case irrespective of
onset. There is ongoing multiagency work through the Design Council Project to
develop and implement harm reduction / risk management in this group. In addition,
the Reducing Bacterial Infections (REACT) project is continuing to work with system
partners including Bristol City Council, BNSSG CCG, Bristol University, Bristol Drugs
Project, and Public Health England to develop a range of interventions to optimise
harm reduction amongst PWID.
3.2 Clostridium Difficile

Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) is an anaerobic spore-forming gram positive, toxin
producing bacterium. It is more common in elderly, hospitalised patients, especially
those with current or recent history repeat or extended courses of antibiotics. C Diff
can lead to severe illness and mortality but is preventable through antibiotic

Page 39

21

stewardship, high levels of environmental cleaning in addition to standard infection
prevention and control measures by staff.
During 2018/19 and 2019/20, C Diff cases assigned to BNSSG CCG were static at
196 and 195 respectively, remaining under the system threshold of 309 and 201
cases set by NHS England. During 2020/21 formal system thresholds were not
announced.
Many systems, including Bristol, have reported an increase in assigned C Diff cases
and BNSSG has seen an increase of 50%. In Bristol, our cases have also seen a
significant rise with 2019/19 = 82, 2019/20 = 74 and 2020/21 = 117. In response to
the increase in C Diff cases, NHS England have announced that a South West C Diff
collaborative group will be convened in July 2021 and BNSSG CCG colleagues will
be actively engaged with this process.
Local processes for reviewing hospital onset cases are robust, with all cases
receiving a Consultant Microbiologist review to identify prescribed antibiotics, which
are then reviewed against the local guidance/formulary. Due to the redeployment of
staff during the COVID-19 pandemic, review meetings were suspended and case
reviews by the CCG remain outstanding, however case reviews by the provider and
Consultant Microbiology staff have continued throughout 2020/21. At the March 2021
HCAI Group, BNSSG signalled an intention to undertake a rapid review exercise of
all 2020/21 cases and this approach was discussed with NHS England.
A rapid ‘Deep Dive’ of all CCG cases assigned in June 2020 was undertaken with
the intention of identifying and exploring the factors that could be driving this
increase and potential areas for improvement and to develop recommendations to
mitigate risk.
The following areas were identified as requiring further focus to ensure that
processes are aligned with best practice and identified actions were presented to the
BNSSG CCG Quality Committee and Primary Care Oversight Group (PCOG):
Guidance on Resampling, Antibiotic Usage, Penicillin Allergies,
Documentation/Alerts and Practice Based Care Reviews.
3.3 E.coli

As a system there were a number of initiatives adopted in 2019/20 to support a
reduction in cases including the introduction of catheter passports and a range of
projects with a focus on patient hydration. BNSSG CCG has noted that during
2019/20, there was a 6% reduction in E. coli bacteraemia cases noted when
compared with 2018/19 and a further reduction of 12% has been achieved when
comparing 2019/20 with 2020/21. BNSSG CCG assigned cases, has reduced from
662 to 585 cases. More specifically in Bristol, cases have been reducing since
2018/19 with 344 cases, 2019/20 with 297 cases and in 2020/21 with 281 cases.

Page 40

22

Case activity is generally below the Southwest benchmark and at, or below, the allEngland benchmark. Work will continue to ensure that previous quality initiatives
have been embedded.
3.4 Other Blood Stream Infections (BSI’s)
During 2020/21, monitoring of monthly case totals assigned to BNSSG CCG for
MSSA, Klebsiella and Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemia continued. During
2020/21, no formal cohort reviews have been undertaken, however case assignment
remains under the Southwest and all England benchmarking. In Bristol, we have
seen an increase in Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemia cases since 2018/19
with 23 cases, 2019/20 with 25 cases and 2020/21 with 33 cases identified.
Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemia cases when compared to 2019/20 are static
and case activity remains below an average of ten each month. The national dataset
has previously indicated that urinary tract infections are reported as the primary
source (where a source is identified) and BNSSG will seek to undertake a local
cohort review during 2021/22 to capture local drivers and check for recurring
patients.
Regarding Klebsiella bacteraemia cases, when compared to 2019/20 there has been
an approximate 5% increase from 75 cases in 2019/20 to 85 2020/21 and compared
to 77 cases in 2018/19. Case activity is the second lowest, when compared with the
seven CCGs across the Southwest.
An 8% reduction in MSSA bacteraemia cases is noted when compared to 2019/20,
from 189 to 172 cases and case activity for BNSSG is the 2nd lowest when
compared with the seven CCGs across the southwest for 2020/21. Initial discussion
with system partners indicates that PWID are likely to be a recurring theme within
this dataset; options for additional support with PHE (UKHSA) to investigate this
further will be explored. Specifically, in Bristol, we have seen a reduction in cases
since 2018/19 with 103 cases, 2019/20 with 90 cases and 2020/21 with 78 cases.
3.5 Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Rates for Frontline staff
During 2020/21, BNSSG system wide flu groups were established with membership
from all stakeholders and contracted providers, with clear governance arrangements.
All providers submitted action plans to the CCG for review and assurance. The
national target sought to provide an offer of seasonal flu vaccinations to all frontline
staff. The deployment of staff to the national seasonal campaign occurred during the
additional pressures associated with COVID-19.

Page 41

23

An improvement in uptake is noted amongst most providers. NBT reported a
reduction in uptake, which may have been affected by the diversion of resources to
the COVID-19 vaccination programme.

4. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR)
Bacteria, viruses, and fungi are naturally adapting and becoming resistant to
medicines used to treat infections that they cause. Coupled to this, the development
pipeline for new antibiotics is at an all-time low. Together this means society is rapidly
getting close to a point where we may not be able to prevent or treat everyday
infections or diseases. Antibiotic prescribing and antibiotic resistance are inextricably
linked, as overuse and incorrect use of antibiotics are major drivers of resistance
(PHE, 2018).
A Bristol, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) health system
Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy group has been established with a remit to
implement AMR 5-year plan. The BNSSG antimicrobial stewardship collaboration and
Healthcare Acquired Infections group report to the strategy group.
4.1 Antibiotic prescribing
The COVID-19 pandemic led to an overall reduction in antibiotic prescribing during
2020-21. This has mostly been driven by a reduction in prescribing for upper
respiratory tract infections, especially in children, with significant reductions in
prescribing of amoxicillin and phenoxymethylpenicillin. However, there has been an
increase in broad spectrum antibiotic prescribing.
Support was given to practices by the CCG medicines optimisation team in the form
of teaching sessions and time with practice pharmacists. This supported 38 out of 43
Bristol practices to meet the both the prescribing targets of overall prescribing 0.965
antibiotics/STAR-PU and less than 10% of antibiotics prescribed being broad
spectrum, cephalosporins, quinolones and co-amoxiclav. This work will continue
with practices that remain above the prescribing targets.

Page 42

24

5. Sexual Health
Efforts to improve the sexual health of the population are a public health priority.
Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) can have lasting long-term and costly
complications such as pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy and infertility
if not treated and are entirely preventable.
Bristol has a relatively young population compared to England and this is predicted
to rise. The city is ethnically diverse and has areas of high deprivation. There is an
active lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans scene. These factors mean sexual health is a
high priority for Bristol.
Successes and Challenges of 2020/21
5.1 COVID-19
Our specialist sexual health service, Unity rapidly adapted their service delivery
model in response to COVID-19 in 2020. To reduce face to face time the service
moved to telephone triage, postal kits for self-sampling, in house rapid STI testing
and providing medication via post. Those who needed to be seen in person
(including the most vulnerable) were still seen face to face although community
venues were closed. Whilst these changes were a challenge to implement, many of
the adaptions have been positive and are likely to be adopted when the pandemic is
over.
5.2 Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)
Bristol has the highest crude rates of STIs in the south west and significantly higher
rates than England. When age is taken into account, Bristol’s overall rates appear
similar to England’s but Bristol’s rate amongst females remains significantly higher.
A significant drop in STI diagnoses was recorded for 2020 (See Fig. 5.2.1). This
reduction was seen nationally and was most likely due to the impact that COVID-19
had on both social interactions and restricted access to sexual health services and
testing during this period. In Bristol the rate of new STI diagnoses was 717.9 per
100,000 population aged 15-64 (this data excludes chlamydia in under 25-yearolds1). This was 43.7% lower than in 2019, but still significantly higher than the
national average (619 per 100,000, a decrease of 32.5% since 2019).

1 Chlamydia data for 15 – 24 year olds can be accessed in the Bristol JSNA Health Profile:
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3849453/JSNA+2019+-+Chlamydia+%28updated+Oct+2019%29.pdf/22fe316274d5-d948-8d55-7c93860274ee

Page 43

25

Fig. 5.2.1 New STI diagnoses (exc chlamydia aged <25) crude rate per 100,000
population aged 15-64, PHE Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles, October
2021

New STI diagnoses (exc chlamydia aged <25), people aged 15-64, rate per 100,000

1,400

rate per 100,000

1,200
1,000
800

600
BRISTOL

400

ENGLAND

200
0

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

There have been issues with local sexual health data quality, but more detailed
analysis suggests the greatest reduction in STI rates was around April/May 2020 as
COVID-19 restrictions took hold, and that rates started to recover from June 2020.
Despite the reduction in other STIs for 20/21, a specific concern is the ongoing
increase in syphilis cases. There were 83 cases of syphilis in Bristol in 2020. This
gives a rate of 17.8 per 100,000, which is significantly higher than England’s rate and
more than double the 2016 rate (See Fig. 5.2.1). Although absolute numbers are
relatively low in comparison to other STIs, syphilis can cause very serious long-term
problems if left untreated.
Data quality issues are being resolved and will enable better local understanding of
STIs and inequalities between groups within Bristol enabling more effective targeting
of health promotion messages and services.

Page 44

26

Fig. 5.2.1 Syphilis diagnostic crude rate per 100,000 population, PHE Sexual
and Reproductive Health Profiles, October 2021
Syphilis diagnostic rate per 100,000 population
20

rate per 100,000

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4

BRISTOL

2

ENGLAND

0
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

5.3 Rapid STI Testing
Unity Sexual Health Service introduced a ‘rapid result pathway’ expanding the use of
Panther, an STI diagnostic machine situated in their Central Health Clinic.
Previously samples were sent to the laboratory at Southmead Hospital whereas
Panther allows in house testing for chlamydia and gonorrhoea. Results are available
in four hours as opposed to two to three weeks enabling earlier treatment for
patients. This also reduces unnecessary use of antibiotics and the potential for
antimicrobial resistance.
5.4 Swab Shortages
In October 2020, there was a shortage of Hologic Aptima NAATs (nucleic acid
amplification tests) which test for gonorrhoea and chlamydia which particularly
impacted Unity Sexual Health as well as other areas of the country. This was likely
owing to factors related to COVID-19 and BREXIT. As a result of this shortage Unity
developed a plan to ration tests for service users presenting to the service who were
at a higher risk of STIs. They also suspended their online testing service during this
month. The supply issues have since been resolved but Unity now have contingency
plans in place.

Page 45

27

5.5 High rates of HIV
The 20192 Bristol rate of new diagnoses of HIV was 12 per 100,000 population (aged
15 and over), statistically significantly higher than the national average (8.1 per
100,000). In 2019 there were 46 people aged 15+ newly diagnosed with HIV in
Bristol. This rate is the 34th highest (out of 150 UTLAs/UAs) across England. The
HIV new diagnosis rate is higher amongst residents of more deprived areas.3
The percentage of people in Bristol newly diagnosed with HIV from 2017-19 who
started antiretroviral therapy (ART) promptly (within 91 days of their diagnosis)
was 77.3%, which is similar to the national percentage (80.5%).4
Fig. 5.5.1 HIV new diagnosis rate per 100,000 population aged 15 and over;
Source: via PHE Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles December 2020

rate per 100,000

20

HIV new diagnosis rate per 100,000 population aged 15+. Bristol vs
England, 2011-2019. 95% CI

15

10

5
Bristol

England

0

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

In Bristol it is estimated that we have around 7% of people who are unaware of their
HIV diagnosis5. This increases the risk of poor health outcomes and the risk of
onward transmission of HIV. HIV surveillance data shows that, of the people with a
new HIV diagnosis in Bristol in 2017-19, almost 40% % are considered to have had a
late diagnosis.6 Heterosexuals, Black African, Black Other and Asian ethnicities are
at a higher risk of late diagnosis in England.
Fig. 5.5.2 HIV late diagnosis percentage; Source: via PHE Sexual and
Reproductive Health Profiles Dec. 2020

2

Please note that HIV data for 2020 was not available at time of publication. Therefore the 2019 data
used here does not factor in the implications of COVID-19 on HIV prevalence, testing or late
diagnosis.
3 Public Health England(2020), Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles, 2020
4
Public Health England(2020), Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles, 2020
5 Public Health England (2019) Summary profile of local authority sexual health Bristol
6 Public Health England(2020), Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles, 2020

Page 46

28

HIV late diagnosis percentage (people aged 15+ presenting with HIV at
a late stage of infection). Bristol vs England, 2011-2019. 95% CI
70
60
50

%

40
30
20
Bristol

10

England

2017 - 19

2016 - 18

2015 - 17

2014 - 16

2013 - 15

2012 - 14

2011 - 13

2010 - 12

2009 - 11

0

5.6 Fast Track Cities
Bristol signed up to be a Fast Track City in 2019. Fast Track Cities is about bringing
city partners and the public together to accelerate work towards ending HIV by 2030.
In order to achieve the Fast Track Cities targets (95% of people living with HIV
knowing their status, 95% of people with diagnosed HIV on treatment, 95% of people
on treatment with suppressed viral loads). Applying Bristol’s current Fast Track Cities
performance to people who are diagnosed with HIV in Bristol (n=870) illustrates how
we are performing against these targets (2020 data not yet available).
The Fast Track Cities Steering Group developed three workstreams in 2020:
Increasing HIV Testing, Reducing HIV Stigma and HIV Systems Leadership. Among
others a number of actions were completed from these workstreams such as running
a U=U (undetectable = untransmissible) campaign, producing a Fast Track Cities
website and feeding into the development of an HIV PrEP service (see Fig 5.6.1).

Page 47

29

Fig 5.6.1 Bristol HIV Fast Track City Continuum of HIV Care Performance;
Source: BCC Public Health

5.7 HIV testing
In 2019, the percentage of people of Bristol who attended a sexual health service
and received an HIV test was 69.9%. Normalising HIV testing is essential for
reducing stigma and reducing late diagnosis and needs to be encouraged. Although
Bristol has high rates of HIV, we are not routinely testing people in settings such as
the Emergency department
5.8 HIV Pre Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP)
PrEP became available via routinely commissioned NHS sexual health services at
the end of 2020. This medication reduces the risk of individuals acquiring HIV.
Bristol, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire were commended in the national
press for being one of the first areas in the country to make this provision available
via Unity. There has been good uptake of this provision throughout 2020/21 and
more work is now being done to improve access to populations at higher risk of HIV
who historically don’t access sexual health services.
5.9 Common Ambition Bristol
Bristol Fast Track Cities has a particular focus on addressing HIV amongst the Black
African and Caribbean communities and in 2020 partners were awarded a £500k
grant from The Health Foundation. This 3-year project is called Common Ambition
Bristol and launched in February 2021. African and Caribbean community members

Page 48

30

are working with healthcare professionals and academics in Bristol to introduce ways
to increase the uptake of HIV testing and broader sexual health services. They also
aim to reduce late HIV diagnosis and stigma in these communities.
5.10 Relationships and Sexual Health Education
Relationships, Sex and Health Education became statutory schools in 2020. The
Bristol Primary Teaching School Alliance and the Cabot Learning Federation (CLF)
Institute in conjunction with Bristol City Council were commissioned by the
Department for Education (DfE) to develop the south west RSHE Hub- training to
support schools in preparing for the statutory changes to the curriculum. This
comprised a ‘train the trainer’ and peer support model and used using brand new
DfE materials. This enabled RSHE leads to audit their current provision and to
support colleagues, allowing them to train their own staff with a package of
presentation materials and resources. Additional sessions were also delivered on
specific areas of RHSE such as a session delivered in partnership with Terrence
Higgins Trust on HIV and STIs including tackling HIV stigma.
69% of Bristol primary and secondary schools have a teacher who has attended a
minimum of one session with the South West RSHE hub.
5.11 SHIP HIT
The Sexual Health Improvement Health Integration Team (SHIP HIT) is a group of
partners aim is to support the development of evidence-based services to improve
the sexual health of our population. Achievements of the SHI PHIT in 2020 included
supporting the Common Ambition bid, undertaking an evaluation of same day STI
testing at Unity’s central clinic and evaluating commercial online STI testing which
has led to a national position statement being issues by the British Association for
Sexual Health ad HIV (BASHH).
Future Plans
5.12 Chlamydia Screening Changes
A change to the national chlamydia screening programme was published by PHE in
2021. The programme is changing focus to reduce reproductive harm of untreated
chlamydia infection in young women only. This change removes the offer of
opportunistic chlamydia screening to asymptomatic young men. All young people
(male and female) will still be able to access chlamydia tests at Unity and young men
will continue to be contacted and tested through partner notification procedures.
Unity will be working with Public Health in 21/22 to introduce these changes with an
anticipated start date of April 2022

Page 49

31

5.13 Partner Notification in primary care
Currently if a patient is tested for an STI in primary care and the results are positive,
the GP will provide treatment for the patient, but sexual contacts of the patient are
not systematically contacted and tested and treated. Local research was undertaken
to explore whether telephone follow up of contacts by the sexual health service Unity
was acceptable and feasible. The results from this were positive and SHIP HIT
partners are currently developing a larger pilot to ensure this can be rolled out across
Bristol and surrounding local authorities.
5.14 Expanding Access to PrEP
Uptake of the new HIV PrEP service at Unity has been encouraging amongst men
who have sex with men in 2020/21. In 2021/22 the service will be focusing on
improving uptake among other populations at risk of acquiring HIV (e.g., Black
African people) who have not been accessing this provision. This will involve running
a dedicated health promotion campaign targeting certain groups via social media,
delivering education sessions to primary care partners to raise awareness of PrEP,
and working in partnership with Common Ambition Bristol to reduce HIV stigma.
5.15 Fast Track Cities
Going into its 3rd year of Bristol being a Fast Track City the partnership will continue
to target improving HIV testing, tackling HIV stigma and providing system leadership
around HIV. Plans for 2021/22 include delivering a pilot with pharmacies in high
prevalence areas to deliver point of care HIV testing, scope HIV testing in
Emergency Department in Bristol and install, exploring feasibility of delivering PreP
treatment though community pharmacies and evaluating HIV test vending machines
across Bristol. Fast Track Cities will also continue to support related HIV projects
such as Common Ambition Bristol.
5.16 Sexual Health Promotion
Unity via its Health Promotion partner Terrence Higgins Trust are planning a number
of different Health Promotion campaigns in 2021/22. These include raising
awareness of the Unity brand, highlighting the changes to the chlamydia screening,
and increasing PrEP provision in under-served populations. Unity will continue to
raise awareness around HIV during national HIV testing week and on World Aids
Day.

Page 50

32

6. Environmental Health, Public Protection Work
6.1 Foodborne Illness
Foodborne illness (more commonly referred to as food poisoning) is any illness that
results from eating contaminated food. Foodborne illness can originate from a
variety of different foods and be caused by many different pathogenic organisms at
some point in the food chain, between farm and fork. Although most cases in the UK
are mild, they are unpleasant, result in absences from education or the workplace
and place a significant demand on healthcare services. Occasionally foodborne
illness can lead to complications or even death.
Access to safe food and water is one of the most fundamental human
needs. Figures from the Food Standards Agency state that there are over 500,000
cases of food poisoning per year across the UK from identified causes and if the
unidentified causes were to be included this figure would more than double. In
Bristol, there were 509 confirmed cases of notifiable infection reported to Bristol
Public Protection between April 2020 and March 2021 with the highest reports seen
in July and September (see Fig 6.1.1). This is a reduction in cases from last year as
in 2019/2020, there were 715 confirmed cases of gastrointestinal infection between
April 2019 and March 2020. BCC Public Protection Team works closely with relevant
health protection agencies and businesses to minimise spread and to investigate
serious cases and outbreaks throughout the year. Fig 6.1.2 shows the breakdown of
service requests by month with the highest number of requests being processed in
October and November 2020.
Source: UK Health Security Agency was Public Health England Notifications
recorded on Civica.

Page 51

33

Fig 6.1.1: Confirmed cases of gastrointestinal infection notified to Bristol City
Council Environmental Health of residents of Bristol local authority, April 2020
to March 2021
Shigella sonnei

Notifications 2020-21

Shiga toxin-producing
E.coli (
Salmonella
typhimurium
Salmonella enteritidis

90
80

Salmonella (untyped)

70

Salmonella (others)

60

Salmonella
50

Paratyphoid

40

Others (Food Poisoning)
Leptospirosis

30

Legionella

20

Hepatitis A
Giardia

10

E. coli
0
Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Cryptosporidium

Fig 6.1.2: Infectious Disease (ID) Service Requests completed by Public
Protection, April 2020 to March 2021

ID Service Requests 2020-21
120
100
80

Suspected Source of Food Poisoning

60

Report of suspected Infectious
Disease

40

COVID related request

20
0
Apr May Jun

Jul

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Page 52

34

6.2 Food Safety Inspections and Interventions
All food businesses based in the UK are subject to food hygiene laws enforced by
local authorities. Businesses can be inspected at any point, e.g., if we have
complaints to as part of the annual programme of inspections.
Authorised environmental health officers (EHOs) have the right to enter and inspect
any premises without appointment or approval to ensure that businesses meet the
requirements of the Food Standards Agency (FSA). Inspections utilise the FSA’s
‘Food Hygiene Rating Scheme’, awarding businesses a ‘rating ‘upon completion of
the examination. These ratings run from 0-5 stars, with a score of ‘0’ indicating that
serious action must be taken immediately to avoid penalties or the closure of your
premises.
The Food Standards Agency requires Bristol City Council to achieve 100% of food
safety inspections annually. Bristol City Council has agreed to try and achieve 80%
of the required target.
There is an annual programme of inspections and due to the pandemic and
restrictions on premises operating we were unable to carry out all the statutory food
inspections as would normally have planned for 2020-2021. At the end of 2019-2020
we had achieved approx. 79% of the required inspections/interventions, this was
impacted in March 2020 due to the start of COVID-19.
During 2020-21 we followed FSA guidance and priority planning to focus on highest
risk inspection, with many businesses having to close due to national restrictions,
this severely impacted on our ability to visit and for them to operate. In 2020-2021
Officers were diverted to enforcement activities relating to COVID-19. This resulted
in a backlog of inspections of approximately 3,000, including over approx. 1,000
unrated/uninspected businesses.
As a result, we have secured additional funding to employ contractor EHOs following
increasing their rates, there has been a very high national demand and we envisage
they will complete 1500-2000 inspections in 2021-2022. We have also secured some
limited funding form the FSA to identify unrated inspections and undertake a survey
to enable us to identify premises still operating and for targeting for an
inspection/intervention.
This remains a serious risk to Public Health as the backlog is significant, but we will
aim to reduce this by the end of March 2022. We have reported the issues to the
FSA as part of their regular monitoring of LA activity and via corporate spar net
performance reporting.
Additionally, when opportunities for increased funding become available, we will
apply.

Page 53

35

6.3 Port Health Work
Bristol Port Health Authority (BPHA) is part of BCCs Public Protection team and covers
the ports of Avonmouth and Royal Portbury Docks which is in North Somerset, for the
purposes of the Bristol Port Order, BCC is the statutory Port Health Authority for both.
The BPHA is responsible for operating the international Border Control Point (BCP)
based at Avonmouth which has been operational for many years as a designated low
throughput BCP. The Bristol Port Health Authority jurisdiction as Food Authority also
extends to Royal Portbury Docks in North Somerset District. Due to UK Exit from the
EU and expected increase in imported food controls, a new much larger BCP was
planned in Autumn 2020 at Royal Portbury Dock where the deep-water dock is
located. The new facility will be able to handle the full range of imported Products of
Animal Origin and High-Risk Foods Not of Animal Origin BCP facilities are owned by
BPC but staffed, managed, and equipped by Bristol City Council as the Port Health
Authority. This new facility has cost several million pounds funded by central
Government and the Bristol Port Company.
Bristol Port Health Authority has worked with Bristol Port Company on the new BCP
from the start of the planning stage in October 2020 and ongoing though the rest of
the year. Port Health have liaised with their partner organisations such as Border
Force, the Animal and Plant Health Agency, Department for Environment Food & Rural
Affairs, Food Standards Agency, The Cabinet Office etc. on relevant details of the BCP
requirements.
Bristol Port comprises Avonmouth and Royal Portbury Docks which are major
seaports in the UK. They have good facilities and have the potential to increase
imported food trade significantly in the coming years.
The port health authority is proactive in ensuring covid secure controls have been in
place in relation to all ships arriving from international and European destinations. A
24 hrs service was introduced at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic to provide
effective covid controls at the port. Our Port Health Officers liaised with many different
partners about the changing UK legal covid requirements over the year. These
partners included Bristol Port Company, Importers, Border Force, Public Health
England/UK Health Security Agency, and seafarers’ services. This has involved
working on complex COVID-19 cases arriving from various countries and working with
relevant agencies to ensure COVID-19 spread is contained, crew and the public have
been protected and crew changes and self-isolation requirements adhered too.
Other Port Health work included inspections/sampling of ships including cargo and
cruise liners for non-covid infection control measures. e.g., Legionella, food poisoning,
communicable diseases, and hygiene arrangements. Issuing of International Ships
Sanitation Certificates. See Fig 6.3.1 for the spread of Port Sampling carried out
between April 2020 and March 2021. The highest recorded sampling activities were
performed in November 2020 and March 2021. Fig 6.3.2 shows the spread variety of
Port Health inspections carried out during this reporting period with the highest
recorded activities completed in May, July, August, and September 2020. Fig 6.3.3

Page 54

36

shows a steady record of manifest checks and checks on Maritime Declarations of
Health from month to month during this reporting period. Fig 6.3.4 shows that in
November 2020, the greatest number of checks on imports and enforcement action
was taken. The rate and number of actions completed by Port Health officers during
this reporting period was impacted by the working restrictions in place due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
Fig 6.3.1: Port Sampling completed by Port Health, April 2020 to March 2021

Port Sampling 2020-21
14
12
10
8
6

4
2
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

519 - Food Sample (Chemical)

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

520 - Water Sample (Bacteriological)

Fig 6.3.2: Ship Inspections completed by Port Health, April 2020 to March 2021

Port Vessel Inspections 2020-21
10

Vessel inspection - copy report

9
8

Covid SSC

7
6

Full Vessel Inspection

5
Vessel Visit - BPHA instigation

4
3

SSC Exemption

2
1
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Jan

Feb

Mar

Vessel inspection - documentary
check only

Fig 6.3.3: Port Activities completed by Port Health, April 2020 to March 2021

Page 55

37

Port Activities 2020-21
160
140
120
100

Manifest Checked

80

Maritime Declaration of Health

60
40
20
0
Apr May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fig 6.3.4: Checks, Imports and Enforcement Action taken by Port Health, April
2020 to March 2021

Checks, Imports and Enforcement Action 2020-21
140
BIP CVC/Consignment Cleared
120

FNAO Physical Check

100

FNAO Identity Check

80

BIP Physical Check

60

BIP Identity Check Undertaken
BIP Document Check Undertaken

40

BIP Notice Consignment Received

20

Organic Food Clearance Agreed

0

Common Entry Doc Issued
Apr

May

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Page 56

Feb

38

7. Screening and Immunisations
All screening and immunisation programmes have been impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic in 2020/21. The impact has been both to programme delivery and data
quality and timeliness. Therefore, the data contained in the report is not necessarily
comparable to previous years and should be viewed in the context of the pandemic.

7. Immunisations
Immunisations are acknowledged as one of the most significant public health
developments in the prevention of infectious disease.
7.1 Childhood immunisations
Childhood immunisation uptake data (2020/21) in Bristol are similar to the England
average, although it should be noted that we remain below the national clinical
standard required to control disease and ensure patient safety and 95% population
coverage is required to protect. MMR and DTap-IPV 2nd vaccines at age 5 are of
particular concern with neither reaching 90% (See Fig. 7.1.1), although both have
seen small increases compared to 2018/19.
The UK-wide Measles and Rubella Elimination Strategy was released in 2019 and a
South West-wide action plan was developed to support implementation of the plan
following a regional conference on measles held in February 2020. The Bristol
contribution to the plan was developed via the BNSSG immunisation group led by
Public Health England (PHE). Projects included practice visits and uptake plans to
GP practices with lower MMR uptake and comms and media activity to promote the
MMR vaccine. Detailed work was undertaken from December 2019 to March 2020
by Bristol City Council, Public Health and PHE to gather insight into current
behavioural barriers and enablers of childhood vaccination uptake in Bristol, from the
perspective of parents and professionals. There was a particular focus on the MMR
vaccine, and the Somali community in Bristol because this is a group identified, locally
and nationally, as being at risk of under-immunisation, especially for MMR. This was
put on hold due to the pandemic but is currently being reviewed in order to re-start this
work.

Page 57

39

Fig 7.1.1: Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics: Bristol 2020-217

Changes to the timing and delivery of infant BCG to eligible babies (this is a targeted
immunisation programme) and rotavirus vaccines have been put in place across the
South West following the evaluative rollout of Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
(SCID) as part of the Newborn Blood Spot programme in certain parts of England.

7.2 Shingles
The shingles vaccine is offered to people aged 70 to 79 years old. From September
2021, an additional Shingles vaccine (Shingrix) will be introduced for eligible
individuals who are immunocompromised.
Shingles vaccination uptake has been affected by the pandemic, as this vaccination
has been offered opportunistically up until April 2021, from when 70-year-olds should
be actively called for a vaccine.8 A Shingles campaign was run in the South West in
August 2021 to improve public awareness of the Shingles vaccination and work is
ongoing to review vaccine coverage across each area and identify GP practices with
low coverage. It is expected that the flu and COVID-19 booster programme may
impact on Primary Care’s ability to deliver Shingles vaccines this winter.
7.3 Pneumococcal
The pneumococcal vaccine (PPV) protects against serious and potentially fatal
pneumococcal infections. Pneumococcal infections are caused by the bacterium
Streptococcus pneumoniae and can lead to pneumonia, blood poisoning (sepsis) and
7

NHS Digital Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics - 2020-21

8

NHS England, 2021 Update on vaccination and immunisation changes for 2021/22

Page 58

40

meningitis. The vaccine is offered to adults aged 65 or over plus those with long-term
health conditions such as serious heart or kidney conditions. Vaccine shortages of
PPV remain an issue nationally and have a significant effect on coverage.
7.4 Flu
Uptake of flu immunisation across all cohorts rose in 2020/21 compared to the
previous season, the greatest increase was in uptake of 2 and 3-year olds (See
Fig.7.4.1). Flu immunisation uptake was broadly in line with other areas across the
region. The flu programme was extended to 50-64 year olds and this will continue for
the 2021/22 season.
Fig 7.4.1: Flu Vaccination uptake for different groups across the BNSSG
population9

BNSSG Flu Vaccine Uptake
2019-2020 & 2020-2021
100
80

76.6

82.7

60

48.2

65.4

63.4

55.9

46.2 44.6

53.7

54.3

50.9

40
20
0
Over 65's %

At risk %

Pregnant %
2019-2020

2 Year olds %

3 Year olds %

50-64 Year olds

2020-2021

In Bristol specifically, vaccination uptake also increased, according to seasonal flu
uptake reports from 2020/21 . We saw the greatest uptake in the over 65’s with 81%
vaccinated. 52.3% of under 65’s in the ‘at-risk’ category were vaccinated and 41.1%
of pregnant women.
1

Official Statistics, GOV.UK (2021), Seasonal flu vaccine uptake in GP patients:
monthly data, 2020 to 20218. Screening

9

Vaccine uptake guidance and the latest coverage data - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 59

41

8 Screening
8.1 Screening Programmes
The UK National Screening Committee defines screening as “The process of
identifying apparently healthy people who may be at increased risk of a disease or a
condition so that they can be offered information, further tests and appropriate
treatment to reduce their risk and/or complications arising from the disease or
condition.” There are currently three national cancer screening programmes: breast,
bowel and cervical; and eight non-cancer screening programmes: six antenatal and
newborn (Fetal Anomaly, Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy, Sickle Cell and
Thalassaemia, Newborn and Infant Physical Examination, Newborn Blood Spot and
Newborn Hearing) and two young person and adult (Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm and
Diabetic Eye).

8.2 Cervical Screening
The NHS cervical screening programme in Bristol has continued throughout the
pandemic. Women who had received previous cervical treatment (short recall period)
received their invitation letters when due, however during the period between March
and August 2020 women who were due to be invited for their routine screen had a
delay in receiving their invitation letter.
Cervical screening data is broken down into two specific age groups, 25-29 and 50-64
years. For the 25-49 age group, there has been no significant change in coverage with
68% of women accepting a cervical screen. For the last 4 years our screening rates
to this group have been similar to the England rate but remains lower than the South
West rate and the 80% acceptable target (See Fig.8.2.1). Based on 2020/21 data
there were over 30,000 eligible women age 25-49 in Bristol who did not receive their
cervical screen.

Page 60

42

Fig 8.2.1: Cervical cancer screening coverage in Bristol - women 25-49 years,
2018-2110

In the older age group, 50-64, uptake is higher at 73%, again a stable position over
the last 3 years, but a downward trend over the last 10 years. This is lower than the
England coverage, as shown in the Figure below. Just over 9000 eligible women in
Bristol were not screened in 2020/21 (See Fig.8.2.2).

10

NHS digital Cervical Screening Programme - Coverage Statistics Local authority dashboard

Page 61

43

Fig 8.2.2: Cervical cancer screening coverage in Bristol – Women 50-64 years,
2018-213

8.3 Bowel Screening
The Bristol centre recovered the screening backlog in July 2021. The backlog was
created by the pause in service between April 2020 and June 2020 due to the COVID19 pandemic.
Bristol’s bowel screening rates increased in the three years between 2017/18 and
2019/20 with over 4000 more people accepting a screen in 2019/20 compared to
2017/18. While this was positive progress, Bristol coverage remained lower than both
the South West and England. Data for 2020/21 screening coverage at local authority
level is not currently available. Indications are that it will be released in 2022. In Bristol
specifically, we have seen an increase from 50.7% in 2015 to 60.5% in 2020 (See Fig
8.3.1).

Page 62

44

Table 8.3.1: Bristol Bowel Screening coverage 2015-202011

The below table uses published data provided as part of the programme’s Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs). In Q1 we had no data for BNSSG CCG, SW Region
and England but by Q2 we had 71.8% for the BNSSG CCG, 69.7% in Q3 and 72.2%
in Q4. This was comparable to SW Region and England whose rates were 73.9 and
68.7% in Q2, 73.4 and 69% in Q3 and 74.46 and 71% in Q4, respectively.
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

BNSSG CCG

No data

71.8%

69.7%

72.2%

SW Region

No data

73.9%

73.4%

74.46%

England

No data

68.7%

69%

71%

BNSSG Bowel Cancer Screening % Uptake April 20-Apr 2112
Changes to the Bowel Screening Programme this year include the decision to no
longer commission the bowel scope screening programme from December 2020. This
programme was being rolled out for people aged 55 to have a one-off flexible
sigmoidoscopy, however the decision has been made to introduce the new faecal
immunochemical test (FIT) instead and extend the offer to a larger cohort. This age
extension will initially expand the offer to include those aged 56 and include 50 year
olds by 2024-25. Bristol Bowel Screening Programme will commence inviting the age
56 cohort in August 2021.

11
12

Public Health Profiles - PHE
NHS screening programmes: KPI reports 2020 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 63

45

8.4 Breast screening
Bristol’s breast screening rates have remained static over the 3 years prior to 2019/20,
with 2019/20 reporting only 71% of eligible women being screened (See Fig.8.4.1).
This is below both the South West (76.4%) and National levels (74.1%). Due to
COVID-19 we do not have granular detail on the demographics of who is being missed
for this year. More recent coverage data is not available.
Fig.8.4.1: Bristol Breast Screening Coverage13

Age Extension (AgeX) trial
This trial commenced in 2009 and was embedded within the routines of the Avon
NHS breast screening programme. This involved woman aged 47 to 49 and 71-73
years. Following the suspension of routine breast screening in March 2020 due
to COVID-19, and the substantial and prolonged overload on the Avon breast
screening programme when screening re-started, the AgeX investigators decided in
May 2020 that further randomisation into AgeX should cease permanently. For breast
cancer mortality the first report is scheduled to be on the follow-up to 2026, after which
there will be subsequent reports on longer follow-up

13

Public Health Outcomes Framework C24a - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer

Page 64

46

Self-referrals
Due to COVID-19, self-referrals into the Avon NHS breast screening programme were
temporarily suspended. Women aged 71 years and over have been able to self-refer
into the screening programme for a number of years with no upper age limit. This was
restarted in late 2020.

8.5 Antenatal and newborn Screening
The antenatal and newborn screening services covering the Bristol locality area are
delivered by NBT and UHBW. Performance and quality indicators are monitored by
the NHSEI Screening and Immunisation team and assurance provided to the Bristol
Health Protection Committee. Significant delays and breaches in the Foetal Anomaly
Screening Programme at NBT have occurred in 2021, in part due to workforce
capacity. This has been classed as a serious incident and is being closely managed,
working closely with the Trust and relevant stakeholders including the Screening
Quality Assurance Service (SQAS)
Non-invasive Pre-natal Testing (NIPT) was successfully implemented in 2021 in line
with the national deadline.

8.6 Diabetic Eye Screening
Diabetic eye screening is offered to anyone with diabetes who is 12 years old or over
on an annual basis. The Diabetic Eye Screening Programme has a funded restoration
plan in place, to support the recovery of the service due to the programme pause and
impact of COVID-19 in the reporting period. The programme is on track to recover the
backlog by the end of November 2021 which is well within the national target date of
March 2022.

8.7 AAA Screening
Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening is offered to men during the year they
turn 65. If a AAA is identified in an individual, they will then be entered into a quarterly
or annual surveillance programme, or referred for assessment for vascular surgery,
depending on the size of the aneurysm. AAA Screening was suspended during the
peak of the pandemic, with a phased restart between June-Sept 2020. The Bath,
Bristol and Weston AAA screening programme is due to fully recover its services by
the national deadline of March 2022 (+2 months grace period to allow for men invited
during March to attend).

8.8 Increasing screening uptake and equity of access
The NHSEI Screening and Immunisation Team is updating the regional Inequalities
Strategy for Screening and Immunisation Programmes in the South West, to renew
focus on ensuring access for all.

Page 65

47

Work is ongoing with the Somerset, Wiltshire, Avon, and Gloucestershire Cancer
Alliance to support primary care networks to embed screening uptake in practice, as
part of the cancer early diagnosis enhanced service specification arising from the NHS
Long Term Plan.

Page 66

48

9. Environmental hazards to health, safety, and pollution control
9.1 Air Quality
Poor air quality can have an impact on health at all stages of life, from being associated
with low birth weight, impacts on lung function development in children, an increased
risk of chronic disease and acute respiratory exacerbations, to acute and chronic
premature death. Latest evidence is linking air pollution with impacts on cognitive
function. All these health impacts can impact upon a person’s quality of life. The most
vulnerable are the young and old.
Air quality in Bristol is sufficiently poor in many locations for the health impacts
described in the previous paragraph to be experienced by citizens in Bristol.
Monitoring data shows continued exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide
(NO2) air quality objective close to roadside locations in the city centre and along the
main arterial routes. Concentrations of NO2 do, however, appear to be declining but
further urgent action is needed to comply with legal limits.
The COVID-19 lockdowns in 2020 and early 2021 reduced concentrations of traffic
pollutants but this change is temporary in nature.
A report commissioned by BCC14 calculated that approximately 300 deaths of Bristol
residents can be attributed to air pollution (particulate matter - PM2.5 and nitrogen
dioxide – NO2) in 2013. This equates to 8.5% of all deaths in Bristol annually. These
deaths attributed to air pollution compare, on average, to 9 people killed in road traffic
collisions in Bristol each year.

9.2 Air Quality Management Area
Road transport is a major source of particulate matter and nitrogen oxides (NO x)
accounting for 34% of nitrogen oxides and 12% of primary particulate matter (PM2.5)
emissions in the UK15. At busy roadside locations the contribution of traffic to nitrogen
oxides can be greater than 80%.
Through monitoring of the city’s air quality, a geographical area has been identified
where health standards (known as objectives) are not achieved, and an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA) has been established in line with DEFRA (Department for
Environment and Rural Affairs) recommendations (See Figure 1).
Fig. 9.2.1 indicates the boundary of the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for
Bristol, inside which air quality is at risk of exceeding government objectives.

14
15

Air Quality Consultants (2017. Health Impacts of Air Pollution in Bristol.: Air Quality Consultants Ltd
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2018). Clean Air Strategy 2018.

Page 67

49

The AQMA is based around busy road junctions and arterial roads where nitrogen dioxide from the
exhausts of vehicles does not get readily dispersed because of the surrounding buildings.

re-emerging area of concern. Recent evidence shows that
this source contributes to 38% of all PM2.5 emissions nationally.
Domestic solid fuel burning is a

Fig. 9.2.1 Map of Bristol’s Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)

Source: OS data © Crown copyright & database rights 2021 Ordnance survey
100023406

Air pollution generated from human sources such as the combustion of fuels for heat,
electricity and transport is having an adverse effect on the health of Bristol’s
communities. In 2019, 5.0% of “all-cause adult mortality” in Bristol was considered

Page 68

50

attributable to “anthropogenic particulate air pollution”16, which is slightly lower than
the national proportion (5.1%) and is mid-ranking for English Core Cities.
The proportions of deaths attributable to air pollution vary across the city in relation to
pollutant concentrations, from around 7% in some wards to around 10% in others.
Concentrations are highest in the centre of the city and therefore so are deaths
attributable to air pollution.
A Clean Air Zone (CAZ) is in development with plan to implement from in 2022.
Additional measures are being considered to address PM2.5 emissions from
domestic solid fuel burning. Clean Air for Bristol | Bristol Clean Air Zone | Clean air
for everyone

9.3 Avonmouth
A community oversight group has been established in the Avonmouth ward, working
alongside the MP and local Councillors to look into complaints of fly pollution in the
area. A fly expert has been commissioned to independently produce a report to be
shared with all parties.
A number of historical complaints pertaining to flies were alleged to be linked with a
local waste plant that has recently closed down. This has reduced the number of
complaints significantly.
Moving forward we are continuing to monitor the local situation and work with the MP
Cllrs and community.

16

Via Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF), 2017

Page 69

51

10. Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)
10.1 Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH)
Bristol City Council (BCC) Civil Protection Unit (CPU) has a duty to work with
operators of COMAH sites. They are reviewing the Severnside External Emergency
Plan, which covers sites in both Bristol and South Gloucestershire. This plan
coordinates the emergency response of many organisations to a COMAH incident at
Severnside. The Severnside multi-agency activation and notification was tested in
Exercise Nova One, November 2021.
10.2 Interruption to Water Services
Bristol Water has a duty to provide water in bottles and bowsers in the event of a burst
main or other loss of service. Bristol Water has a list of priority and vulnerable
customers. BCC holds similar information. In the event of water failure Bristol Water
and CPU work together to ensure that vulnerable people are identified and protected.
This plan is activated a few times each year. In particular, a large burst water main
during Christmas 2020 with a major incident declared, primarily due to the then current
pandemic rates and lockdown situation, resulted in the need for mutual aid to support
the delivery of water to those vulnerable; and making water accessible to the effected
communities.
10.3 Warning & Informing
In December 2020 a tragic explosion at Wessex Water in Avonmouth where four
people died also gave concern for Public Health in the form of a non-visible ‘plume’.
There was a delay in requesting Chemical Meteorology (CHEMET) for plume
projections, to assess any airborne chemicals/gases from the contents of the silos
which exploded. Local Authority Public Health colleagues along with Environmental
Health Officers ascertained what the contents were and provided the public health
messaging required. The learning from this is to raise awareness that all agencies
can request a CHEMET and not all plumes are visible, by being solely smoke/vapour.

10.4 Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (ASLRF)
In Summer 2019 the National Security Risk Assessment (NSRA) was published and
is due to be updated again in 2022. ASLRF has been using the NSRA to update the
community risk register, and prioritising plans, training and exercising to suit. This is
also being done alongside the Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) for shared
situational awareness and joint understanding of risk, as well as collaborating on

Page 70

52

plans, training and exercising to avoid duplication and ensure the correct agencies
and subject matter experts take part in the workstreams
The ASLRF Health related priorities, in collaboration with LHRP partners, for the next
12-24 months are;






Psycho-social support (linked to Friends and Family Reception Centre’s
(FFRCs), Survivor Reception Centre (SRC’s), Humanitarian Assistance
Centre (HAC’s) LHRP to lead development of Regional Psychosocial and
Mental Health Response Plan for incidents.
Mass casualties Plan/Framework - This work stream is included in NHSE&I
South West EPRR Strategic Plan 2021-2024.
Review Vulnerable People Information Sharing Document – ASLRF 2022.
Identify Monitoring Sites and control measures for Surveillance of Invasive
Mosquitoes – UKHSA 2023.

The ASLRF is also looking at future risks to the health system, including those caused
by supply chain failures, collapse of a care provider, pandemic flu, and other issues.

10.5 Protest and Public Order
Over this reporting period there were 60 protests in Bristol, with the most being
reported in June, August, December, and March 2021 (See Fig 10.5.1). There were
many more public open-air events. CPU worked with PH and ASC to respond to
protests in varying guidance and pandemic infection rates with key messaging and
engagement with organisers to either postpone, or complete risk assessments. CPU
also work with the multi-agency Bristol Safety Advisory Group for Events (SAGE) to
mitigate the public order risks. They also inspected the COVID-19 mitigation plans of
the event organisers to minimise the risk of COVID-19 spreading between people
attending an event.

Page 71

53

Fig. 10.5.1 Number of Protests in Bristol, 2020/21
Number of Protests in Bristol, 2020/21
10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

10.6 COVID-19 Response
The CPU supported the planning required around Covid Excess Deaths including
establishing ‘Temporary Resting Places (TRP’s) across Avon and Somerset. The CPU
were also involved in the establishment of the Bristol Mass Vaccination Centre, Rapid
Test Centre and testing sites at local libraries and arranged PPE supplies for these
sites. The CPU were integral to Bristol City Council’s internal incident and outbreak
management and business continuity functions including facilitation of homeworking
while entering and exiting lockdowns, continuation of the Operations Centre,
supporting the ‘We are Bristol’ volunteer service and the work of the COVID-19
marshals.

Page 72

54

11. Refugee and Asylum Seeker Health
11.1 Use of Bristol Hotel as Contingency Initial Accommodation
In 2020 the Home Office initiated a programme of establishing contingency “Initial
Accommodation” (IA) for asylum seekers and refugees. In July a hotel in Bristol was
opened as an IA by Clearsprings Ready Homes, the Home Office private contractor.
The need for contingency accommodation has been driven primarily because of the
pandemic restrictions preventing evictions and new property lets, failure to anticipate
the number of “spontaneous arrivals” (usually via small boat crossings from France),
and because the Home Office asylum claim decision making process was stalled
throughout this period. In terms of Infection, Prevention and Control they are more
akin to hostel provision. an outbreak management plan was developed.
Translation of materials into appropriate languages was carried out and given to every
room to try and promote COVID-19 symptom recognition with the reception number to
phone to understand how to get help. Videos and infographics were shown to people
who lacked literacy in their first language and to try and anticipate what was involved
in swab testing. Surge testing was carried out in response to an outbreak / cluster
infection of three positive cases during February 2021. Uptake of testing by residents
was over 85%. The Haven undertook contact tracing for positive cases.

Page 73

55

12. Global Population Health
12.1 Global Burden of Disease
Published in October 2020, The Lancet’s special issue on Global Burden of Disease
(GBD) studied the world’s most comprehensive data source to review the most up-todate global health data from 2019 with the latest analysis 1.
There was some positive news from the GBD Risk Factors Study such as ‘global life
expectancy at birth increased from 67·2 years in 2000 to 73·5 years in 2019’ 2.
However, there are still important challenges regarding certain diseases, notably HIV
(Human Immunodeficiency Virus)/AIDS (Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome) and
malaria3.
HIV is a chronic health condition which attacks the immune system and if not treated
can lead to the development of AIDS. Although HIV stays in the body for life, there are
now highly effective treatments for people living with HIV (PLWH), enabling a normal
life expectancy. There are ways to detect and prevent HIV transmission including
regular HIV testing and medications which can be taken to prevent the acquisition of
HIV. Despite these medical advances, significant challenges still remain.
In 2014 UNAIDs set global targets of ending AIDS as an epidemic by 2030 and to see
an end to HIV stigma and discrimination. They set ambitious treatment targets known
as the 90:90:90 targets; aiming for 90% of people living with HIV being diagnosed,
90% of those diagnosed receiving treatment and 90% of those receiving treatment
having an undetectable HIV viral load by 2020. The aim was to reach these targets by
2020 and reach 95:95:95 targets by 2030. Fast Track Cities is a global initiative which
supports high prevalence cities to accelerate progress in these UNAIDS targets. The
UK met the 90:90:90 targets in 2018 and Bristol is currently estimated to have reached
93: 98: 97 4.

12.2 Measles
Nationally there has been a reduction in the number of measles cases reporting for
this reporting period. The routine surveillance and epidemiology of measles has been
impacted in a number of ways by the COVID-19 pandemic, such as a reduction in
international travel reducing infection and transmission and social distancing and
lockdown measures5. Measles is confirmed by oral fluid IgM antibody tests or PCR.
The table below indicates a reduction of cases from 53 in quarter 1 of 2020 to 0 in
quarter 4 of 2020, compared to 153 cases in quarter 1 of 2019 and 70 cases in quarter
4 of 2019 (See Fig.12.2.1).

Page 74

56

Fig 12.2.1 Numbers of positive cases of measles reported in England in 2020/21

Source: GOV.UK6
Specifically, in Bristol, we experienced no measles outbreaks in 2020/21. This is likely
to be due to the combination of travel restructions here and abroad and several
lockdowns. The last significant outbreak of measles in Bristol was in 2018.
1

The Lancet (2020). Global Burden of Disease [online]. Available at: The Lancet: Global Burden of
Disease
2

The Lancet (2020). Global Health: Time for Radical Change? [online]. Available at: Global health:
time for radical change? (thelancet.com)
3

Ortiz-Ospina, E. and Roser.M (2016). Global Health [online]. Available at: Global Health - Our World
in Data
4

Bristol HIV Health Needs Assessment (2020).

5 Laboratory

confirmed cases of measles, rubella and mumps, England: January to March 2021
(publishing.service.gov.uk)
6 Measles

notifications and confirmed cases by oral fluid testing 2013 to 2021 by quarter - GOV.UK
(www.gov.uk)

Page 75

57

13. COVID-19
13.1 Timeline
Since the beginning of the pandemic Bristol has seen 4 separate waves of COVID19 (See Fig.13.1.1).
The first wave lasted from March 2020 to May 2020 in Bristol. At the time testing was
limited to patients and hospital staff, community testing was unavailable to most
people, so reported number of cases will have been artificially low. During this first
wave 1,179 people tested positive for COVID-19, 1,248 people were admitted to
hospital with COVID, and 229 people died. On 23rd March 2020 the first national
lockdown started, cases in Bristol peaked on 24th April 2020 and lockdown
restrictions started to be eased in early June. Testing was expanded to wider
community testing from May 2020. Testing capacity increased throughout the
summer and autumn (See Fig.13.1.2). From late September, we saw rapid spread in
all groups but mostly in young people aged 18 to 23. We experienced an average of
between 1,500 and 2,500 tests were being performed daily in Bristol. New case rates
continued to rise into November, peaking in early November at almost twice the
national rate (Fig.13.1.2).
The country was put into a second national lockdown on 5th November (although
schools remained open) and case rates in Bristol reduced. National lockdown ended
on 2nd December 2020. Bristol was put into Tier 2 lockdown on the 19th December
and then Tier 3 on the 23rd December. Cases had been rising in Bristol again from
mid-December, along with the rest of the country. In the new year the country
entered a third national lockdown on 6th January, including school closures.
Bristol new case rates peaked at 508 per 100,000 on 8th January – this equates to
2,356 new cases in 7 days. At this time 99% of neighbourhoods (LSOA’s) in Bristol
had at least one new case of COVID-19. Following the lockdown in early January
2021cases fell in Bristol to a very low level by May 2021(Fig.13.1.2).

Page 76

58

Fig.13.1.1 New COVID-19 cases in the last 7 days per 100,000 population

Fig.13.1.2 Daily average number of COVID-19 PCR tests taken in Bristol

Page 77

59

13.2 Cases
Overall, between April 2020 and 31st May 2021 there were 31,075 reported positive
cases of COVID-19 in Bristol. 8.6% were in the over 65’s, 64% aged under 40
years. 47% were male, 53% were female (See Fig. 13.2.1 and Fig.13.2.2).
Fig. 13.2.1 Total number of COVID-19 cases within Bristol by age, group, and sex.

Source: Public Health England and Bristol City Council, Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment.

Page 78

60

Fig. 13.2.2 Trend in number of COVID-19 cases within Bristol by age group.

Source: Public Health England and Bristol City Council, Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment.

13.3 Hospitalisations
5,085 people with COVID-19 were admitted to the two main hospital trusts that serve
Bristol (not necessarily just Bristol residents) between April 2020 and March 2021.
Not all patients were admitted to hospital for the treatment of COVID-19, a proportion
were admitted for other reasons but also tested positive for COVID-19. It is not
currently possible for hospital trusts provide figures on the two separate groups of
“admitted for COVID-19” and “admitted with COVID-19”.
Fig. 13.3.1 Trend in weekly number of positive COVID-19 patients admitted to
Bristol hospitals.

Page 79

61

13.4 Mortality
This document uses the Office for National Statistics definition of COVID-19 mortality
based upon the cause of death at death registration. Between 1st April 2020 and 31st
March 2021, a total of 611 Bristol residents died of COVID-19. Below is a chart
showing the time trend of deaths in Bristol.
Fig. 13.4.1 Trend in weekly number of COVID-19 deaths registered in Bristol

Source: Office for National Statistics.

Page 80

62

13.5 Vaccinations
COVID-19 Vaccinations started in Bristol on 8th December 2020. Between April 2020
and March 2021, 6 % of adults (16+ years) in Bristol have had complete vaccination
(2 doses) for COVID-19. The table below shows the breakdown by age and
compares Bristol to the local health system across Bristol, North Somerset, and
South Gloucestershire (BNSSG), South West region and England overall.
Fig. 13.4. Numbers and approximate population coverage between 08 Dec 2020
and 31st March 2021.

Source: coronavirus.data.gov.uk
13.5 Further data / links:
• Bristol COVID-19 web pages - https://www.bristol.gov.uk/coronavirus/what-youneed-to-know
• Bristol data – Director of Public Health twice weekly report https://www.bristol.gov.uk/coronavirus/covid-19-data-cases-bristol-r-number-southwest
• Office for National Statistics COVID-19 web pages https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditio
nsanddiseases
• UK Government COVID-19 data dashboard - https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
• Public Health England - https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/publichealth-england

Page 81

63

13.6 Bristol specific
Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP)
In June 2020, we produced a Bristol Local Outbreak Management Plan, setting out
actions taken to anticipate, prevent and response to outbreaks of COVID-19 in our
city. Local Outbreak Management Plans are a mechanism through which local areas
manage these risks using their knowledge of and relationship with their people and
place. Every upper Tier (Public Health) Authority was required to have in place a
Covid-19 Outbreak Management Plan by the end of June 2020 to anticipate, prevent
and contain incidents and outbreaks of Covid-19 in local areas. These plans will be
in place for the foreseeable future and reviewed regularly.
Our Local Outbreak Management Plan was required to provide clarity on how Bristol
City Council would work with the NHS Test and Trace Service to ensure a whole
system approach to managing local outbreaks and as required by government, and
was centred around seven core themes:
1. Care Homes and Schools: Planning for local outbreaks in care homes and
schools defining monitoring arrangements, identifying potential scenarios, and
planning the required response.
2. High risk contexts, workplaces, and communities: Identifying and planning
how to manage other high-risk places, locations and communities of interest
including sheltered housing, dormitories for migrant workers, transport access points,
such as ports and airports; detained settings and rough sleepers. Defining
preventative measures and outbreak management strategies.
3. Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to self-isolate and ensuring
services meet the needs of diverse communities.
4. Testing: Oversight and swift mobilisation of local testing capability. Identifying
methods for local testing to ensure a swift response that is accessible to the entire
population. To include delivering tests to isolated individuals, establishing local popup sites, or hosting mobile testing units at high-risk locations.
5. Contact tracing undertaken by Public Health England with the Bristol Public
Health Team in complex situations. Assessing local and regional contact tracing and
infection control capability in complex settings and the need for mutual aid.
6. National, regional, and local intelligence to identify and respond swiftly to
outbreaks: Integrating national and local data, including developing dashboards and
the Joint Bio-Security Centre to inform planning and response.
7. Governance: Establish governance structures led by a new Covid-19 Health
Protection Board and a new member-led Board to communicate with the general
public.

Page 82

64

In March 2021, as our schools were opened and continued support was needed for
our workplaces and economy, a newly revised LOMP was published which focuses
on 7 key themes:
1. Preventing and responding to outbreaks, including plans to respond to new
variants of concern
2. Testing, tracing, and isolating to identify and break chains of transmission
3. Communication and engagement, including when and how we share
information with the public, schools, businesses, vulnerable people, care
home staff and residents, and other groups of people
4. Data: understanding national, regional, and local data and using it to inform
what we do
5. Recovery, including supporting the economy to reopen and make sure as
many people as possible can get a vaccine
6. Protecting and supporting people in Bristol, including those who are homeless
or have complex needs
7. Enforcement, when it’s needed to keep the public safe
The plan for Bristol is part of a network of plans in every local authority in England. It
will be regularly reviewed as events continue to evolve and develop.
In November 2020, the government published the COVID-19 Winter Plan which set
out a programme for suppressing the virus, protecting the NHS and vulnerable
people, keeping the economy going and providing a route back to normality. This
plan focused on vaccine roll out, the introduction of a national Tier System, new
treatments and plans for schools and businesses. View the Covid-19 Winter Plan
online.
In December 2020 the NHS Test and Trace Business Plan was published. This set
out the strategic intention for the national Test and Trace programme, including how
partners, including local authorities will be expected to function within a ‘team of
teams’ in the delivery of test and tracing activity. A new National Testing Strategy is
expected to be published in the spring of 2021. The NHS Test and Trace Business
Plan can be viewed online.

Page 83

65

13.7 Serious Incidents
During 2020/21, a significant increase in HCAI related serious incidents was reported
to the CCG, all of which related to COVID-19. This is an evolving situation, in terms
of national guidance, definitions of serious harm, and the reporting of COVID-19
cases by contracted providers. During 2020/21, 32 COVID-19 related cases were
reported by University Hospitals Bristol and Weston (UHBW) and 57 by North Bristol
Trust. Sirona care and health also reported 5 incidents related to outbreaks. As at
the 31st March 2021, 31 completed investigations have been received by the CCG.
During quarter one 2021/22, the review process for COVID-19 related SI’s will begin,
and key lines of enquiry will be developed against which to provide assurance to
enable closure. A thematic report will also be shared with the Quality Committee and
system partners at the BNSSG HCAI Group.
Further details about Bristol City Council’s COVID-19 response can be found here in
the March 2021 revision.

Page 84

66

Agenda Item 10

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Paper:
Author (including organisation):
Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

One City Climate Ask
Richard Martin (BCC)
24/02/2022
Information, discussion, and call to action from
board members



Paper to be no more than two pages long; full reports or more information can be





added as appendices
Draft papers are reviewed by the Public Health team
Final papers will be published on the public website
Board correspondence: HWB@bristol.gov.uk

1. Executive Summary
This is a quick overview of the city’s ambition to reach net zero by 2030, the development of
the One City Climate Ask, and a reiteration of the call to action for all One City board
members to support the city’s One City climate goals and strategy.

2. Purpose of the Paper
Discussion ref the existing climate ambitions of the organisations represented on the board
and how these compare to the city’s ambitions with a view to continuing to make progress.
Review by board members of the Climate Ask and strategy. Discussion ref barriers to
organisations supporting the One City climate goals, and what would help overcome those
goals. Discussion ref how this interrelates with the ICS green plan. Agreement and next
steps and how best to the health and wellbeing board can contribute to progress.

3. Background and evidence base
Timeline of city’s progress from the declaration of the Climate Emergency in November
2018, the publication of the Climate Strategy in November 2020 and call to action that is the
climate ask in November 2021 - https://www.bristolonecity.com/climate/

4. Community/stakeholder engagement
One City Climate Strategy commissioned and developed by the Environment Board in
consultation with wide range of stakeholders. The Climate Ask developed in conjunction with
the Environment and the Economy boards, and specifically with the Bristol Green Capital
Partnership and Business West. The Ask being launched at the One City Gathering with a
mix of civil society organisations and then reiterated at the COP26 event at We The Curious
with 280 participants from the business community,
The Ask has been endorsed by both hospital trusts, both of whom have robust carbon action
plans and are leading the way in the city, and by a growing list of businesses and
organisations.
The sustainability and health board have also been engaged and supportive of the
development of the climate strategy, especially regarding the local and health impacts.

5. Recommendations
Review their internal climate ambitions and either declare their support for the city’s climate
ambitions or plan the necessary steps to get to that point of decision.

Page 85

6. City Benefits
Bristol is a pioneering city in the arena of sustainability and climate and to deliver on the One
City goal of becoming net zero by 2030 will require every organisation and business to take
action and to move quickly.
The mitigation of the impacts of climate change, and the necessary adaptation to the
warming that is already occurring and locked in, is of clear benefit to the city adapting to the
threat of a warming world. The Board is aware of the potential global impacts of climate
change i.e., heat-related deaths, flooding, disease, disruption of global supply chains,
drought and water scarcity and regional conflict, impacting on the most vulnerable members
of society who have contributed the least to creating the problem.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
Variable between different organisations and entities

8. Appendices
One City Climate Strategy
Bristol – Net Zero by 2030 the Evidence Base
One City Climate Ask

Page 86

Agenda Item 11

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Paper:
Author (including organisation):

Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

A One City Food Equality Strategy for
Bristol 2022-2032
Bristol City Council Communities and
Public Health team,
Feeding Bristol.
24/02/2022
Decision



Paper to be no more than two pages long; full reports or more information can be





added as appendices
Draft papers are reviewed by the Public Health team
Final papers will be published on the public website
Board correspondence: HWB@bristol.gov.uk

1. Executive Summary
Feeding Bristol and the BCC Public Health Team have worked in collaboration to produce a
One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol. The strategy sets the ambitious aim to strive for
food equality for all residents in the city of Bristol. The strategy has been developed over the
past 16 months with input from a wide range of stakeholders (from over 70 organisations), a
series of community conversations, and a public consultation. The final version of the
strategy has now been prepared and is being brought to the Health and Wellbeing Board for
approval and sign-off. Once approved, this strategy will form the framework for the Food
Equality Action Plan which will set out the actions and commitments needed from the council
and partner organisations to achieve the vision set out in this strategy.

2. Purpose of the Paper
Developing a strategy and delivery plan for food equality was one of the Health and
Wellbeing Board's three One City Plan 2021 goals. This paper is asking for a decision from
the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the One City Food Equality Strategy.

3. Background and evidence base
The One City Food Equality Strategy is designed to recognise and tackle the issues of rising
food inequality in Bristol. National data from the Department of Work and Pensions, the Food
Foundation, and the Trussel Trust indicates rising numbers of people experiencing food
insecurity in England, exacerbated by the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Local data from the Bristol Quality of Life survey and a Health Needs Assessment of food
inequality in Bristol found that prior to the pandemic, in the most deprived areas of the city up
to 1 in 8 households experienced moderate to severe food insecurity (JSNA 2020/21: food
poverty/insecurity). It also shows certain groups are more at-risk of experiencing food
inequality, including disabled people, full-time carers, single parent households, and those
renting from either the council or a housing association.
This both reflects and contributes to a broader range of inequalities experienced by these
disadvantaged groups, including the gap in healthy life expectancy, inequalities in
infrastructure, and inequalities in access to services and provisions. In this way, food
inequality has serious impacts on the health and wellbeing outcomes of those affected, as
well as wider ranging social, economic, and environmental impacts for Bristol.

Page 87

This Strategy defines food equality as existing “when all people, at all times, have access to
nutritious, affordable and appropriate food according to their social, cultural and dietary
needs. They are equipped with the resources, skills and knowledge to use and benefit from
food, which is sourced from a resilient, fair and environmentally sustainable food system.” It
sets out the ambitious aim to strive for food equality for all residents in the city of Bristol. It
builds on work and research that has been carried out over the last two decades, including
the work undertaken for Bristol to be awarded a gold status Sustainable Food City. The
strategy and a subsequent Food Equality Action Plan aligns with many city priorities and
initiatives, including the One City plan 2050, the Bristol Corporate Strategy, Thrive Bristol,
the Parks and Green Spaces Strategy, and the One Climate Strategy. Importantly, it will feed
into the ongoing development of the Bristol Good Food 2030 Action Plan.

4. Community/stakeholder engagement
The strategy development process involved a series of stakeholder workshops, with
representatives from >70 organisations working on food equality related matters across the
city. There was also a series of 8 community conversations, involving 38 people from
communities with the highest rates of food insecurity, and at-risk groups including disabled
people, people experiencing homelessness, and refugee and asylum seekers. A draft Food
Equality Strategy was put to public consultation in November/December 2021. In-depth
results of this consultation can be found in the attached consultation report (see appendix
two). The draft has been updated to include comments from the consultation to form the final
strategy. There were four updates to Health and Wellbeing board throughout this process.

5. Recommendations
To approve the One City Food Equality Strategy, and to continue to support this work
throughout development and implementation of the Food Equality Action Plan.

6. City Benefits
The purpose of this strategy is to provide the following benefits to Bristol: A more equitable
city for all; Reduce hunger and food insecurity for residents, recognising and supporting the
‘right to adequate food’; Reduce health inequalities across the city; Reduce the anxiety and
other mental health effects caused by food insecurity; Reduce the impacts on the NHS and
social care system through these improved health outcomes; Contribute to city-wide efforts
to reduce poverty in Bristol; Help develop a thriving and resilient local food economy; Build
and strengthen connections and communities through food; Have a positive impact on our
local environment and contribute to the city’s commitment to becoming a carbon-neutral and
climate resilient city by 2030; Help achieve key aims and goals the city has already
committed to under the One City Plan, the Bristol City Council Corporate Strategy, the
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, The Local Authority Declaration on Healthy
Weight, and more.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
No legal implications identified. Funding details for the Action Plan will be overseen and
approved through the Health and Wellbeing Board.

8. Appendices
Appendix One: One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022-2032. Please note, this
contains the final wording of the strategy but is awaiting final design and formatting input.
Appendix Two: Consultation Report from the public consultation on the draft food equality
strategy in November/December 2021.

Page 88

Page 89
WHCF © Bushra Khaled

A One City
Food Equality
Strategy
for Bristol
2022 – 2032

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Page 90

Food equality exists
when all people, at all times, have
access to nutritious, affordable and
appropriate food according to their social,
cultural and dietary needs.
They are equipped with the resources, skills
and knowledge to use and benefit from
food, which is sourced from a resilient,
fair and environmentally sustainable
food system.

2

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Acknowledgements
Bristol City Council and Feeding Bristol have
worked in partnership to oversee the development
of the Food Equality Strategy 2022 – 32. We are
grateful to the following stakeholders who have
helped to shape this document.

Page 91

91 Ways to Build a Global City
Age UK Bristol
Avonmouth Community Centre
Avon Wildlife Trust – Grow Wilder
Baraka Café
Black South West Network
Borderlands
Bristol Ageing Better
Bristol Citizen’s advice
Bristol City Council – City Councillors; Communities
and Public Health Division; Children’s Services; Families
in Focus; Welfare Rights and Money Advice Support
Service (WRAMAS); Procurement; Sustainable City;
City Libraries.
Bristol Disability Equality Forum
Bristol Food Network
Bristol Food Policy Council
Bristol Food Producers
Bristol Food Union
Bristol Green Capital Partnership
Bristol Homeless Forum
Bristol Horn Youth Concern
Bristol Local Food Fund
Bristol One City Health and Wellbeing Board

Bristol Outreach Services for the Homeless (BOSH)
Bristol Refugee Rights
Bristol Sport Foundation
Bristol Youth and Community Action
BS3 Community
Caring in Bristol
CHAS Bristol
City Funds
Clifton Diocese
Counterslip Cares Food Bank
Eastside Community Trust
Family Action FOOD Clubs
FareShare South West
Heart of BS13
Henbury and Brentry Community Council
High Sheriff of Bristol
Incredible Edible Bristol
inHope
Inns Court Community and Family Centre
Julian Trust
Knowle West Alliance
Lawrence Weston Community Farm
Learning Partnership West
Malcolm X Centre
National Food Service Bristol
North Bristol Foodbank
Playful Bristol
Power to Change

Quartet
Refugee Women of Bristol
Roots Independent Street Team
Sims Hill Shared Harvest
South Bristol advice service
South & East Bristol Foodbank
Southmead Development Trust
Square Food Foundation
St Nicholas of Tolentino Catholic Church
St Werburgh’s City Farm
St Werburgh’s Community Centre
Super Supper Club
The Children’s Kitchen
The Community Farm
The Matthew Tree Project
The MAZI Project
Trinity Centre
University of Bristol
University of the West of England
Urban Agriculture Consortium (UK)
Voscur
WECIL
Wellspring Settlement
Windmill Hill City Farm

3

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Contents
5

Executive Summary: A vision for food equality in Bristol

6

Priority theme: Fair, equitable access

19

Definitions: why ‘food equality’?

9

Priority theme: Choice and security

21

Guiding principles

10

Priority theme: Skills and resources

23

Introduction

11

Priority theme: Sustainable local food system

25

The Food Equality Strategy

11

Priority theme: Food at the heart of decision-making

27

The benefits to the city from achieving food equality

11

Cross-cutting strategic aims

29

Background work in Bristol

12

Governance, oversight and delivery

29

Food inequality: causes, impacts and the national picture

12

Monitoring and evaluation

30

The national picture of food inequality

15

Risks

30

Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic

15

National and local policy context

30

16

Summary and next steps

32

Page 92

Foreword

Food inequality in Bristol

Priority themes for food equality in Bristol

18

4

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Foreword
Food is essential to all our lives. Not only does it
fuel and sustain us, it also plays a crucial role in the
fabric of our city. It brings people together, is an
expression of culture, binds communities and drives
a thriving and vibrant economy. In this way, food
plays a central role in the health and well-being of us
as individuals and for our communities; and when
we are not able to benefit from food in this way,
food can become a significant cause and driver
of inequality.

Page 93

It is unacceptable that anyone in Bristol should face
uncertainty about being able to access adequate food.
Yet we know that one in every 20 households in Bristol
face this stress regularly. This is just the tip of the iceberg,
and the inequalities in our food system run much deeper.
For example, the way in which our food is produced
places a huge burden on the environment; significant
numbers of people in the city are not able to access
fresh and nutritious food, which leaves them at risk of
ill health; and when food economies function poorly,
people miss out of the significant economic and social
value this can bring to themselves and communities.

of work, and presents our ambitious plan to strive for
food equality for all residents in the city of Bristol within
ten years. In it, we present the city’s vision of food
equality, highlighting the areas we need to address to
be able to achieve this aim. This strategy will form the
framework for a pragmatic Food Equality Action Plan, to
be developed in 2022, which will lay out the actions we
need to take to achieve each point raised in this strategy.
To be able to achieve these aims, food equality needs
to be considered as a key priority throughout the wider
work of the city, and this strategy has been developed
in collaboration with system partners through the One
City Approach.

On top of this, the economic and social impacts of
COVID-19 have worsened these issues and left more
people struggling to afford or access a nutritious diet.
Nationally, the pandemic has caused a sharp rise in the
number of people seeking emergency food support,
and I want to acknowledge the strong network of
voluntary, community and grassroots organisations in
Bristol that have done an incredible job meeting this

need, in partnership with the council and many other
organisations across the city. This has highlighted the
need for us as a city to take urgent action not only to
ensure support is available to people when they need
it, but also to take a committed and dedicated view to
preventing these issues from arising in the first place.
Bristol has made a sustained commitment to improving
its food system, and this strategy builds on a number
of years of work to make the food system fairer and
more sustainable for all. The achievements of this were
recognised in Bristol becoming only the second city in
the UK to receive ‘gold sustainable food city’ status in
May 2021. This strategy builds on this strong baseline

Our ultimate aim is to make Bristol a leading city on
issues of food equality, and to become a pioneering city
that is leading the fight for food justice. By significantly
improving food equality for the people within our own
city, we will be able to make positive influence both
nationally and internationally on issues that will ultimately
make our food system fairer and more equitable for all.
Councillor Asher Craig Deputy Mayor and Cabinet
Member for Children, Education and Equalities, and
Food Champion.

5

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Executive summary: A vision for food equality in Bristol
Food equality exists when all people, at all times,
have access to nutritious, affordable and appropriate
food according to their social, cultural and dietary
needs. They are equipped with the resources, skills
and knowledge to use and benefit from food, which is
sourced from a resilient, fair and environmentally
sustainable food system.
Our vision for Food Equality – Bristol Food Equality Stakeholder Group, 2021

Page 94

6

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

The Food Equality Strategy 2022 – 32 is designed
to recognise and tackle the issues of rising food
inequality in Bristol. Developed out of Bristol’s
Going for Gold ‘Sustainable Food City’ campaign,1
the strategy builds on work and research that has
been carried out over the last two decades. The
strategy and a subsequent Food Equality Action
Plan will work alongside other initiatives in the city
that seek to tackle poverty and inequality. It will form
part of the One City Bristol Good Food 2030 Action
Plan, which will be focused on creating a fairer,
more resilient, and sustainable local food system,
benefitting people and the planet.

Page 95

The need for this new strategy has become even clearer
due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which
shone a spotlight on the significant inequality that exists in
how people access nutritious, affordable, and sustainably

sourced produce, both nationally and locally. Coupled with
the impact of Brexit and climate change on our national
food system and economy, these inequalities will not only
continue to exist, but will intensify if we do not act now to
ensure an equitable local food system is established. It is
the most disadvantaged who will feel the impacts first
and most severely when faced with food shortages,
price increases, and the breakdown of supply chains.
It was imperative that this strategy was created through
a collaboration of key stakeholders throughout the city,
including representatives of organisations working both
directly and indirectly in all aspects of the food sector, as
well as members of the wider community.
Over a period of nine months, we facilitated three
stakeholder group meetings and surveys (involving more
than 100 individuals representing over 70 organisations)

and eight community conversations (involving 38 people)
to test and develop the vision for food equality.
Stakeholder group meetings involved discussions
on what food inequality looks and feels like, and what
the barriers to food equality are. Participants also
discussed what the administration and accountability
of food equality should be, and how this could be made
more inclusive, ensuring the success of the strategy.
The community conversations were targeted at five
wards that ranked highest on the 2019 index of multiple
deprivation and three community groups at high-risk of
food inequality (disabled people, people experiencing
homelessness, and asylum seekers and refugees) to
provide valuable insights and views from those with lived
experience of food inequality.
For more information, please see ‘Bristol Named Gold Sustainable Food City’:
www.goingforgoldbristol.co.uk
1

Edible Fishponds © Gareth Price

LOW RES

7

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priorities for achieving food equality
The results of these meetings, conversations and background research led to the formation of a vision for food
equality in Bristol. This vision was distilled into five priority themes that will be the foundation for positive change,
providing the building blocks for this strategy:
Fair access to nutritious and appropriate food.

Choice and security

Choice, empowerment, and a feeling of security.

Skills and resources

People and communities are equipped with the
necessary food knowledge, skills and facilities.

Sustainable local food system

A resilient and environmentally sustainable local
food system.

Food at the heart of decision-making

Food is at the heart of community, economy, and
city planning.

Page 96

Fair, equitable access

Food Equality Action Plan
The next step in the development of the strategy
is to shape a Food Equality Action Plan (scheduled
for early 2022) based on the priority themes above.
This will set out a path for positive change, with clear
and accountable actions for achieving the vision of
food equality in the city. As part of the stakeholder
consultation and community conversations we have
begun to develop action plan priorities which will
continue to be worked on by a broader group including
stakeholders, people from identified communities
of interest, and those with lived experience of
food inequality.
It is important that the aims of the strategy and action
plan are monitored and evaluated. This will use a
mixture of qualitative and quantitative measures, some
of which already exist and others which will need to
be developed.

8
Appropriate administrative and
accountability structures will need
to be established and the need for a
representative steering group has also been
identified. Community-based Food Equality
Champions, with lived experience of food inequality,
and wider stakeholder group meetings will also be
crucial to oversee the delivery and engagement of
the strategy and action plan.
The success of this work relies on the One City
approach, where partners from across the city,
including Bristol City Council, take ownership on
delivery, development and evaluation of the work
needed to make a positive impact to the lives of people
who live and work in Bristol. By taking a collaborative
and co-produced approach we can significantly
increase the chances of success of the strategy.

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Definitions: why
‘food equality’?
The Food Equality Strategy 2022 – 32 addresses
inequalities faced across our local food system,
including, but not limited to, food insecurity.
To reflect the broad focus of this work we have
chosen to use the term ‘food equality’.
As there is no official definition of food equality, a
definition has been developed and co-produced
through the stakeholder consultations in development
of this strategy. This definition has become our vision
for food equality for Bristol.

Page 97

It is important to recognise that this definition is closely
related to definitions of ‘food security’, ‘food justice’
and ‘food equity’, and incorporates the key elements of
these terms. It is also important to highlight that these
terms often have multiple definitions.

Important and related terms

Definition

Equity

Equity recognizes that each person has different
circumstances and allocates the exact resources and
opportunities needed to reach an equal outcome.
(The George Washington University, 2020)
…being unable to consume an adequate quality
or sufficient quantity of food for health, in socially
acceptable ways, or the uncertainty that one will be able
to do so. (Dowler et al., 2001)
Food security exists when all people, at all times, have
physical and economic access to sufficient, safe and
nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food
preferences for an active and healthy life. (Food and
Agricultural Organisation, 1996)
Food justice is where everyone has access to nutritious,
affordable and culturally appropriate food, which is grown,
produced, sold and consumed in ways that care for
people and the environment. (Feeding Bristol, 2021)
Food equity is the expansive concept that all people
have the ability and opportunity to grow and to
consume healthful, affordable, and culturally significant
foods. (University of Buffalo, accessed 2021)
Food sovereignty is the right of each nation to maintain
and develop its own capacity to produce its basic foods
respecting cultural and productive diversity. We have
the right to produce our own food in our own territory.
Food sovereignty is a precondition to genuine food
security. (Via Campesina, 1996)
Good food is defined as being vital to the quality of
people’s lives in Bristol. As well as being tasty, healthy
and affordable, the food we eat should be good for
nature, good for workers, good for businesses and good
for animal welfare. (Bristol Good Food Charter, 2012)

Food Insecurity (also referred to as ‘household
food insecurity’ and ‘food poverty’)

Food Security

Food Justice

Food Equity

Food Sovereignty

LOW RES

“Good Food” (as developed by the Bristol Good
Food Charter)

9

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Guiding principles

•

 ake a place-based approach This empowers
T
communities and incorporates grass root solutions.
Building on the activities and assets already in use
in localities, instead of attempting to build solutions
from scratch. This also needs to consider the specific
needs of at-risk groups. By empowering change at
a local level, it can influence positive changes across
the city.

•

 ake an inclusive and transparent approach
T
Diverse community participation from across the city
is fundamental in the development, implementation,
and administration of the strategy. This is also key
to making it meaningful to the people of Bristol and
therefore more successful in achieving food equality.

•

 reflective and flexible approach This actively
A
seeks feedback and adapts accordingly. Feedback
from individuals, communities and stakeholders
will be continually sought and fed back into this
work, which will help build a sustainable working
relationship that can then exist beyond the limits of
this strategy.

This strategy has been developed using the
following underlying principles:

•

Page 98
•

•

 quity is the key consideration at all stages
E
The inequalities present in our food system and
health outcomes are the primary focus of this
strategy. To address these inequalities, we need to
ensure inclusion of all members of society, and an
appropriate focus on those most at risk of social
and economic inequality. We strive for equity, by
which we mean creating a fair and just system
which appropriately prioritises the communities and
individuals most in need. This focus on equity is what
will enable us to drive towards equality across the city.
 ake a preventative approach Food inequality
T
should not exist in a just society, and it is not enough
to only address the problems of food inequality once
they are already established. We need to stop these
inequalities developing in the first place. This means
taking time to identify all the driving causes of the
problem and taking action to prevent them.
 ake a systems view The causes of food inequality
T
are part of a complex system of interdependent
factors, as are the solutions. We must recognise the
complexity of food inequality and create this strategy
with a view of how it will fit into, and interact with, this
complex system.

•

 ink the strategy to a pragmatic action plan
L
This will ensure the goals set out in this strategy are
realistic and achievable.

LOW RES

10

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Introduction

in the infrastructure, and access to services and
provisions experienced by different people across the city.

Essential to our survival, food is fundamental to all
our lives. Intimately connected to expressions of
cultural and social identity, what we eat and how
we eat are major determinants of our health and
well-being.2 But more than this, the entire food
system – from production to consumption – has a
social, economic, and environmental impact on our
society, our communities, and our lands.

The benefits to the city from achieving
food equality

This food inequality must be addressed.

The purpose of this strategy is to provide the following
benefits to our city:
• A more equitable city for all.
• Reduce hunger and food insecurity for residents,
recognising and supporting the ‘right to adequate food’.
• Reduce health inequalities across the city.
• Reduce the anxiety and other mental health effects
caused by food insecurity.
• Reduce the impacts on the NHS and social care
system through these improved health outcomes.
• Contribute to city-wide efforts to reduce poverty in Bristol.
• Help develop a thriving and resilient local food economy.
• Build and strengthen connections and communities
through food.
• Have a positive impact on our local environment and
contribute to the city’s commitment to becoming a
carbon-neutral and climate resilient city by 2030.
• Help achieve key aims and goals the city has already
committed to under the One City Plan, the Bristol
City Council Corporate Strategy, the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals, The Local Authority
Declaration on Healthy Weight, and more.

Page 99

The right to adequate food is a basic human right.3
Bristol has had significant success over the past
years in bringing together partners from across the
city to improve all aspects of the food system. This
achievement was recognised in Bristol becoming the
second city in the UK to receive ‘gold sustainable food
city’ status in May 2021.4 Yet despite this, we are seeing
increasing levels of food inequality across the city.
An estimated 1 in every 20 households experienced
severe to moderate food insecurity in 2019/20 (JSNA,
2021) – a statistic that is likely to have increased due to
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. This figure rises
to 1 in every 8 households in certain parts of Bristol,
and the stark reality is that people experiencing this
form of food inequality are disproportionately from
the most deprived areas of the city, or from key at-risk
groups. This both reflects and contributes to a much
broader range of inequalities experienced by these
disadvantaged groups. The most striking example
of this is seen in the gap in healthy life expectancy
(the number years lived in good health) between the
least and most deprived areas of the city which is
approximately 16 years.5 But it is also seen in inequalities

The Food Equality Strategy
The aim of the Food Equality Strategy is to strive for
food equality for all residents in the city of Bristol
within ten years. Recognising the importance of this
issue within our city, this aim is deliberately aspirational
and aligns with the targets set out in the One City Plan.6
Presenting a shared vision for food equality in Bristol,
this strategy document explores what drives food inequality
nationally and locally and outlines a series of priorities for
how the city can work together to achieve food equality.
Drawing on data from previous city-wide work
alongside a recent Food Inequality Needs Assessment
for Bristol,7 this strategy is co-produced and informed
by stakeholder consultations, as well as community
conversations with people who have lived experience of
food inequality in Bristol.8 (Full details on the stakeholder
consultation and community consultation can be
provided on request).
Importantly, this strategy sits alongside a separate Food
Equality Action Plan that will be developed based on
this strategic vision. This action plan will be co-produced
by stakeholders across the city and overseen by a
representative steering group. It will contain specific
actions and commitments from the council and partner
organisations on how we will be able to achieve the
vision set out in this strategy.

Dimbleby et al, 2020. National food strategy; part one.
Available at www.nationalfoodstrategy.org
2

3

www.ohchr.org

‘Bristol Named Gold Sustainable Food City’:
www.goingforgoldbristol.co.uk
4

Bristol City Council JSNA Health and Wellbeing Profile 2020/21: Healthy Life expectancy
‘One City Plan 2021: A Plan for Bristol to 2050’: www.bristolonecity.com
7
Publication Pending – available on request from Bristol City Council Communities and
Public Health team.
5

6

8

Publication Pending – available on request from Feeding Bristol team.

11

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Background work
in Bristol
The strategy builds on extensive work that has
sought to make Bristol a more just and sustainable
food city for those who live and work here. Over the
past ten years, this has included:
 he 2011 report Who Feeds Bristol, which explains the
T
food system serving the Bristol area.

•

The 2013 Good Food Plan 2020, which sought to
promote food system change across the city.

•

 he 2013 review Food Poverty: what does the
T
evidence tell us?, which draws together national and
local data on food insecurity.

Page 100

•

•

I n 2016, a collective city-wide campaign won Bristol
‘silver’ status as a Sustainable Food City.

•

I n 2018, Bristol City Council passed the Good Food
and Catering Procurement Policy.

•

 he 2019 report Bristol food provision and services,
T
which reviewed available food support in the 10 most
deprived wards in Bristol.

•

I n 2021 the Advertising and Sponsorship Policy for
Bristol City Council now includes restrictions for food
and drinks high in fat, sugar and salt.9

•

 he 2020 city-wide COVID-19 crisis food response.
T
Including reports: Bristol’s COVID-19 Community Food
Response and COVID-19: Local coordination delivered
emergency food, but food plans must address
food insecurity.

This work contributed to Bristol’s successful city-wide
‘Going for Gold’ bid10 to become only the second place
in the UK to achieve the Sustainable Food Places Gold
award in May 2021. The 2-year initiative was coordinated
by the Going for Gold Steering Group and includes food
equality as one of six key themes. This new strategy is
a legacy of the Going for Gold campaign and is also an
integral part of the One City Bristol Good Food 2030
Action Plan, which is currently in development.

Poverty is a complex issue and with many causes.
The impact of living in poverty extends far beyond
food inequality, but the two issues are inherently
interlinked. For example, people living in poverty may
have less resource, capacity and access to facilities and
infrastructure which allow them to cook nutritious food
from scratch. Many individuals and families may also
have to face dilemmas between paying bills or cutting
back on food (also known as the ‘heat or eat’ trade-off).

Importantly, Bristol’s Going for Gold campaign could
not have been successful without the strong network
of Voluntary, Community, Social Enterprise (VCSE),
grassroots and statutory sector organisations providing
essential and innovative support and access for
residents across the city. This network has also been
crucial to the COVID-19 pandemic food response over
2020 – 21, as well as to the development of this strategy.

However, the causes of food inequality are not as
simple as just poverty alone. It is a complex issue that
is deeply engrained in the economic, social, cultural
and environmental structures of our city, and wider
society. The following figures highlight key factors driving
food inequality, and the far-reaching impact that food
inequality can have on individuals and communities.

Food inequality:
causes, impacts, and
the national picture
Many of the causes and drivers of food inequality
relate to broader social and economic inequality, and
in particular poverty and economic disadvantage.11
A stark example of the interactions between poverty
and food inequality is seen in the Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) Family Resources Survey, which
reported on food insecurity figures in the UK between
2019 – 20, finding that 43 per cent of households who
receive Universal Credit experience high or very high
levels of food insecurity.12

9

Full policy available at democracy.bristol.gov.uk

10

www.goingforgoldbristol.co.uk

House of Lords Select Committee on Food, Poverty, Health and the Environment.
Hungry for change: fixing the failures in food. Report of Session 2019-20
11

Department of work and Pensions (2021), Family Resources Survey; financial year
2019 to 2020. Published online 25/03/21, available at www.gov.uk
12

12

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Figure 1: Summary of the causes and drivers of food inequality. Sources: The 2013 Food Poverty report13 and the
2021 Food Inequality Needs Assessment for Bristol14
Causes and drivers of food inequality
Economic

Social

Environmental

• Low income, unemployment,

• Lack of access to culturally

• Reduced availability of growing

and financial hardship.

• Poor social welfare provision.
• The rising cost of living and
reduction of household income
in real terms.

• High proportion of household

Page 101

income spent on food and
other essentials

• Over-reliance on supermarkets
and a lack of investment in local
food economies.

• Many economic causes
exacerbated by COVID-19
pandemic.

appropriate food.

• Lack of access to equipment
and/or fuel for cooking.

• Lack of knowledge or skills
required to prepare healthy meals.

• Lack of access to emergency
food support, due to lack of
awareness, inability to achieve
a referral, poor availability, or
social stigma.

• Poor regulation of food industry,
which incentivises cheaper
processed and calorie-dense
options.

• Marketing of unhealthy foods.

Maslen, C., Raffle, A., Marriot, S., Smith N. (2013) Food Poverty. What does the Evidence
tell us? Bristol City Council.
13

Publication Pending – available on request from Bristol City Council Communities and
Public Health team.
14

spaces and allotments.

• Food system reliant on industrialscale farms, importing and
transporting food.

• Local food supply chains underutilised.

• A lack of locally available
affordable and healthy food is
associated with poor diet quality.

13

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Figure 2: Summary of the impacts of food inequality. Sources: The 2013 Food Poverty report15 and the 2021
Health Needs Assessment of Food Equality in Bristol.’16
Impacts of food inequality
Economic

Social

Environmental

Health

• Fewer employment opportunities in

• Causes a range of behavioural,

• Lack of food growing spaces

• Food insecurity is strongly associated

local food economy.

• Fewer people working and
participating in the economy.

• The social, environmental and health

Page 102

effects of food inequality place a
significant financial strain on the
state, particularly the NHS and the
VCSE sector.

academic and emotional issues in
children, and can compromise their
educational attainment.

• Poor quality diets are associated with
anti-social behaviour and violence
in adults.

• Disconnection of people from their
local food systems (e.g., food growing)

prevents people from growing their
own, fresh food.

• Carbon emissions result from reliance
on non-local and international
food supply chains, contributing to
climate change.

• Food is sourced from industrial-scale
agriculture, which negatively affects
local ecosystems and biodiversity.

with poor diet quality and obesity.

• Food insecurity has been linked to poor
mental health.

• Poor diet quality is associated with
cardiovascular disease, stroke, Type 2
diabetes, and some cancers.

• In children, poor diet quality increases
the risks of stunting, iodine deficiency
and iron deficiency anaemia.

The poorest individuals and communities are
disproportionally impacted. As such, food inequality is a
key driver of health inequalities.

Maslen, C., Raffle, A., Marriot, S., Smith N. (2013) Food Poverty. What does the Evidence
tell us? Bristol City Council.
15

Publication Pending – available on request from Bristol City Council Communities and
Public Health team.
16

14

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

According to the DWP’s Family Resources
Survey (2021), approximately 14 per cent
of households in the UK (equivalent to 9.5
million people) experienced
some level of food insecurity
during 2019 – 2020 (with
6 per cent
experiencing
marginal, 4 per
cent low, and 4 per
cent experiencing
very low food
security).17 The
distribution of food
insecurity across
the country was unequal, with the North West and
North East having the highest rates. Food insecurity in
the South West was reported lower than the national
average, with an estimated 5 per cent of households
having marginal, 2 per cent having low and 4 per cent
very low food security. However, it is important to note
that the data from this survey is not available beyond
a regional level, and comparison of our local food
insecurity in Bristol to this national average is difficult
due to different methods and the lack of consistent
recording and reporting of this data. It is also difficult to
interpret regional data, where the averages may mask
significant variations and inequalities.

The COVID-19 pandemic has made the issue of food
inequality, in particular food insecurity, more pressing than ever.

Page 103

The national picture of food inequality

Department of work and Pensions (2021), Family Resources Survey; financial year
2019 to 2020. Published online 25/03/21, available at www.gov.uk/government/
collections/
17

At a national level, it has both exposed and exacerbated
some of the long-standing problems of food insecurity
which exist in our society. It has also driven a rise in the
visibility and discussion of this issue on the national
stage, for example in the significant publicity around
the campaign spearheaded by the footballer Marcus
Rashford around Free School Meals and the problem of
food access for children and families.

Importantly, the COVID-19 pandemic has also revealed
cracks in our wider food system. It has exposed our
over-reliance on supermarkets and long-supply chains,
highlighting the severe impact disruption to this model has
on food economies at a local and national level; an issue
that will be put at further risk of exposure with the impact
of Brexit and the indirect impacts of climate change. This
does present an opportunity to build a stronger local food
system as part of the COVID-19 recovery; one that can
both tackle the issues of food inequality and wider issues
for workers in the food industry by providing higher rates
of job security, pay and financial resilience.

One of the most visible impacts of the pandemic was
that as more households have faced financial pressure
from unemployment, under-employment or furlough,
there has been an unprecedented rise in households
seeking emergency food support. The Trussell Trust
(who manage more than half of all food banks in the
UK) have reported that between 2019/20 and 2020/21
there has been a 33 per cent increase in food parcels
distributed in just one year.18 And around half of those
using food banks were doing so for the first time as a
result of unemployment and financial insecurity caused
by the pandemic.19
Reviewing food insecurity levels during this time, the
Food Foundation found that rates of food insecurity
have been consistently higher than pre-COVID-19 levels,
with those on Universal Credit (UC) especially at-risk.
According to their surveys, people who were already
claiming UC experienced three times greater levels of
food insecurity in the first 6 months of lockdown than the
average before the pandemic, despite the £20 uplift to UC.20

15

18

The Trussell Trust. End of Year Stats 2021. Available at www.trusselltrust.org

The Trussell Trust. Local Lifelines. investing in local welfare during and beyond COVID-19.
Salisbury: The Trussell Trust. 2020.
19

The Food Foundation. A Crisis within a Crisis: The Impact of COVID-19 on Household
Food Security. London: The Food Foundation. 2021
20

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Food inequality in Bristol

of the city had easier access to takeaways than shops
selling fresh and nutritious produce.25

Data from multiple sources has been collected to
build a picture of the current state of food equality in
Bristol. Full details can be found in the Food Inequality
Needs Assessment for Bristol.21 Headline findings are
presented below, each of which must be addressed to
achieve the vision for food equality in Bristol.

Unsurprisingly, emergency food support use is higher
among those living in more deprived areas of the city,
and people living in the most deprived 10 per cent are
three times more likely (8.4 per cent)to access food
support compared to those in the least deprived areas
of the city (0.3 per cent).26 Significantly, because this
data was collected prior to the COVID-19 pandemic,
these rates are expected to have increased.

Food equality shows significant
disparity across the city

Page 104

The effects of food inequality are disproportionality felt
within the most deprived areas of the city. While 1 in 20
households (4.2 per cent) across Bristol experienced
severe to moderate food insecurity in 2019/20, this rate
increased to 1 in every 8 households (12.2 per cent) in
the most deprived wards of the city (JSNA, 2021).22
This inequality mirrors a number of other indicators
of food insecurity. For example, up to half of children
in some wards of the city are eligible for free school
meals, compared to a city-wide average of 1 in every
four children.23 This also relates to the large inequalities
in healthy life expectancy (the number of years lived
in good health) seen across the city: in 2020, women
in the least deprived areas live an average 16.7 years
longer in good health. Similarly, men in the least deprived
10 per cent of the city can expect to live 16.3 years
longer in good health than those in the most deprived
10 per cent.24
Availability of resources across the city is of particular
concern. Access to fresh and nutritious food varies
considerably between areas, and a report in 2018 found
that residents living in some of the more deprived areas

Food Inequality Needs Assessment for Bristol 2021. Publication Pending – available on
request from Bristol City Council Communities and Public Health team
21

22

Bristol City Council JSNA health and wellbeing profile 2020/21: food poverty/insecurity.

23

Free School Meal data provided by Bristol City Council, based on 2021 data.

24

Bristol City Council JSNA Health and Wellbeing Profile 2020/21: Healthy Life expectancy.

Carey et al, 2018, Bristol Food Provision and Services; informating the work of the
Feeding Bristol charity, a short summary.
25

26

Bristol City Council JSNA health and wellbeing profile 2020/21: food poverty/insecurity.

16

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Certain at-risk groups experience
higher rates of food inequality
Certain groups are more at risk of experiencing food
inequality. For example, according to the Bristol Quality
of Life Survey (2020/21), disabled people, full-time
carers, single parent households, and those renting from
either the council or a housing association were more
likely to experience food insecurity.27
Key figures from the Quality of Life Survey
(reporting on 2020/21 figures):

Page 105

•

 lmost 1 in 7 disabled people (14.8 per cent)
A
reported moderate to severe food insecurity in
the past 12 months, more than three times higher
than the Bristol average (4.2 per cent).

•

 esidents in council housing were 25 times more
R
likely (11.5 per cent) to have used emergency food
support than those who owned their own homes
(0.46 per cent).

•

1 3.4 per cent of single parent households
reported that they had experienced moderate
to severe food insecurity in the last 12
months, compared to only 1.6 per cent of two
parent households.

These findings are supported by the recent food
insecurity figures published by the Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) through their Family Resources
Survey and other studies into food insecurity and food
bank use.28

Further to this, through engagement with stakeholders
and community conversations (detailed later in the
strategy) other key at-risk groups were highlighted,
including those with No Recourse to Public Funds,29
people experiencing homelessness, and older residents.
Notably, all these groups are likely to be underrepresented in Quality of Life survey respondents.

Diet varies across the city
Diet quality (currently only measured as fruit and
vegetable intake) was not only shown to be lower for
those in more deprived areas, but also for people living
in rented accommodation, for people aged 16 – 25, for
those with no further educational qualifications, and
those who identified as Black/Black British.30

Food inequality is associated with
health inequalities in our city
It is difficult to estimate the true impact of food inequality
on health outcomes in Bristol. But there are several
ways in which food inequality could worsen the health
inequalities seen across the city. For example, a healthy
diet often costs more than less healthy options,31 and
one of the most direct impacts of food inequality can
be lack of access to fresh nutritious food and poor diet
quality. This can contribute to excess weight. There
are more adults living with excess weight in the more
deprived areas of the city: 17.1 per cent of adults in the
most deprived areas of the city are classified as obese,
compared to only 9.1 per cent in the least deprived
areas.32A similar pattern is seen in children, with 28 per
cent of reception-aged children in the most deprived
areas having excess weight compared with 17 per cent
in the least deprived areas.33

17

Bristol City Council JSNA health and well-being profile 2020/21: food poverty/insecurity.
Available at www.bristol.gov.uk
27

28

Loopstra and Lalor, 2017; Prayogo et al., (2017); MacLeod et al., (2018); Garratt (2017).

29

This refers to migrants who have no entitlement to the majority of welfare benefits.

Bristol City Council JSNA health and well-being profile 2020/21: food poverty/insecurity.
Available at www.bristol.gov.uk/documents
30

31

www.foodfoundation.org.uk

32

Bristol City Council JSNA health and well-being profile 2020/21: food poverty/insecurity.

33

Bristol City Council JSNA health and Well-being profile 2020/21: Health weight (children).

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority themes for food
equality in Bristol
This strategy aims to significantly improve food
equality in Bristol over the next decade. It aligns with
other key strategies for improving food systems and
addressing poverty in the city, as well as many of the
aims laid out in the National Food Strategy.34

Page 106

This section sets out the priority themes where
action needs to be taken to achieve food equality
in Bristol. These themes have been co-produced
through stakeholder consultation with representation
from over 70 different organisations and community
conversations with people who have lived experience
of food inequality in the city.35

Priority theme: Fair, equitable access
Fair access to nutritious and appropriate food.
Residents are able to access food that is appropriate
for their dietary needs, is culturally appropriate,
and affordable.

Priority theme: Choice and security
Choice, empowerment, and a feeling of security.
Everyone can make decisions about their relationship
with food and are free from the anxiety and stress of
food insecurity.

Priority theme: Skills and resources
People and communities are equipped with the
necessary food knowledge, skills and facilities.
Residents can foster a healthy food culture, have
confidence in their ability to access and use food to meet
their needs, as well as the facilities and fuel to cook with.

Priority theme: Sustainable local
food system
A resilient and environmentally sustainable local
food system. The local food system prioritises
resilience and sustainability in food production, food
waste management, distribution, economy, and
environmental resilience.

Priority theme: Food at the heart of
decision-making
Food is at the heart of community, economy,
and city planning. Food needs and equality
are considered in all decision-making – whether
developing social support models, new businesses or
planning new housing .

Priority theme: Cross-cutting
strategic aims
Strategic aims that sit across all the
priority themes.

Dimbleby et al, 2020. National food strategy; part one. Available at
www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/part-one/
34

35

Publication Pending – available on request from Feeding Bristol team.

18

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Fair equitable access

Page 107

Everyone in the city is
able to access food
that is appropriate for
their dietary needs, is
culturally appropriate,
and affordable.

19

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Fair equitable access

•

Page 108

To achieve this, we must address the multiple barriers
that people and communities face which limit their
access to sufficient fresh, nutritious food that meets their
needs. This includes thinking about how our city and
communities are structured, for example the variety,
location and accessibility of local food outlets, and the
transport options that allow people to access them.
It also involves thinking about how we can include
the specific needs of individuals and groups at risk
of food inequality, including disabled people, people
experiencing homelessness, different cultural groups
and more.

As a city, we will:

Nutritious and appropriate food needs to be affordable
for everyone, but this should not disadvantage the food
producer or retailer. We need to encourage innovative
models of food support that allows for better access
to nutritious and affordable food in ways that enable
choice, retains dignity, and develops empowerment.

•

 ctively investigate and take stock of the
A
specific issues and barriers to accessing
nutritious, appropriate food in the most
deprived wards and for at-risk communities of
interest. We need to understand how our current
food system and transport infrastructure impacts on
food access. Mapping shops, social eating spaces,
growing spaces, public transport and community
groups and facilities will allow us to take a communityled approach to improving access which makes use
of the facilities and assets already available. This
must include an awareness of the specific needs of
different areas and considering specific access needs
for at risk groups including disabled people, refugee/
asylum seekers, young people, people experiencing
homelessness, and older people.
 ake time and use a participatory approach
T
to understanding barriers and needs. Listen to
and work with communities to understand specific
barriers and needs, and co-create solutions, whilst
being mindful of the differences that may exist
between localities.

•

 ecognise and understand that the definition
R
of ‘good access’ to food may differ for different
communities and take action to address this
consideration throughout services. Ensure
emergency food providers and services are
able to take into account what types of food are
appropriate for different cultural backgrounds and
intolerances allergies.

•

 upport diversity of shops that increase access
S
to fresh food. Do this in a manner which will support
communities to eat well and encourage a vibrant local
food economy.

20

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Choice and security

Page 109

21

Everyone can make
decisions about their
relationship with food
and are free from the
anxiety and stress of
food insecurity.

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Choice and security

Page 110

Eliminating food insecurity is not only a worthy goal but
can also prevent a wide range of negative knock-on
effects on a person’s life, health, and wellbeing. Food
insecurity creates anxiety and stress, an issue that was
highlighted in the community conversations. While there
are a wealth of organisations and schemes providing
excellent services addressing food and financial
insecurity in the city, many residents are unaware of the
support available to them. At all stages it is important to
recognise the key role that choice and empowerment
can have on people’s dignity, perception of and
engagement with actions addressing food inequality..

As a city, we will:

•

•

•

 mpower communities to have a platform to
E
make change. Take a co-designed approach to
actions and accountability to address food equality,
which helps ensure the right action is taken and
encourages a joint sense of ownership. Use the
recruitment of Food Equality Champions (people with
relevant lived experience based in the communities
of interest) as a framework for a positive example of
how this might be done in a collaborative way.
 uild resilience through prevention.
B
Take action to help shift the current needs away
from a model of emergency food provision to one of
prevention. This will help increase dignity and improve
food security.
 se food as an opportunity to encourage
U
access to other support and services.
Expand access to other support and preventative
services that can affect broader positive changes in
people’s lives, including financial support and mental
health services.

•

I ncrease choice and empowerment in
food offers from services and projects that
provide food support. Food provision needs
to be adaptive to communities to provide more
appropriate choice that matches the need. Part of
this requires recognising that additional choice is
likely to require investment into and training for food
support providers.

•

 educe the risk of stigma in programmes that
R
address food inequality. We need to champion
solutions that preserve dignity and don’t create
stigma and recognise the importance of how we
create and deliver solutions in and with communities.

•

 aximise income for residents. Working with
M
welfare support organisations and the broader work
in the city to counter poverty, maximise support for
people to access unclaimed welfare benefits, and
provide financial support and grants schemes, as well
as other measures to support income and wages.
This includes promoting the Real Living Wage as per
the Real Living Wage Foundation.

22

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Skills and facilities

Page 111

People and
communities are
equipped with
knowledge, skills
and facilities.

23

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

As a city, we will:

Provide the necessary tools to facilitate residents
to foster a healthy food culture through increased
confidence in their ability to not only access food, but
also in having the appropriate knowledge, skills and
facilities to be able to use the food that meets their
needs. Often a person’s ability to be able to prepare a
meal is hampered by a lack of facilities at home and in
the community, or a lack of knowledge and confidence
with food. Education has been a key theme in both
the community conversations and the stakeholder
consultations, and this applies to all ages from early
years through adulthood.

•

 ddress barriers posed by lack of facilities or
A
equipment which are preventing people in hardship
from preparing and cooking food in the most affected
areas of the city. This can be either at their own
homes, or through local community resources.

•

 uild and strengthen facilities and assets
B
already in the community. Focus on the strengths
already in the system and building on them. In this
way we can capitalise on the numerous resources
already available across Bristol and encourage the
development of best practice around the city. This
can include community kitchens, growing projects,
initiatives from the hospitality sector and more.
Creating stronger links between them will create a
more resilient network that will pass the test of time.

Page 112

Priority theme: Skills and resources

•

 ake specific action to reduce food inequality
T
for children and young people, recognising
the key opportunity that working with both
children and young people can have in preventing
many further issues for themselves, their families
and their communities. Ensure interventions
that impact this group receive appropriate
consideration and prioritisation.

•

 evelop and encourage food related topics and
D
skills education in schools, colleges and early
years settings, embedding into existing communitybased programs and initiatives across the city.
This needs to include elements of the whole food
system, from growing, to buying, to cooking. There is
a need to invest in subsidising these projects these
projects and initiatives to allow for greater access and
skills development.

•

 xpand food related education beyond
E
school age, to cover topics as needed (for
example budgeting, growing courses, community
cooking classes etc). We will need to adapt these
opportunities for specific communities (for example
the needs of disabled people may differ from those
experiencing homelessness).

24

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Sustainable local food system

A resilient and
sustainable local
food system.

Page 113

25

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Sustainable local
food system

Page 114

Resilience and sustainability are considered and
prioritised at all stages of the local food system.
Through this, we will achieve a positive impact on the
environment at a local level, as well as develop resilience
in the food system, and create and support careers for
people working in the local food economy. Increased
prevalence of small-scale farms and community
growing have been demonstrated to have links to
increased education, more resilient infrastructure and
a stronger local economy. Access to growing spaces
helps facilitate improved cooking knowledge and
education, as well as providing valuable health and
wellbeing benefits.

As a city, we will:

•

•

•

 ork with our county neighbours to build a
W
fair and equitable food system throughout the
region. We need to acknowledge that we cannot
grow enough food within the city to feed Bristol. A
resilient, local food system will need to be built through
co-operation across local authority boundaries,
mixing urban, peri-urban and rural food production
that supports food justice. This would include growing
diverse food, providing work opportunities and paying
a fair price for produce.
 xpand the food growing capacity within the
E
city. Importantly this must also consider equity in
growing spaces across different areas of the city in
response to need. Local and ethical growing space
and produce needs to be accessible and equitable to
people from all communities and backgrounds.
 hampion food equality when considering land
C
use within the city, including equitable distribution
geographically. This will include the need to review
access to and management of allotments and
smallholdings as part of the new Parks and Green
Spaces Strategy and wider issues of city planning.

•

 hampion inclusive procurement for public
C
services in the city which promote local producers
and sustainable methods of production, building on
the work already undertaken in this area.

•

 ontinue to reduce food waste. Food waste
C
occurs at multiple levels in our food system, from
production and distribution to household food
waste. Excessive waste has a direct impact on food
inequality and also has unnecessary environmental
impact. We need to minimise waste throughout all
levels of this system, and ensure food equality is
a key consideration at all stages of this approach.
Find innovative ways of reducing and redistributing
food surplus.

•

 upport and continue to champion food
S
equality in all work streams that allowed Bristol
to become a Gold Sustainable Food city.
Ensure that the work of the Food Equality Strategy
is constantly fed into and considered throughout the
Bristol Good Food 2030 Action Plan. This will set out
the wider strategic plans for the city’s food system,
and will bring together action plans on all aspects of
the food system.

26

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Food at the heart of decision-making

Page 115

27

Food is at the heart
of community,
economy, and
city planning.

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Priority theme: Food at the heart of
decision-making

Page 116

We must put food at the heart of our decision-making
and recognise that food is a cross-cutting issue.
Addressing many of the factors that impact food
equality requires close collaboration with multiple
partners including the public sector, the private sector,
grassroots organisations, and the voluntary and
community sector. Food is at the very heart of the lives
of individuals and communities, and therefore should
be at the heart of decision making across the city.
This includes, but is not limited to, working with city
planning, transport, housing and licensing decisions,
and involves taking opportunities to work across local
authority areas to work across local authority areas to
reduce food inequality.

As a city, we will:

•

 ook at the big picture, and consider the
L
interactions of food equality with the wider
system. When addressing food equality, recognise
the integral overlap between food insecurity and
the broader work to counter poverty in the city.
This includes ensuring the work of the strategy
aligns with other council policies to maximise impact.
For example, the Bristol One City Plan 2050, the
Bristol Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2023, the One City
Climate Strategy 2020, Thrive Bristol, the Parks and
Green Spaces Strategy, the Fuel Poverty Action Plan,
and the Bristol Good Food 2030 plan (currently in
development).

•

 mbed food equality outcomes in all relevant
E
departments and work-streams across the City
and the City Council. The impacts on food equality
outcomes should be a key consideration for all
departments, and during all relevant decision making
in the city. Continue this ‘health in all policies’ approach
in development of the Food Equality Action Plan.

•

 se a One City Approach. Work closely with the
U
One City boards to ensure food equality is embedded
into their six thematic boards: Children and Young
People, Economy and Skills, Environment, Health and
Wellbeing, Homes and Communities, and Transport.
Use this Approach to promote and link the work of
food equality to have a wide range of city partners.

•

I ncentivise investment in the local food
economy, particularly in recognising the impact of
COVID-19 on food systems and hospitality sector,
and the broader economic impact of the pandemic.
Recognise the huge value of volunteers in this sector,
but set the culture of hiring from local communities
and do not create reliance on voluntary solutions.

•

 ork across local authority borders to address
W
the food inequality that exists within the current food
system. Create innovative joint approaches to tackling
food inequality with neighbouring local authorities,
identifying opportunities to have a positive impact at a
broader regional level.

•

 ristol will become a leading city in our
B
approach to addressing food inequality, and
where appropriate be vocal on the national stage in
matters where national policy or intervention will have
a significant impact on food equality.

28

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Cross-cutting
strategic aims
The following strategic aims sit across all the priority
themes and will need to be addressed in order to
maximise the impact of the strategy through the
action plan. Importantly, while this section outlines
specific cross-cutting themes that impact each of the
priority areas, the priority areas themselves should not
be seen in isolation, and should be approached together.
As a city, we will:

•

Page 117
•



 isten and respond to the needs of the
L
communities. Build working relationships with
communities throughout the ten-year strategy
timeline, actively seeking feedback and modifying our
methods and actions for maximum impact. We need
to be creative with how we engage with people and
communities, so there are a variety of ways people
can engage and get involved.
 ommit to investing in solutions. Creating fair
C
access to food will require financial investment. We
recognise that, currently, there are no funds attached
to deliver this strategy, but if the city is making a
serious commitment to achieving this aim, it must
also be prepared to provide appropriate funding
for solutions presented in the Food Equality Action
Plan. We must be prepared to take advantage
of opportunities presented by the National Food
Strategy, and to encourage, facilitate and co-ordinate
communities and organisations across the city to
apply for available funding to enable positive action.

•

 reate a system for monitoring food equality.
C
Currently data on food equality is available from
many indirect and proxy sources. Understanding the
impact it has on people’s lives, in different areas of the
city, or trends over time, can be difficult. To effectively
evaluate the impact of the strategy and action plan
a protocol for monitoring should be established.
This will include a compilation of data from diverse
sources, which takes into account data that is only
available at a national and a regional level, but also
	more targeted data and qualitative data which can
examine inequalities, trends and the lived experience
of those living with food inequality within individual
areas of the city. This should include focussed
action for groups who are under-represented in
our current data sources.

•

 evelop an accessible communications
D
strategy with information on services available
to support people experiencing food or
financial hardship. This also includes improving
communication to workers and volunteers working
in food-equality related services. This will take into
account accessibility requirements across a range
of users, for example, non-technology users and
different languages, as well as using a variety of media
both through digital, print and physical institutions
(e.g., schools and community groups). Provide
better visibility and links to promote the work of the
numerous schemes already providing support in the
city, as well as any new schemes that arise.

•

 ake a strong stance on food equality and food
T
justice issues at a regional and national level
with the aim of influencing national policy that affects
many of the determinants of food equality. We want
Bristol to be seen as a pioneering city that is leading
the fight for food justice.

Governance, oversight
and delivery
•

•

36

 he strategy is to be embedded in the ‘health and
T
well-being’ strand of the One City Approach.36
This approach brings together a huge range of public,
private, voluntary and third sector partners within
Bristol. Through work across six major thematic
boards, these partners work together with a shared
aim to make Bristol a fair, healthy and sustainable city.
Oversight for this strategy is provided by the Health
and Wellbeing Board. The strategy and Action Plan
will also be a part of the Bristol Good Food 2030
Action Plan, which is currently in development and will
have oversight from the Environment Board.
A Steering Group will be set up to oversee the
implementation of the strategy, who will be report and
be accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board.
This group will monitor progress, update the relevant
boards, and be dynamic and flexible to achieve the
aims of the strategy. This Steering Group will have a
representative membership from key partners in
www.bristolonecity.com/about-the-one-city-plan/

29

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

	the public, private and VCSE sectors in the city, as
well as representatives of the key communities and
groups most affected by food inequality. Membership
will also include 10 Food Equality Champions –
people with relevant lived experience – to represent
their communities.

•

The Stakeholder Group with a wide representation
of organisations across the city will continue to
meet regularly. Keeping the engagement of this
group through good communication and working
to encourage wide representation from the whole
system will be key to the success of achieving the
aims of this strategy and the subsequent action plan.

Monitoring and
evaluation

Risks

Monitoring and evaluation are key to understanding
the impact and success of the strategy and action plan.
Current data sources are not sufficient to adequately
assess this in our city, therefore creating a system which
will allow us to monitor this sufficiently is one of our key
strategic aims. This may involve making better use of
existing data sources, as well as potentially creating new
methods of monitoring progress.

This is an ambitious strategy, and we must
acknowledge there are risks to achieving the aims sets
out in this document.

Page 118

Sources of data that will help to inform the state of food
equality in Bristol include the national measurement of
food insecurity in the DWP Family Resources Survey;
and local data sources, such as the Bristol Quality
of Life Survey. Other proxy measures, such as Free
School Meal eligibility, Healthy Start Voucher uptake
and Universal Credit claims will continue to be used to
estimate the impact of food inequality. Work to improve
this data will overlap on broader work to counter poverty
in the city, and good quality data on food equality may
be able to provide significant useful insights to many
other areas of work. We will commit to collaboration and
ensure relevant data sharing where appropriate.
Establishing a framework for monitoring and evaluating
the impacts on food inequality will be a core aim in the
action plan, and we will endeavour to create a regular,
reliable and representative method of visualising
the state and impact of food equality work in our
city. Importantly, a key method of monitoring will be
continuing to have regular community conversations
and seeking regular feedback from affected
communities and vulnerable groups.

This strategy will require investment and currently
there are no funds attached to achieve its stated aims.
Funding will need to be secured through multiple
sources, which may include the local authority, Public
Health England, and Central Government in alliance
with city-wide efforts. An innovative and collaborative
approach to funding will be taken.
Achieving this strategy will also involve a significant shift
in behaviour, both within organisations and as a society.
We need to recognise that these changes will not
happen overnight and achieving a sustained shift in our
practices will require all people involved to be reflective,
open and committed to food equality.
A full risk register will be developed and outlined in the
Food Equality Action Plan.

37

https://sdgs.un.org/goals

38

www.bristolonecity.com/sdgs/

House of lords (2020), Hungry for change: fixing the failures in food. Report of session
2019-2020
39

30

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

National and local
policy context
This strategy sits alongside and complements a number
of local, national and international policies and strategies
to address food inequality. These have been considered
in the development of this strategy, and this section
highlights the main international and national policies
that the aims in this strategy align to.

Page 119

International – United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals. The United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) recognise the importance
of food security under their goal number two: End
Hunger. Specifically, by 2030 they set the aim to
“end hunger, achieve food security and improved
nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture”.37
Bristol is committed to delivering the SDGs locally, and
conducted a voluntary local review to map progress
against these goals in 2019.38
National Select Committee on Food, Poverty,
Health and the Environment: Hungry for change:
fixing the failures in food (July 2020). This report
looks at the links between food, inequality, public health,
and sustainability. It identifies where interventions can be
applied, or reinforced, to tackle the serious health, social
and environmental damage that is being inflicted by
the current food system. This will ensure a healthy and
sustainable diet that can be accessed by everyone.39
It makes a series of recommendations to government
that should be included in the government’s white paper
on the National Food Strategy.

National Food Strategy. Published in 2021,40
this large independent review of the food system
in England, covers all aspects of the food system,
including food production, farming and trade policy,
environmental impact and health impacts. It does not
include specific consideration of food inequality, and
especially contains little detail on food poverty. Despite
this, the recommendations in this strategy would have
several positive impacts on food equality in Bristol if
they were adopted at a national level. This is especially
true in being able to address some of the policy and
corporate determinants of food inequality which would
be impossible to meaningfully tackle independently at a
local level. Initial reaction to this strategy across politics,
the media, public institutions and private industry has
contained a lot of positive support.41 The government
will produce their White Paper response to this strategy
in 2022, at which point the impacts on the Food Equality
Strategy for Bristol will be reviewed.

• B
 y 2023 over 50 per cent of fast-food outlets in the
city sell healthy alternatives in line with the Bristol
Eating Better Awards.
• B
 y 2031 everyone has access to affordable fresh
food within a 10-minute walk from their home.
• B
 y 2036 all schools will produce and grow food for
their own use.

•

 ristol Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2023.
B
Under the section Empowering and Caring, give our
children the best start in life, and under Well-being,
tackle food and fuel poverty. This strategy is currently
being updated.

•

 ristol City Council Business Plan 2020 –
B
2021: COVID-19 Recovery Edition. Under Key
Commitment 1 – Healthy weight declaration and
Key Commitment 3 – Tackle food and fuel poverty.
These include a commitment to increase the number
of food outlets holding a Bristol Eating Better Award in
priority wards.

Local policy and strategy links
There are a number of strategies and policies in
Bristol which are relevant to food equality. Below is a
list of some of the key activities and documents. This
strategy has been developed with these in mind, and
efforts to join up, collaborate, and work alongside these
workstreams will continue through the process of
creation and delivery.

•

•

 hrive Bristol is a 10-year programme to improve
T
the mental health and well-being of everyone in
Bristol, it recognises the mental health impacts of
food insecurity.

•

 ne City Climate Strategy. Under Delivery Theme 9:
O
Food – “Developing a resilient and low carbon food
supply chain will contribute to the reduction of Bristol’s
carbon footprint whilst also improving security to the
supply chain and boosting the local food economy.
Positive change around Bristol’s food culture also

 ristol One City Plan 2050. Food equality touches
B
on multiple objectives, specifically:
• B
 y 2021 ensure Bristol is accredited as a
gold standard in the Sustainable Food City
Awards (already achieved) and establish a
legacy programme.

40

41

www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/

www.foodmanufacture.co.uk/Article/2021/07/15/National-Food-Strategy-Part-2-reaction

31

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

	provides an opportunity to engage with children and
adults about health, well-being and nutrition as well
as different cultures and diets” and “Sustainable and
low carbon food options will be available to everyone,
respectful of all dietary and cultural requirements, in
all future climates.”
 ocal Government Declaration on Healthy
L
Weight – adopted by Bristol City Council in 2020.

•

 ecovering from COVID-19 – tackling poverty
R
highlights the importance and overlap of fuel poverty
and food poverty work.

•

 haping Places for Healthier Lives – £300K
S
successful bid to address food insecurity across Bath,
North Somerset and South Gloucestershire over the
next three years.

Page 120

•

•

 he Bristol Eating Better Award is a free award for
T
food businesses that sell healthier food options and
promote sustainability. Also available for schools and
early years settings.

•

 ayoral priorities 2021 – 2024, specifically
M
under the commitment to, “Deliver our climate and
ecological plans including £1 billion investment in
clean energy, double the tree canopy, and grow
sustainable food in every ward.”

Extra pic needed here

32

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022 – 2032

Summary and next steps
This document presents a joint vision of how we can
work to achieve food equality across the city of Bristol.
It builds on the significant good work already achieved
by the numerous organisations across the city. The
priority themes and strategic aims needed to achieve
this vision are outlined and have been developed with a
large stakeholder input.
This Food Equality Strategy 2022 – 32 will feed
into the broader work of the Bristol Good Food 2030
Action Plan and will ensure that equality is a key
consideration in all decisions relating to food in the city.

Page 121

A Food Equality Action Plan will be developed to
bring together key stakeholders under each strategic
area to set commitments for how we will achieve each
desired goal, and priorities to address the greatest needs.
A Food Equality Steering Group will be set up to
monitor and ensure progress against these areas and
provide accountability through the One City Approach
via the relevant boards, and through feedback to the
wider stakeholder consultation group. A key measure
of success and accountability will be the ongoing
engagement with the residents and communities
affected by food inequality, to ensure the actions taken
are co-designed and meet their needs in an equitable
manner. Through promotion of this strategy and ongoing
collaborative work with partners across the city, we
believe we can embed considerations of food equality
across all decision making in our city. Following these
steps will allow us to achieve our ambitious aim to
achieve food equality for all residents in the city
of Bristol.

33

Note – this report contains final wording but final formatting and
design is ongoing.

Page 122

Contents
Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1
Consultation outline and scope ............................................................................................. 2
Summary of key findings ................................................................................................... 3
Consultation methodology ..................................................................................................... 3
Online Survey .................................................................................................................... 4
Targeted face-to-face consultation .................................................................................... 6
Publicity and Promotion ........................................................................................................ 7
Response rate and respondent characteristic analysis .......................................................... 8
Online survey analysis ........................................................................................................ 17
Overall themes ................................................................................................................ 17
Priority One: Fair, equitable access ................................................................................. 18
Priority Two: Choice and security .................................................................................... 21
Priority Three: Skills and resources ................................................................................. 25
Priority Four: Sustainable local food system .................................................................... 28
Priority Five: Food at the heart of decision-making .......................................................... 31
Priority Six: Cross cutting strategic aims .......................................................................... 34
Face-to-face consultation analysis ...................................................................................... 36
Other correspondence ........................................................................................................ 39
How will this report be used? .............................................................................................. 39
How can I keep track?......................................................................................................... 39

Introduction
The One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022-32 is designed to address the
inequalities in the food system in Bristol, including food insecurity. A draft has been
developed through a process of involvement and consultation with stakeholders and
residents throughout 2021. This draft strategy aims to align and work alongside other
initiatives that seek to tackle poverty and inequality in the city. This strategy is
intended to provide the framework for an action plan which will be developed in early
2022, which will set out the plan for how to achieve the aims laid out in this strategy.
A public consultation on the draft One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022-32
was open between the 11th November 2021 to the 23rd December 2021. This report

Page 123

1

presents the methodology and findings of this consultation. It does not contain any
assessment of the feasibility of any of the suggestions received.
The findings from this report will be presented to the Food Equality Consultation
Task group as well as to a development session of the Health and Wellbeing Board
of Bristol City council in January 2021. From this, amendments will be agreed and
changes made to the final strategy to reflect the findings of the public consultation.
This consultation report will be published on the Bristol City Council website,
alongside any changes made to the final strategy.
The final strategy draft will be reviewed by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 27th
February 2022 for recommendation and sign off.

Consultation outline and scope
Public consultation of the draft One City Food Equality Strategy took place between
the 11th November and the 23rd December 2021. The draft strategy presents five
priority themes and one additional cross cutting theme for action to tackle food
inequality. The consultation sought feedback on these six areas:
●

Fair, equitable access

●

Everyone in the city is able to access food that is appropriate for their
dietary needs, is culturally appropriate, and affordable.
Choice and security

●

Everyone can make decisions about their relationship with food and are
free from the anxiety and stress of food insecurity
Skills and resources
People and communities are equipped with knowledge, skills and
facilities

●

Sustainable local food system
A resilient and environmentally sustainable local food system.

●

Food at the heart of decision-making
Food at the heart of community, economy, and city planning.

●

Cross-cutting strategic aims
Strategic aims that sit across all the priority themes

Page 124

2

The consultation aimed to gather perspectives from the residents of Bristol on the
draft strategy, to ensure it meets the needs and desires of the population and use
these to inform changes to the strategy. It also aimed to gather opinions that will feed
into the development and implementation of the subsequent action plan.
The consultation consisted of both an online survey and face-to-face consultations.
Respondents were asked to complete a Likert scale multiple choice question of how
much they agreed with each priority theme, and also had an open question to
provide any additional thoughts on each area in a free-text response box. Finally,
respondents were asked to provide any actions they wished to see in a free-text box.

Summary of key findings
A total of 64 people completed the online survey. All respondents were resident
within Bristol. An average of 88% of the responses were ‘agree’ or ‘strongly agree’,
8% were ‘neither agree nor disagree, and 5% were ‘disagree’ or ‘strongly disagree’.
Free text responses provided specific feedback on wording, and in particular areas
where the wording could be clarified. There were also a number of recurring themes
which were evident throughout the responses. Finally, a number of proposed actions
have been made which will be taken forward into development of the action plan.

Consultation methodology
A Food Equality Strategy Task group was created oversee the development and
implementation of the public consultation, and to review the results. This included
representation from Feeding Bristol, various departments in Bristol City Council, and
VCSE organisations working on food equality in the city.
The public consultation consisted of two approaches:
1. An online survey hosted on the Bristol City Council website
2. Targeted face-to-face consultations with people directly affected by the
food inequality.
The questions used in both of these approaches were identical. There were two
methods of questioning:

Page 125

3

●

A Likert scale multiple choice question asking how much the participant
agreed with each of the six priority themes, rating them from strongly
agree to strongly disagree

●

An open question asking for participant’s opinion on each section, with a
free text response.

Online Survey
An online survey was developed with the Bristol City Council consultation team. It
was hosted on the ‘smartsurvey’ platform, and was accessed via a link on the Bristol
‘Citizenspace’ website of Bristol City Council between 11th November and the 23rd
December 20211. Paper copies of the survey were available on request.
The survey contained the following information as context for the survey questions:
● An overview and rationale behind the draft Food Equality Strategy
detailing how it has been developed
● Details of what food inequality is and how it affects people in Bristol
● A link to an online version of the Draft Food Equality Strategy for Bristol
2022-20322
● A link to the Equality Impact Assessment - Food Equality Strategy for
Bristol 2022-20323
● Details of the next steps, including development of a Food Equality
Action Plan in early 2022
● A short summary of each priority theme, along with a full list of strategic
aims that fall under that priority.

1

Hosted at https://bristol.citizenspace.com/public-health/one-city-food-equality-strategy-for-bristol/
Available at https://bristol.citizenspace.com/public-health/one-city-food-equality-strategy-forbristol/supporting_documents/BD13463a%20Food%20Strategy%20Action%20Plan%20FINAL%20RE
V.pdf
3Available at https://bristol.citizenspace.com/public-health/one-city-food-equality-strategy-forbristol/supporting_documents/Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20%20Food%20Equality%20Stra
tegy%20%20Action%20Plan%20FINAL%20%20signed%20off.pdf
2

Page 126

4

The online survey had two sections:
Part A
A multiple-choice question asking respondents how much they agree with
each priority theme, with responses on a Likert scare from ‘strongly agree’ to
‘strongly disagree'. For each priority theme this was followed by a free-text
box with an open question to add any further comments.
Part B
A free text box asking respondents for ideas for specific actions that want to
see/would be important to see included in the Action Plan.
The final part of the online survey was an ‘About you’ section. This requested
information which helps the council to check if the respondents were representative
of people across the city who may have different needs. Respondents were asked to
provide the following:
●

Home postcode – this identifies if any parts of the city are underrepresented in responding to the consultation and it can show if people
from more deprived areas of the city have different views compared to
people living in less deprived areas.

●

Equalities monitoring information – this enables the council to check if we
receive responses from people with protected characteristics under the
Equality Act 2010.

●

Other information about respondents; for example, whether they are a
council employee, a councillor, or represent a local business.

●

How respondents found out about the consultation – to help the council
publicise future consultations effectively. Respondents could choose to
answer some or all of the questions in any order and save and return to
the survey later.

Page 127

5

Analysis of results
The responses to the Likert scale multiple choice questions were analysed with
simple presentation of the results of how many people responded in each category.
Graphs were created in Microsoft Excel to present these results.
The free text responses were reviewed in the ‘Smart Survey, Text analysis’ tool.
Each response was coded by what the subject of the response referred to. One code
was applied for every subject within a response, and multiple codes could be applied
to one response. The number of each response referring to each subject is
presented in narrative form for each priority theme. Simple thematic analysis was
applied to these codes to establish any overarching themes present across the
responses, which are presented in a separate section.

Targeted face-to-face consultation
It was recognised that some of the people most affected by food inequality may also
be less likely or able to complete an online survey.
To address this, a series of face-to-face consultations were planned with people
directly impacted by issues of food equality at venues where people were
congregating, for example at food banks, good clubs, or groups representing
communities of interest (e.g. people experiencing homelessness). To extend the
reach of this face-to-face consultation, the food equality stakeholder network was
asked to support this element through directly facilitating consultations. A facilitation
pack (available on request) was created in order to help support the stakeholder
network in facilitating these conversations independently. This was discussed and
distributed at a food equality stakeholder event.
Unfortunately, due to the Omicron wave of COVID-19 and the plan-B control
measures that were put in to place, only one face-to-face consultation session was
conducted. This took place in Stockwood Children’s centre (food club) on Tuesday
8th December.

Page 128

6

Alternative formats
Paper copies of the draft strategy were provided to all (open) libraries in Bristol – 25
in total. These were provided alongside a poster advertising the consultation and a
link to the online survey, as well as paper copies of the survey which could be
completed and returned to the library staff.
Alternative formats such as translated copies of the draft strategy and survey were
available on request.
Other correspondence
Some emails providing feedback were also received in response to the consultation.
These have been included in the report alongside the other findings.

Publicity and Promotion
The draft Food Equality Strategy consultation was promoted and distributed in the
following ways:
●

Emailed to the Food Equality Strategy stakeholder group (70 +
organisations) and asked to distribute amongst their networks.

●

Email to the Bristol City Council consultation mailing list

● Email to the Bristol City Council Health and Wellbeing Board
distribution list
●

Email to all elected members (councillors) of Bristol City Council

●

Promoted in a blog post about food inequality on the Bristol Food
Network website

●

Promoted in a blog post about food inequality on Bristol City Council’s
‘Mayor’s blog’

● Promoted on Feeding Bristol’s social media (Twitter and Facebook)
● Promoted in posts on all Bristol City Council social media platforms
(Twitter, Facebook, Next Door and Instagram) every week in
December with increased posts at launch, ‘two weeks left’ and in the
final days.

Page 129

7

● Shared via social media platforms of members of the stakeholder
group
●

Paper copy of the draft strategy and survey in 25 libraries in Bristol

Response rate and respondent characteristic
analysis
Response rate to the survey
The online survey received 64 responses. All respondents completed the
consultation between 11th November and 23rd December 2021. No responses were
received by paper copies. Five people were survey in face-to-face consultation, the
results of which are presented after the online survey responses.
Survey Results – Respondent characteristics
All comparators have been taken from the Equalities statistics briefing note from
Bristol City Council in July 20214. Notably, this is largely based off the ONS census
data from 2011 (with some additional mid-year estimated where available).
Geographic distribution of responses
57 respondents (90%) provided of their home address postcode. The respondents
lived in multiple wards across the city, as presented in the table one. The wards with
the largest number of respondents were central, Ashley, Westbury-on-Trym and
Henleaze, St George West, and Redland.

4

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Equalities+Statistics+for+Bristol+what+is+availabl
e+and+where+to+get+it+20+Oct+2020.pdf/32e0a0c7-5338-0e9d-96fd-6f906c8286b2

Page 130

8

Table one – ward of residence of respondents, based on their home postcode

Ward of residence
Ashley
Bedminster
Bishopston and Ashley Down
Bishopsworth
Brislington East
Brislington West
Central
Clifton Down
Cotham
Easton
Eastville
Filton
Filwood
Frome Vale
Hartcliffe and Withywood
Henbury and Brentry
Hengrove and Whitchurch Park
Horfield
Hotwells and Harbourside

Number of
Respondents
5
1
1
1
1
1
6
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1
3
1
1

Response rate from areas of high and low deprivation
The home postcodes of respondents were matched to the index of multiple
deprivation for their Lower-Super output area (LSOA). This provides an estimation of
the deprivation of the location (based on national criteria), which is divided into five
groups from most deprived to least deprived (deprivation quintiles).5 Figure One
presents the number of respondents whose home postcode is in each deprivation
quintile.

5

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) publishes information about deprivation for 32,844 small
areas - known as ‘Lower Super Output Areas’ (LSOAs) - throughout England. For each of these
areas, a measure of deprivation is published called ‘Indices of Multiple Deprivation’ (IMD), which takes
into account 37 aspects of each area that cover income, employment, education, health, crime,
barriers to housing and services, and living environment. The postcodes provided by respondents to
the consultation enabled each respondent to be matched to one of the 263 Lower Super Output Areas
that cover the Bristol City Council area and thus to one of the deprivation deciles. Note that postcodes
provide approximate locations; they are not used to identify individuals or specific addresses.

Page 131

9

Figure One – comparison of response rates from each deprivation quintile, based on
respondent home postcode matched to the Index of Multiple deprivation at that
location.

Overall, there was a good spread of respondents from different wards in the city.
There were respondents from all deprivation quintiles, but with slightly more
respondents from less deprived areas of the city.

Characteristics of respondents
62 respondents (98%) answered one or more of the equalities monitoring questions.
Respondent characteristics are summarised below.
Age
62 respondents (98%) provided an answer for age. Figure Two presents the age of
respondents compared to the population of Bristol.
Figure Two – ages of respondents compared to Bristol population.

Page 132

10

This graph shows that our respondents were mainly working age adults and early
retirement age. There was low representation from people aged under 25 or over 74.
Sex
60 respondents (95%) provided an answer for Sex. Figure three presents the sex of
respondents compared to the population of Bristol. The comparison data for this
comes from the national ONS census which does not collect data on trans or gender
non-conforming gender identities. A reliable comparator of the proportion of these
other genders in Bristol does not exist at this time.

Page 133

11

Figure Three – sex of respondents compared to Bristol population.

This graph shows that we had a higher proportion of female respondents than the
Bristol population. There was little representation from trans or non-binary genders.
Disability
57 respondents (90%) provided an answer for if they considered themselves
disabled. For comparison purposes against the population data, the census data
does not ask people if they consider themselves to be disabled, but rather ‘Are your
day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has
lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? Include problems related to old
age?’. The choice for responses in the census are: Yes, limited a lot / Yes, limited a
little / No . As per Bristol City Council standard, we have used the proportion of
people who responded as ‘Limited a lot’ as the proxy comparator measure for
Disability data. Figure Four presents the number of respondents who are disabled.

Page 134

12

Figure Four – respondents who are disabled compared to Bristol population.

Overall, this shows a reasonable number of disabled people who responded to the
survey. However, the numbers are overall small.
Ethnicity
57 respondents (90%) provided an answer for their ethnicity. Figure Five presents
the ethnicity of respondents compared to the Bristol population.
Figure Five – ethnicity of respondents compared to Bristol population.

Page 135

13

Overall, there was reasonable representation of ethnicities in Bristol compared to the
baseline population. There were no respondents were from Gypsy, Roma, or
Traveller groups. The overall numbers were small for each non White-British
ethnicity.
Religion
55 respondents (87%) provided an answer for their religion. Figure Six presents the
religion of respondents compared to the Bristol population.
Figure Six – religion of respondents compared to Bristol population.

Overall this question received a low response rate compared to other questions in
the survey. There was a higher proportion of people of no religion who responded to
the survey. There was a lower proportion of Muslim respondents than would be
expected compared to the Bristol population. There were no respondents from
Jewish or Sikh religion.
Sexual Orientation
55 respondents (87%) provided an answer for their Sexual Orientation. Data on
sexual orientation is not collected by the national census and therefore we do not
have this for a comparator. The Bristol Quality of Life survey asks respondents if
they identify as ‘lesbian, gay, or bisexual’. Based on an average of the responses
from the 2018, 2019 and 2020 survey Bristol City Council estimate that 9.1% of the

Page 136

14

population in Bristol identify as lesbian, gay, or bisexual. No data is collected on
other sexual identities. Figure sever presents the sexual orientation of the
respondents of the survey.
Figure Seven – sexual orientation of survey respondents. No comparators are
available.

Overall this question received a low response rate compared to other questions in
the survey. There was reasonable representation of LGBTQ+ sexualities overall, but
low numbers for specific sexual orientations.
Gender Reassignment
54 respondents (85%) provided an answer for if they had gone through part of a
gender reassignment process or intend to. Of these, all 54 responded no that they
have not been through any part of the gender re-assignment. No data on
transgender or gender non-conforming identities is available from the national
census data. The Bristol Quality of life survey asks ‘do you think of yourself as a
transgender person’ but the respondent numbers are too small to provide an
accurate estimate of the number of transgender or gender non-conforming persons
in Bristol.

Page 137

15

Maternity and Pregnancy
58 respondents (92%) provided an answer for if they were pregnant or had given
birth in the past 26 weeks. Of these, 57/58 (95%) answered no and 1/58 (1.7%)
answered yes. No comparison data is available.
Refugee or asylum seeker
58 respondents (91%) provided an answer for if they a refugee or asylum seeker.
0% responded that they were a refugee or asylum seeker. There is no comparison
data available for the number of refugee or asylum seekers in Bristol.
Other respondent characteristics
The survey asked people to choose the best description of their situation from the
options seen in table two. 62 respondents (98%) responded. Figure Eight presents
the proportion of responded per category. Respondents could choose more than one
category.
Table Two – respondent characteristics categories and proportion of respondents
who chose this.
Characteristic
Member of the public
Business owner/representative
Food industry representative or group
Interest group
Voluntary, Community or Social Enterprise
organisation
MP
Councillor
BCC staff
Volunteer in a charity
Alderman

Page 138

% Respondents
80.6%
4.8%
3.2%
4.8%
9.7%
0.0%
3.2%
8.1%
1.6%
1.6%

16

Online survey analysis
This section presents the responses to the online survey for each priority theme. It
also considers the overall themes that were seen in responses throughout the
survey. These overall results are considered first.

Overall themes
In general, people tended to either uniformly agree or uniformly disagree with the
questions across all priority areas – i.e., few respondents agreed with some priorities
but disagreed with others.
In the free-text answers, a number of recurring themes were present across answers
to all priorities. These were:
● Respondents emphasised the need to ensure this work takes a
participative and inclusive approach. Specifically, that the strategy and
subsequent action plan is developed and delivered in collaboration with
individuals experiencing food inequality, with communities, and with a
diverse range of sectors including the VCSE sector, anchor
organisations and corporates.
● Education was a significant theme in respondents’ feedback - with
particular emphasis placed on the role of school education and other
targeted cooking and growing sessions for adults.
● Schools were raised as important in setting an example of food culture
and learning and considered gatekeepers to communities.
● A common theme throughout the survey responses referred to
concerns around land use - in particular, the pressure placed on using
land for housing vs food growing.
● Food growing was brought up across the themes, highlighting the
positive impact that access to community sites for growing can have on
access, and health and wellbeing.
● Significantly, respondents emphasised the need to consider this
strategy and subsequent actions in relation to a whole system
approach - in particular in accordance with other initiatives on poverty.

Page 139

17

● There were notable concerns about how this strategy would be funded.

Priority One: Fair, equitable access
94% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include priority
one: fair access, with 4 out of every 5 respondents agreeing strongly. 3% did not
agree or disagree and 3% strongly disagreed.
Table Three – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 1?
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority 1?
Response
Answer Choice
Response Total
Percent
1 Strongly agree
82.5%
52
2 Agree
11.1%
7
3 Neither agree nor disagree
3.2%
2
4 Disagree
0.0%
0
5 Strongly disagree
3.2%
2
answered
63
skipped
1

These percentages were reflected in the responses to the specific strategic aims,
with the notable exception that whilst there were only 2 people who disagreed with
the overall inclusion of this as a priority, there were 3 or 4 people who disagreed with
each priority aim.

Page 140

18

Figure Eight – responses to individual aims of priority 1

Key
1
2
3
4

Actively investigate and take stock of the specific issues and barriers to accessing
nutritious, appropriate food in the most deprived wards and for at-risk communities of
interest
Take time and use a participatory approach to understand barriers and needs.
Recognise and understand that the definition of ‘good access’ to food may differ for
different communities, and take action in working to address this.
Support diversity of shops that increase access to fresh food.

Free-text responses
23 (36%) respondents provided additional free-text comments under this priority
area. These provided a scope of priorities respondents wish to see represented in
this area. Comments in favour of the priority are presented first, followed by those
which disagree.

Page 141

19

In favour of this priority:
●

Five respondents talked about the priority of directly engaging and actively
researching local needs as a key facilitator for this work to be successful.

●

Five respondents commented on the importance of education and schools
in providing people knowledge about the right types of foods to be buying
and also about food growing. One of these highlighted the potential
important role school meals could play in providing and demonstrating
good food to students.

●

Three respondents highlighted improving opportunities and space for
growing food as a priority.

●

Two outlined the important of considering specific dietary requirements
under this priority theme: including religious and cultural requirements as
well as medical/allergy needs.

●

One respondent provided specific comments on how to improve access
for disabled people by ensure blue badge parking spaces outside local
food selling businesses.

●

One respondent wishes to see more fresh and nutritious options at food
banks, not just canned goods.

●

One respondent commented on the importance of restricting ‘the
proliferation’ of fast-food outlets.

●

One respondent talked about their perceived ‘gentrification of good food’
in Bristol, and said efforts need to be made to de-gentrify the good food
efforts to open up to all.

Demonstrative quotes:
“I live fairly central. It's not a deprived area but access (by foot) to good fresh food at
a reasonable price is limited because all we have are metro shops with limited range
and higher prices. As lots of people will be moving here and into affordable housing
this lack of local access to a big supermarket(s) will be worse.”
“I think it is really important to provide culturally appropriate food. Whilst working with
destitute asylum seekers during the pandemic, one of the issues that we had in
providing food for our members was getting culturally appropriate food. They require

Page 142

20

halal meat and do not have vegetables such as cabbage, swede, turnips, cauliflower,
brussel sprouts, pumpkin etc. The issue is that fundamentally they don't eat it and
they do not know how to cook it and don't like the taste of the food.
This means that firstly it is not addressing their need but secondly that food is being
wasted. It is very important that adequate research is undertaken in understanding
the needs of our communities and providing workable solutions as opposed to what
we think they require.”
Disagree with this priority:
●

One response outlined that especially during this time of economic
difficulty, this should not be a priority for the local authority, and that
people’s benefits should cover the costs of buying good food.

Summary of responses for priority one
This priority has the most positive responses across the board for the priority aims.
The comments have provided examples which demonstrate specific issues needed
to address expanding access.

Priority Two: Choice and security
87.5% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include priority
two: choice, empowerment, and a feeling of security. Nearly 2 out of every 3
respondents strongly agreed with this. 1 out of every 10 respondents neither agreed
nor disagreed, and one respondent (1.6%) disagreed strongly.

Page 143

21

Table Four – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 2?
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority 2?
Response
Response
Answer Choice
Percent
Total
1 Strongly agree
64.1%
41
2 Agree
23.4%
15
3 Neither agree nor disagree
10.9%
7
4 Disagree
0.0%
0
5 Strongly disagree
1.6%
1
answered
64
skipped
0

The responses to the specific strategic aims similarly showed mainly ‘agree’ or
‘strongly agree’ in a similar ratio to the overall response to this priority. There was
some variation in response to the specific strategic aims, with three of the aims
receiving 80% or less of the respondents in agreement: (build resilience through
prevention, expand the use of food as a tool to access other support and services,
increase choice and empowerment in food offers).

Page 144

22

Figure Nine – responses to individual aims of priority 2

Key
1

Listen and respond to the needs of the communities.

2

Empower communities to have a platform to make change.

3

Build resilience through prevention

4

Expand the use of food as a tool to access other support and services.

5

Increase choice and empowerment in food offers

6

Reduce the risk of stigma in programmes that address food inequality.

7

Maximise income for residents.

Free-text responses
15 (24%) respondents provided additional free-text comments under this priority
area. There was a wide range of comments that did not neatly fit into analysis
groups. A summary of the main points is presented below.

Page 145

23

In favour of this priority:
●

Four respondents talked about the importance of education for this
priority, in particular how to cook with a range of nutritious and affordable
meals. One talked about linking up with courses offering horticultural
studies.

●

Two talked about the priority providing housing for the city, and that
without addressing this it’s difficult to make a true impact on food equality.

●

One respondent highlighted how food could be used to link to other
services and benefits, employment or debt advice.

●

One mentioned the importance of strong communications with the
community, that can inspire joint working schemes and pay-it-forward
initiatives.

●

One highlighted the need to reduce some of the jargon in this section of
the strategy

Disagree with this priority:
● One respondent disagreed that this should be within the council’s remit.
Demonstrative quote:
“Again, this is well-intentioned but unrealistic. It is not for the Council to "expand the
use of food as a tool to access other support and services" (indeed, what does that
even mean?). It is not for the Council to "maximise income for residents". It is a
wholly inappropriate use of Council resources and taxpayers' money.”
Summary of responses for priority two
87.5% of respondents agreed with the inclusion of this priority, but there was a lower
proportion of these who ‘strongly agreed’ with this priority area than some other
priorities. There was also some variation to the extent people agreed with the
individual priority aims. The free-text comments provided some useful ideas for
inclusion in the strategy. Some of the free-text responses were not relevant to this
section and have been included in the overall analysis section.

Page 146

24

Priority Three: Skills and resources
90% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include priority
three: People and communities are equipped with knowledge, skills and facilities. 8%
neither agreed nor disagreed and one person strongly disagreed.
Table Five – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 3?
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority 3?
Response
Response
Answer Choice
Percent
Total
1 Strongly agree
79.0%
49
2 Agree
11.3%
7
3 Neither agree nor disagree
8.1%
5
4 Disagree
0.0%
0
5 Strongly disagree
1.6%
1
answered
62
skipped
2

There was strong support for the individual strategic aims in this area, with all aims
having over 85% of respondents saying they agree or strongly agree. The exception
to this was for aim three: Take specific focussed action to reduce food inequality for
children and young people. This aim had the highest proportion of people responding
‘strongly agree’ (80%) but also had the largest proportion of people who neither
agreed nor disagreed (9%).

Page 147

25

Figure Ten – responses to individual aims of priority 3

Key
1
2
3
4
5

Address barriers posed by lack of facilities or equipment.
Build and strengthen facilities and assets already in the community.
Take specific focussed action to reduce food inequality for children and young people.
Promote food related topics and skills education in schools, colleges and early years
settings.
Expand food related education beyond school age.

Free-text responses
18 people provided additional free-text comments under this priority area.
In favour of this priority:
● Seven respondents talked about the importance of education in schools to
include practical skills in the growing and use of food. This also included
the importance of not only knowing how to use food, but of having a
deeper connection and understanding of where it comes from.
● Four additionally commented on the value of adult learning in this area.

Page 148

26

● Two also talked about the importance of school meals to provide a strong
example of good food and to limit unhealthy options in this environment.
● Two mentioned the overlap with the broader work to counter poverty in
the city, and in particular fuel poverty.
● Two mentioned that starting consideration of education needs to start at
the antenatal stage as important.
Demonstrative quote:
“I am a comfortably off, informed person who has the time, domestic space and
facilities, knowledge and garden space to shop for bargains, grow a large proportion
of what I eat and be able to preserve or keep immediately surplus food; I am
constantly amazed by how little it costs for me to eat a good, wholesome and healthy
diet. I would like to see others, less for fortunate that myself, have the tools to do as I
am able to.”
Disagree with this priority:
● One respondent disagreed that this should be within the council’s remit.
Demonstrative quote:
“I agree that skills such as cooking should be taught in school (it was when I was at
school) and that children and young people should also be taught about food and
nutrition. Beyond that I consider it beyond the Council's remit to do such things as
"take specific focused action to reduce food inequality" - again, what does that even
mean?”
Summary of responses for priority three
Overall, there was a larger proportion of support across the responses for priority
three than other priority themes. Education comes up as a core theme across freetext responses throughout the survey, and respondents clearly value this as a tool to
reduce food inequality. The strategic aim to take specific action to focus on children
and young people was the most divisive aim, with the highest proportion of people
strongly agreeing with this aim, but the lowest overall agreement compared to the

Page 149

27

other aims in this priority. The small number of responses prevents statistical
conclusions on the significance of this to be drawn.

Priority Four: Sustainable local food system
95% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include priority
four: A resilient and sustainable local food system. Two respondents neither agreed
nor disagreed, and one strongly disagreed.
Table Six – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 4?
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority 4?
Response
Response
Answer Choice
Percent
Total
1 Strongly agree
77.0%
47
2 Agree
18.0%
11
3 Neither agree nor disagree
3.3%
2
4 Disagree
0.0%
0
5 Strongly disagree
1.6%
1
answered
61
skipped
3

There was some variation in the responses for individual aims for priority four. All of
the aims had greater than 80% respondents choosing agree or strongly agree. There
was however a significant proportion of people who neither agreed or disagreed with
aim four (champion inclusive procurement for public services in the city) and six
(Support and continue to champion food equality in all work streams that allowed
Bristol to become a Gold Sustainable Food city). At least 5% of respondents
disagreed with aim one (Work with our neighbours to build a fair and equitable food
system throughout the region), two (Expand the food growing capacity within the
city), and three (Champion food equality when considering land use within the city).

Page 150

28

Figure Eleven – responses to individual aims of priority 4

Key
1

Work with our neighbours to build a fair and equitable food system throughout the region.

2

Expand the food growing capacity within the city.

3

Champion food equality when considering land use within the city.

4

Champion inclusive procurement for public services in the city.

5

Continue to reduce food waste.
Support and continue to champion food equality in all work streams that allowed Bristol to
become a Gold Sustainable Food city.

6

Free-text responses
20 (31%) respondents provided additional free-text comments under this priority
area.
In favour of this priority:
● Eight responses talked about the priority of increasing or facilitating
access to growing space within the city. Three of these indicated that the

Page 151

29

council should prioritise this over building developments. One suggested
use of vertical farming in the Bristol area.
● Two talked about the importance of ensuring locally produced food can be
conveniently accessed.
● Two talked about improving household food waste collection. One
suggestion was to provide free food-waste bin liners to low-income
households.
● Two responses talked of the importance to improve commercial food
waste
● Two responses highlighted the important overlap with ensuring a good
transport system.
● Two responses talked about the greenbelt in the city and the opportunity
to use this as growing space.
● One comment mentioned that more research might be needed to
understand the overlaps and impacts of Bristol’s good system across the
region.
Disagree with this priority:
● One respondent commented that Bristol having limited space available,
needs to focus on housing as a priority before growing spaces.
● One respondent noted that this may not be a priority for all within the city,
and the importance of recognising individual priorities in this area.
Summary of responses for priority four
This priority had one of the highest proportions of overall agreement (95% of
respondents). However, individual priorities had more variety and had more
disagreement than any other area of the strategy. 6% of respondents disagreed with
increasing use of land for growing space in the city, with comments in the free text
suggesting prioritising housing as a more important issue. It is notable in the
demographics of responders that a number have involvement in working in housing
within the council. This was the only priority area where none of the free-text
responses contained a fundamental disagreement with the core concept of the
priority.

Page 152

30

Priority Five: Food at the heart of decision-making
87% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include priority
five. 11% neither agreed nor disagreed. One respondent disagreed with this priority.
No respondents strongly disagreed.
Table Seven – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 5?
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority
5?
Response
Response
Answer Choice
Percent
Total
1 Strongly agree
66.1%
41
2 Agree
21.0%
13
3 Neither agree nor disagree
11.3%
7
4 Disagree
1.6%
1
5 Strongly disagree
0.0%
0
answered
62
skipped
2

There was some individual variation in the responses to the individual aims of this
priority. Overall, there was a lower proportion of respondents who strongly agreed
with the aims in this priority. Every aim in this priority had between 6% and 15%
respondents who neither agreed or disagreed. There were also at least 2
respondents who disagreed with each aim. Aim three (Use the One City approach)
had the lowest percentage of ‘strongly agree’ responses of any aim in the strategy
(55%).

Page 153

31

Figure Twelve – responses to individual aims of priority 5

Key

2

Look at the big picture, and consider the interactions of food equality with the wider
system.
Apply a ‘health in all policies’ approach to embed food equality.

3

Use the One City approach.

4

Incentivise investment in the local food economy.

5

Work across local authority borders.

6

Bristol will become a leading city in our approach to addressing food inequality.

1

Free-text responses
14 (22%) respondents provided additional free-text comments under this priority
area.
In favour of this priority:
● Two respondents commented on how Bristol could become a trailblazer
nationally in taking this approach.
● Two talked about the need for wider system change at a national level.

Page 154

32

● One talked about the need to ensure we do not rely on volunteers for
service provision in this area
● One mentioned the importance of wider communication of the issue of
food inequality in the city, particularly to areas of the city where this
problem is less visible.
● One mentioned the perceived gentrification of good food in the city.
Demonstrative quote:
“Creativity and collaboration will be needed beyond the planning stage. Local
government, local businesses and local communities should not try and make the
delivery someone else's problem. This is not something to be delegated to citizens
only.”
Disagree with this priority:
● One respondent disagreed with using a one city approach
● One respondent disagreed with this priority as it did not make sense and
could not see how it would tangibly make a difference on the ground.
Demonstrative quote:
“The One City approach is not open nor scrutinised. It should not be used for such
an important strategy.”
Summary of responses for priority five
Overall, this priority had less respondents strongly agreeing with the individual aims.
There was specific disagreement with the use of the One City approach from one
respondent. There was a larger proportion of people not agreeing or disagreeing,
which may possibly relate to the comments seen that this section contains difficult
wording and the difficultly of being able to perceive a tangible benefit from it.

Page 155

33

Priority Six: Cross cutting strategic aims
61 (95%) respondents completed responses for priority six (lower than other priority
areas). 86% of respondents agreed that the Food Equality strategy should include
priority six. 8% neither agreed nor disagreed. 4% disagreed with this priority.
Table Eight – responses to question ‘Do you agree or disagree the strategy should
include Priority 6?’
Do you agree or disagree the strategy should include Priority 6?
Response
Response
Answer Choice
Percent
Total
1 Strongly agree
54.1%
33
2 Agree
32.8%
20
3 Neither agree nor disagree
8.2%
5
4 Disagree
1.6%
1
5 Strongly disagree
3.3%
2
answered
61
skipped
3

There was relative consistency in the responses to the individual strategic aims.
Overall there high agreement with the aims, with each receiving greater than 85%
agree or strongly agree. However, there was a low percentage of respondents who
strongly agreed with the aims compared to other priorities, with less than 60%
strongly agreeing with aims 1-3. The exception to this is aim 4 (Take a strong stance
on food equality and food justice issues at a regional and national level) which 73%
respondents strongly agreed with. Each aim had between 5%-6% respondents who
neither agreed or disagreed. Equally, between 5% and 6% of respondents disagreed
with each aim.

Page 156

34

Figure Thirteen – responses to individual aims of priority 6

Key
1

Commit to investing in solutions

2

Create a system for monitoring food equality

3

Develop an accessible communications strategy
Take a strong stance on food equality and food justice issues at a regional and national
level

4

Free-text responses
9 (14%) respondents provided additional free-text comments under this priority area.
In favour of this priority:
● One talked about the need for wider system change at a national level.
● One talked the potential of contacting a specific named MP as a champion
for this cause.
● One commented on the overlap with the broader work to counter poverty
in the city.

Page 157

35

● One mentioned the potential for Bristol to become a trailblazer in this work
nationally.
● One noted the importance of communications, and in particular to create a
common platform for organisations and individuals working in this area
through the council website
Disagree with this priority:
● Two respondents noted the challenges that will be present in trying to
monitor the impact of this strategy
● One commented that this priority had a lot of Jargon and provided few
solutions.
Demonstrative quote:
“We have found there is stigma around food insecurity/poverty and so any
monitoring must not assume that people experiencing it will pro-actively
engage in monitoring.”
Summary of responses for priority Six
Overall this priority had less respondents strongly agreeing with the individual aims.
Comments noted the challenges of putting the aims of this strategy into action.

Face-to-face consultation analysis
One face-to-face consultation took place at a food club meeting at Stockwood
Children’s centre on the 8th of December 2021. One member of the strategy task
group was present on site and gathered feedback from five people attending the
food club. A brief verbal summary of each priority area was given, before asking for
feedback. Notes on the responses were recorded on paper. All COVID-19 guidelines
were followed when conducting these interviews. No personal characteristics were
taken during these interviews. The results are summarised below.

Page 158

36

Priority One
5/5 (100%) face-to-face respondents strongly agreed with priority one: Everyone in
the city is able to access food that is appropriate for their dietary needs, is culturally
appropriate and affordable. Comments during discussion of this priority included:
● “Schools should provide breakfast for all children so that all children
have a healthy and good start before they start the day and so it
doesn’t single out those needy children”
● “There needs to a better promotion of the services so people know
what there is available to them where they live… People just don’t
know about things”
● “Food clubs are still too expensive and are not accessible for some
people that really need it”
● “Transport and infrastructure for food is a massive issue and needs
addressing across the city”
● “In some places there are just no shops or supermarkets available to
people, that makes it really difficult for people to access food”
Priority Two
5/5 (100%) face-to-face respondents strongly agreed with priority two: Everyone can
make decisions about their relationships with food and are free from anxiety and the
stress of food insecurity. Comments during discussion of this priority included:
● “It is important to consider a really holistic support to people struggling
with food, like managing debt and cooking skills for example”.
●

“You have to create a community before you empower a community”

● “Without food clubs I don’t know what I would do, they are a life saver
and means that I can give my children decent food which is really
important to me.”
Priority Three
5/5 face-to-face respondents strongly agreed with priority three: people and
communities are equipped with knowledge, skills and facilities that allows them to

Page 159

37

foster a healthy food culture, have confidence in their ability to access and use food
to meet their needs, as well as facilities and fuel to cook with. Comments during
discussion of this priority included:
● “People who work are often excluded from accessing the classes or
support as they are usually on at times when people work. I would
really like to access cooking classes but can’t go the ones in my
community.”
● “Supporting children in schools with cooking would be really good way
of building skills in children for the future. When I was younger we
learnt lots of skills like this at secondary school but children don’t do
this now.”
● “If children are engaged with adults in making and preparing food they
will enjoy it and appreciate it more and also build their confidence.”
Priority Four
5/5 face-to-face respondents strongly agreed with priority four: the local food system
prioritises resilience and sustainability in food production, food waste management,
distribution, economy and environmental resilience. Comments during discussion of
this priority included:
● “No one has any understanding of being able to buy local. It is really
important that we start to do this more.”
● “We need to use our local resources more rather than shipping
everything in.”
● “Food waste is a massive issue and distribution of surplus food like
food clubs are a great model for supporting this excessive waste.”
Priority Five
5/5 face-to-face respondents strongly agreed with priority five: food needs and
equality are considered in all decision making whether developing social support
models, new businesses or planning housing developments. Comments during
discussion of this priority included:

Page 160

38

● “Tackling market forces when it comes to food is very tricky….
Changing attitudes towards buying healthy needs to come from both
ends”
● “Bristol should do more to support those experiencing poverty!”
● “We need a policy change from the government around Universal
Credit”

Other correspondence
Email feedback was received during the public consultation period from a VCSE
group supporting Black carers in the community. The feedback was that the images
used throughout the draft strategy did not include diverse food representative of
different cultures. They made some suggestions of images that could be included to
expand the cultural competence of the report.

How will this report be used?
The consultation feedback in this presented to the Food Equality Strategy
consultation task group and at a development session of the Bristol City Council
Health and Wellbeing Board. This is then taken into account by the strategy
developers (a partnership between Bristol City Council and Feeding Bristol) who
incorporate the findings into the final strategy. The final strategy will contain a section
referring to how these changes have been incorporated into the final product. This
consultation report and the final strategy will be taken for sign off at the Health and
Wellbeing Board on the 24th February 2022.

How can I keep track?
You can find the latest consultation and engagement surveys online at
www.bristol.gov.uk/consultationhub where you can also sign up to receive
automated email notifications about consultations and engagements. All decisions
related to the proposals in this consultation will be made publicly at the Health and
Wellbeing Board on the 24th February 2022. You can find forthcoming meetings and
their agendas at democracy.bristol.gov.uk.

Page 161

39

Agenda Item 12

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Report:
Author (including organisation):

Migrant and refugee health and wellbeing
Public Health and Adult Social Care

Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

24th February 2022
Update the Board on work around migrant and
refugee health and wellbeing

1. Executive Summary
This paper provides a short headline summary of progress toward targets set by the Board
in 2020 for migrant health, and additional work undertaken in 2021. An additional appendix
is attached regarding current relevant research.

2. Purpose of the Paper
To update Board members on activity in the Migrant Heath Sector during 2021 and review
progress and support the production of a workplan for Migrant Health for 2022.

3. Background and evidence base
The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) set targets for Migrant Health in Nov 20. The targets
had initially been treated as incremental and the primary ambition was to provide a Migrant
Health resource within our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). A task and finish
group met monthly between January and July and began to address the tasks.
1.1 Information for professionals and supporters including information on needs to be
included in the Joint Stategic Needs Assessment (JSNA):
The JSNA work proved unable to be undertaken until 2022 due to lack of capacity and the
need to agree a Chapter structure. Several examples of other LA approaches were
circulated for information to try and initiate a conversation. Refreshed census data was
unavailable in 2021. Updated information on the demographics of families resettling into
Bristol during the last three years has now been collected by Anne James. The referrals to
the Haven are below:
April 2020
May 2020
June 2020
July 2020
August 2020
Sept 2020
October 20
Nov 20
Dec 20
Jan 21
Feb 21

21
20
13
18
128
39
74
40
38
15
37

April 21
May 21
June 21
July 21
Aug 21
Sept 21
Oct 21
Nov 21
Dec 21
Jan 22

Page 162

22
74
31
41
111
77
83
92
58
41

1

March 21

36

Recommendation: Public Health builds on this work by agreeing a draft JSNA chapter
structure and prioritises its completion in 2022.
1.2 Provide good, translated information explaining how primary care services work:
Attendance at the Southwest Migrant Health Forum identified this as an ongoing regional
workstream. This has resulted in a library of resources in development on the NHS Future
Collaboration website. The task and finish group contributed to the “Safe Surgeries” Doctors
of the World initiative funded by the CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) and led by Dr.
Racheal Marsh at the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). This was piloted in ten
surgeries across East and Central Bristol. The group also promoted GP Access Cards to
reinforce the NHS “Everyone is welcome in General Practice” campaign. This year the video
guide “Entitlement to services for migrants in England” has been released and we also
promoted this. An increased amount of translated material has been generated through the
pandemic and use of contingency hotels.
Recommendation: Consider incentivising the “Safe Surgeries” campaign to all or
extending to a wider group of GP practices in Bristol. Circulate links to the NHS
Future Collaboration website resource to all practices for comment and feedback in
2022
1.3 Provide English to Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) for Health courses: Existing
activity can be scaled up but not all costs are recoverable. A “scheme of work” has been
developed for ESOL for health. Classes have been offered in ARAP Hotels during 2021 and
2022. There remains a funding gap to provide this into Home Office Initial Accommodation.
Recommendation: There are significant opportunities to expand ESOL for health in
Bristol if resource can be identified.
1.4 To support the use of community champions and ambassadors to assist with sharing
public health messages to specific refugee communities
Bristol City Council Communities Team have continued to develop this role becoming Covid
Health Champions in the pandemic and now Community Vaccine Champions. These are
respected and influential members of their communities who can promote public health
messages. They made links into the new Afghanistan Refugee Contingency Hotels
connecting people to existing local Afghan communities. They helped facilitate
understanding and increased uptake of COVID vaccination as well as supporting residents
to initiate Covid testing regimes.
Recommendation: The “Community Champion” role is supported and grown to
facilitate refugee communities to engage in professionally led Community Health
Workshops.

Page 163

2

1.5 Organise Community Health Workshops for migrants to learn about specific health
issues, e.g., Vitamin D deficiency, managing diabetes, Hepatitis B, HIV (Human
Immunodeficiency Virus).
This target has not been addressed. Preliminary discussions with The Haven showed that
Vitamin D deficiency is frequently diagnosed during Migrant Health Screening on arrival to
Bristol and is a common occurrence within the refugee and asylum seeker community. There
is little confidence that after initially prescribing Vitamin D it will be maintained on a repeat
prescription basis after people leave to register with new practices. When people have a low
income, it is not possible to prioritise purchasing this over the counter. Diabetes remains a
priority education area to deliver and there are other topic areas including communicable
diseases such as Tuberculosis (TB), HIV, and Hepatitis C (HCV) which are all relevant and
in line with wider public health aims. In 2021 the National Aids Trust released their report
“HIV and Migration: Understanding the Barriers faced by people born abroad living with HIV
in the UK”. This indicates that migrants are more likely to contract HIV after arrival to the UK
than before, more likely to have a later diagnosis and consequently more likely to have
poorer health outcomes. Bristol has an aim to end all new HIV transmission by 2030.
Recommendation: A community health workshop programme with key subject areas
in Migrant Health is agreed with Community Champions and Clinician input is made
available to enable delivery during 2022.
2. To develop a shared policy between Bristol’s NHS Trusts in regard to migrant healthcare
charging which would include a data sharing agreement to prevent the production of
charging letters to people who are not required to pay for health services
The complexity of understanding the NHS charging landscape took several meetings for us
to scope. We also made a commitment to fully understanding the problem before identifying
the solution. In general, our findings discouraged any new data sharing agreement (DSA) as
it will not solve the delays associated with updating people's status from the Home Office
database onto the NHS Spine. It is also the reverse direction of travel to prevailing advocacy
campaigns within the Refugee and Asylum Sector. A short life DSA was agreed in relation to
ARAP Hotels as we knew all residents faced extensive delays in obtaining Biometric
Residency Permits. Trusts have engaged well in these discussions and a lead on regional
work has been taken by University Hospitals Bristol and Weston. Most of the group feel that
a fundamental rewrite in tone and content of all the charging letters is required. We also felt
it was important to address improvements that would benefit those most vulnerable.
Recommendation: This target is reframed with three objectives: 1) Achieve a
complete rewrite of the suite of charging letters and a shared policy between Trusts
including first approaches to be made by telephone wherever possible; 2) Agree peer
“exchange training” between each Trust’s Overseas Visitors teams and local Refugee

Page 164

3

and Asylum Seeker agencies regards the application of charging regulations, and 3)
Trusts continue their commit to this work under a Duty of Care to vulnerable migrants
and addressing this work as part of their safeguarding responsibilities.

3. For the Board to engage with national-level campaigns which are advocating for a change
in the rules on migrant healthcare charging.
Early discussions highlighted several national advocacy campaigns particularly around the
ending of the No Recourse to Public Funds Condition. Another aim cited by the national Aids
Trust and Doctors of The World is the ending of all data sharing between the Home Office
and the NHS to encourage people to regain their trust in the health system. There are
numerous other examples. At the time of writing, the Nationalities and Borders Bill is
progressing through the House of Lords. This has received much criticism from the Refugee
Sector and also Border Force staff themselves to proposed changes in practice including
“channel pushbacks,” i.e., forcibly returning migrants who attempt to cross the channel back
to the country they were last in. This has attracted criticism not only for violating the
International Convention on Human Rights but also the first rule of Maritime Law and the first
duty of Public Health; to preserve life and to do no harm.
Should the legislation go through the Avon and Somerset Anti-Slavery Partnership believe it
will have a negative impact on survivors of modern slavery and reduce Police ability to
identify and disrupt the activities of Human Traffickers. The group is seeking local MP’s
support to submit written opposition to this legislation.
However, in investigating support for this aim both the CCG and the Hospital Foundation
Trusts disclosed their organisations had constitutional values to remain non-political. This
was a barrier to progress. Further thought has been given to this in context of the ambition
shown by the Race Quality COVID 19 Steering group. If this group could act as the
Advocacy Arm of the HWB it has potential to be a strong voice locally and nationally and to
deliver the ambition of the Board to engage in advocacy.
Recommendation: The target is reframed to properly constitute the Race Equality
COVID 19 steering group as an Advocacy committee of the HWB. This would have
independence from the HWB but act in partnership with their aims to improve health
and wellbeing. Participants may wish to register their membership in a personal
capacity while stating their professional commitments.
4. For the CCG to purchase sufficient trauma informed psychological support to AS&R
children living with their families
The Commissioning Manager – Refugees has commissioned a needs assessment as to how
to meet the mental health needs of children on resettlement programmes and living in the
ARAP hotels. On the whole, parents and young people on resettlement programmes haven’t
engaged with counselling services and the needs assessment will speak with parents about
what interventions they would support for children who exhibit trauma symptoms and will
scope best practice from other areas of the UK. Resettled families receive significant support

Page 165

4

from resettlement programmes and research in Appendix 1 highlights their experiences are
different from refugee children living with their families who are not part of resettlement
programmes.
Poor access faced by refugee children living with their families has become even poorer.
Thresholds for access to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) have risen
due to increasing levels of acuity in the general population. There is some doubt as to
whether assessments recognise the diverse cultural presentations of Post-Traumatic Stress
Disorder (PTSD). It became clear in investigating whether a different model of service could
improve access that the service received by children in local authority care has also been
reduced and appears to lack long term stability. An initial discussion was held with Peter
Spavin and Dr. Caroline Crentsil over a revised BNSSG commissioning approach for
stabilisation services and Tier 2 services.
Recommendation: BCC and the CCG collaborate to review the needs of ASR children
living with their families and those with foster carers and evaluate potential to deliver
properly funded trauma services across BNSSG using the Asylum and Refugee
Centre as a hub of expertise and engagement.
5. For the CCG to purchase sufficient halal flu vaccinations as an alternative to the nasal
spray flu vaccination
Initial discussions revealed the complexity of the commissioning route for this. In addition,
accurate quantitative data on need at each practice level may not be easily obtainable and
choices available to practices may be dependent on what has arrived in bulk in Bristol. BCC
has not pursued this target.
Recommendation: An up-to-date picture from the 2021 flu vaccine roll out should
inform commissioning plans for 2022. The commissioning strategy for flu vaccine
should demonstrate how it can respond to local demographics to enable the full
population to be offered flu vaccine which is culturally acceptable to all faith and
beliefs.
Additional work undertaken in 2021:
ARAP Hotels
In September 2021, the Home Office relocated 15,000 Afghan families to the UK with the
long term offer of resettlement. In the short term the families are living in hotels and currently
there are 223 children and adults living in the hotels and three babies have been born post
arrival. The Bristol City Council Refugee Resettlement Team provides wrap around support
for the families in the hotels and supports the 20 Afghan families who have been resettled
into houses in Bristol since August 2021. All people living in the hotels are registered with
one of 4 local GP surgeries but we have been unable to register any residents with a dentist,
leaving emergency dental care as the only option.
The Haven and the Resettlement Team have organised:


School nurse assessments for 97 school aged children

Page 166

5











Psychology support and acute services for women and children with trauma
symptoms
Active TB chest Xrays for all over ten year olds living in hotels and the community
Latent TB testing, Vitamin D deficiency screening, hepatitis B screening and de
worming for all children aged under 16 living in hotels and the community. Any
additional conditions picked up as part of this testing regime are being followed up
with parents and children
Three COVID vaccination clinics for each hotels and take up has been high
MMR and tetanus clinics for one hotel.
Dental screenings for everyone living in the hotels and follow up appointments for 14
adults and children
The Haven has a full time Afghan interpreter working as part of the team to
encourage attendance at health appointments
Health workshops to explain TB and these are planned for other health issues.

The wrap around support recognised the wider determinants of health. All families in the
hotel are in receipt of UC, and some are in receipt of child benefit (there is a 6 month wait for
child benefit ATM), they all have bank accounts and national insurance numbers. There are
also eleven English classes running each week and a programme of activities to enable
families to access experiences and feel more in control. Progress is overseen by the Hotel
Contingency Group run by Public Health
EUSS (European Union Settlement Scheme) scheme
The working group also tried to promote uptake of this scheme to reduce the likelihood of
increasing our population who are subject to the condition of no recourse to public funds.
This was a response to the uncertainty of uptake to EUSS prior to the deadline of June 30TH
2021. Initial feedback on the Trusts management of cases since then suggest a supportive
approach is being taken but this situation should be kept under review during 2022.
Use of Home Office Contingency Hotels: A City Centre Hotel was commissioned in July
2020 for exclusive use as contingency Home Office Initial Accommodation for Refugees and
Asylum Seekers. It closed abruptly in June 2021 only to be repurposed again three weeks
later. Two further Hotels have been in part use since Sept 2021 under the Afghan Relocation
and Assistance Programme (ARAP). Due to increased concerns around the reopened Initial
Accommodation, these issues were escalated to a multi-agency partnership meeting chaired
by BCC Consultants in Health Protection. This process has also been adopted to support
ARAP Hotels and overseen by BCC Director of Children and Families Services. The longerterm intention is to scale this back down to more focused operational groups.
Appendix 1: Research Progress Summary from Sarah Hunt, “Exploring Service
Response to the Mental Health and Service Needs of Refugee and Asylum-Seeking
Children and Youth - A UK Study.
This is included as an information update that is of relevance to the HWB targets for trauma
informed care. Additional targets yet to be addressed included “Implement a project to
improve refugee and migrant integration into communities and neighbourhoods, (HWB,
2021) and “Develop evidence-based inter-sectoral policies and strategies designed to
improve the overall health and social conditions of migrants and respect the rights of
migrants to basic human security in host countries” drawing from the work of Hayward, Deal
et al., (Race Equality Covid 19 Steering Group, 2021).

Page 167

6

4. Community/stakeholder engagement
The task and finish group continued through the summer with the support of Dr. Liz Murphy,
(GP appraiser and retired GP); Anne James, Angela Marshall, Steph Champion and Carol
Slater from BCC and Anne Gachango from The Haven. A sub-group was formed to work
with the Trusts attended by Tim Keen and Charles Gray from North Bristol NHS Trust and
Roger Spours-Bayliff from UHBT. Roger has led the development of the charging regulations
flowchart in the Southwest and shared this with the group.

5. Recommendations
It is recommended that the planned workstream of Migrant Health is taken forward for 2022
subject to the Boards agreement or revision of proposals included in this report. A “plan on a
page” would help improve focus on achievement.

6. City Benefits
These proposals contribute to the wider HWB Inclusion Health agenda and Bristol’s
commitment to people who are seeking Sanctuary. It seeks to improve outcomes for refugee
and asylum seekers, their families and for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children by
formalising commitments into an annualised workplan that is monitored and reviewed each
year by the HWB. This is designed to help the Board display leadership that promotes trust
and hope for the public sector contribution within Bristol as a City of Sanctuary.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
There are no proposals for accurately costed financial implications or any legal implications
directly arising from the workplan other than the Boards urgent attention is drawn to the
ongoing concerns:
7.1 Insufficient access exists to trauma care for ASR children, amid a wealth of local
professional expertise in this area.
7.2 Cost apportionment for ESOL classes and professionally led Community Health
Workshops is required if any additional capacity is to be mobilised.
7.3 Governance arrangements between the HWB and the Race Equality Covid 19 Steering
Group would need to be formalised for the group to act as an Advocacy Arm for the HWB.

8. Appendices
Appendix 1:

A Research Progress Summary from Sarah Hunt, “Exploring Service
Response to the Mental Health and Service Needs of Refugee and Asylum
Seeking Children and Youth - A UK Study,” (Sarah Hunt)

Page 168

7

Research Progress Summary: Exploring Service Response to
the Mental Health and Service Needs of Refugee and Asylumseeking Children and Youth - A UK Study
Insights for Policy & Practice
Progress Summary (2021)
Sarah A. Hunt PhD(c) University of Leicester
Background: The UK population of Refugee and asylum-seeking (RAS) children and youth are
underrepresented within the literature, and as a result, knowledge related to needs has remained limited.
Existing service structures are often not needs-led, and neither are they designed to meet the complex needs
of these vulnerable groups. Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety are highly
prevalent and these mental health conditions are often exacerbated by post-migratory challenges that
present as risk factors to mental health and wellbeing. In context, the post-migration situation is one of
unfamiliarity and uncontrollability. Refugee and asylum-seeking children and youth with mental health
needs are presented with an unfamiliar society, community, and a complex service system to navigate.
Services in contact with and available to these vulnerable groups are required to be knowledgeable of needs
to be able to respond with the necessary resource and capacity. This study aimed to provide Public Health
with new knowledge in support of a needs-led service model to align service response to needs.
A sequential research programme - 2 Phases
Phase 1
A needs analyis
across service users
and providers
2018-2020

Phase 1
Knowledge Transfer
among Stakeholders

Phase 2
Implementation of
outcomes for change

2021

2021

Phase 2
Review of outcome
indicators for
impact
2022

Research Question: How will the perspectives of service providers, refugee parents, children and youth
inform the development of a needs-led service model?
Project aims:
1. Develop an understanding of the mental health and service needs of asylum-seeking and refugee
children and youth in the UK post-migratory context.
2. Identify contextual factors that act barriers to access and engagement with services.
3. Identify challenges experienced among service providers responding to the needs.
Phase 1. Methods applied: The research involved over 90 public health members and service providers.
Three UK authorities participated in the research and Bristol represents one of them. The research was
introduced during stakeholder meetings, presentations, and one to one meetings with key stakeholders to
gauge a need for the research in Bristol. The research gathered the perspectives of service users and service
providers n = 55 participants: Public Health, multiple service providers, refugee and asylum-seeking parents
of school-aged children and youth, and unaccompanied asylum-seeking youths.
Phase 1. Results: A thematic analysis of nine focus group discussions identified nine key themes that
represent; post-migratory risk factors to mental health and wellbeing and factors that represent barriers to
access and engagement with services.
Key Outcomes: Service Implications
§
§

Training in Refugee Trauma: Considered a service priority. Asylum-seeking and refugee children
and youth experience multiple trauma events (war related trauma) involving multiple losses; family,
social support networks, resources. Needs are complex, high prevalence of mental health conditions.
Contextual Knowledge: Migration experiences (pre and during flight) and the impact of postmigratory stressors that present as risks factors to mental health and wellbeing. Policies are not well
understood. Service providers require increased contextual knowledge to have insight into the totality

Page 169

RSR | Sh736@leicester.ac.uk

1

of the post-migratory situation. These vulnerable groups are faced with challenges related to navigating
and adapting to UK systems: communities, schools, health services, mental health services.
Access: Pathways are not well understood among service providers and users. Existing pathways are
not developed specifically for RAS populations of children and youth. Fast access is required.
Language Barrier: Prevents identification of trauma, contributes to challenging health and mental
health assessments, and is a barrier to access. Unaccompanied asylum-seeking youths require
conversational practice to communicate in their new community, opportunities to develop
communicative competency early post-migration to mitigate against the impact of challenges, support
difficult transitions and access to services.
Societal Barriers: Children and youth experience discrimination and bullying that cause avoidance
behaviours, withdrawal from social activities, and social exclusion, a risk factor to mental health.
Psychosocial Transitions: Unaccompanied youths report difficult transitions that inhibit helpseeking and access to services e.g. no knowledge of systems; community, education, healthcare, mental
health services, differing cultural beliefs related to help- seeking. Participants suggest a needs-led
integration to facilitate transitions and support psychosocial adjustment.
Building Relationships: Refugee and asylum-seeking children and youth suffer multiple traumas,
have differing cultural beliefs related to mental health and help seeking.
Psychosocial Support: Limited or no access to school-based wrap-around services and activities in
the community due to poverty resulting in social exclusion, a risk factor to depression and anxiety.
Silo Working: Services report limited knowledge of services, service partners and pathways across the
system, no shared knowledge related to needs, training and practice.
Systemic Working: A consensus among service providers was the need to integrate services to
overcome silo working, to benefit from shared knowledge, capacity and resource. (Contextual
knowledge: refugee experiences, trauma, and barriers to accessing services).

§
§

§
§

§
§
§
§

Phase 1. Summary of Outcomes ‘A Systems Thinking Perspective’
Overall the focus group data illustrated that service provision often doesn’t align with needs. Insight into
service user and service provider experiences highlight a number of service challenges that impact on service
response. A key outcome is the consensus among multiple service providers (e.g., education, health, mental
health, public health, and voluntary services) that an improved response requires an integrated approach to
overcome challenges related to silo working. Services require training in refugee trauma, knowledge of
migration experiences, and UK policy. Pathways to access are largely unknown among service providers
and service users impacting on access, engagement, and referral. Mental health needs need to be considered
within the context of migration experiences. Post-migration is a critical time involving a number of
transitions and risk factors that can exacerbate existing mental health conditions. The shared experiences
of unaccompanied asylum-seeking youths during early resettlement provides a needs-led integration
strategy to facilitate transitions, psychosocial adjustment, and wellbeing.

1.
2.
3.
4.

Service Priorities
Refugee Trauma Training: Required across services working with asylum-seeking and refugee
families, children and youth.
Develop knowledge of pathways to increase access: Stakeholders expressed concerns related to a
lack of knowledge of pathways and suggested collaborating with local service providers to produce a
visual map of pathways (Incl. referral criteria). Implementation of a pathways to access resource.
Increased contextual knowledge: A training program tailored to provide contextual knowledge:
e.g., migration experiences (Incl. post-migratory challenges that present as risk factors to mental health
and wellbeing).
A systems approach to overcome silo working: Develop linkages across services working within
the system responding to the needs of asylum-seeking and refugee children and youth. Engage in
2-toAddressing
Service
knowledge exchange acrossPhase
services
share knowledge
andPriorities
build capacity and resource.

Phase 2 - Responding to Stakeholder Perspectives ‘Implementing Outcomes for Change’
Stakeholders are invited to operationalise outcomes in a participatory focus group discussions facilitated by
external researcher S. Hunt, a Public Health lead and a key Stakeholder Group. (July 21-July 22)

Page 170

RSR | Sh736@leicester.ac.uk

2

